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We are pioneers and game-
changers, stimulated by  
the endless possibilities of  
re-engineering banking. 
Constant innovation is our  
key to success. 
2017 was especially marked  
by the implementation  
of cryptocurrency trading.
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2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Number of accounts 309,286 302,775 231,327 221,922 216,357

% change 2.2% 30.9% 4.2% 2.6% 7.3%

Assets under custody in CHFm 1 23,240 17,864 11,992 11,562 10,083

% change 30.1% 49.0% 3.7% 14.7% 17.5%

Client assets in CHFm 2 24,112 18,557 11,992 11,562 10,083

% change 29.9% 54.7% 3.7% 14.7% 17.5%

Employees 593 550 524 532 507

% change 7.8% 5.0% –1.5% 4.9% 37.8%

1  Including cash deposited by clients
2 � Including assets that are not held for custody purposes but for which the technology of the Group gives clients access to the stock market and/or that are managed 

by Swissquote (Robo-Advisory technology).

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

in CHF thousand, except where indicated

Operating income 187,756 150,245 146,622 145,524 124,871

% change 25.0% 2.5% 0.8% 16.5% 12.0%

Operating expenses 141,974 127,035 144,684 117,304 111,582

% change 11.8% –12.2% 23.3% 5.1% 31.7%

Operating profit 45,782 23,210 1,938 28,220 13,289

% change 97.3% 1097.6% –93.1% 112.4% –50.3%

Operating profit margin [%] 24.4% 15.4% 1.3% 19.4% 10.6%

Net profit 39,185 20,753 2,075 23,521 11,656

% change 88.8% 900.1% –91.2% 101.8% –47.0%

Net profit margin [%] 20.9% 13.8% 1.4% 16.2% 9.3%

Total equity 295,148 280,834 267,670 274,362 247,941

% change 5.1% 4.9% –2.4% 10.7% 2.8%

% of equity/total assets 5.8% 7.1% 7.2% 7.4% 7.7%

Number of shares 15,328,170 15,328,170 15,328,170 15,328,170 14,638,370

% change – – – 4.7% –

Capital ratio 26.1% 24.5% 22.0% 23.3% 20.6%

Key figures
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Key figures
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Stock market trading
The registered shares, each with a nominal value of CHF 0.20, are listed on SIX Swiss Exchange under securities number 
1067586 and ISIN CH0010675863. Their ticker symbols are: SQN (Swissquote); SQZ.S (Reuters); SQNSW (Bloomberg); 
SQN (Telekurs).

Swissquote share
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2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Share price in CHF

High 38.55 28.90 32.00 40.10 39.85

Low 23.30 21.50 20.55 28.00 27.00

31 December 38.15 23.85 25.25 31.20 39.15

Market capitalisation in CHF million

High 590.9 443.0 490.5 614.7 583.3

Low 357.1 329.6 315.0 429.2 395.2

31 December 584.8 365.6 387.0 478.2 573.1

Share data in CHF

Operating income per share 13.09 10.09 9.83 9.66 8.77

Net profit per share 2.73 1.39 0.14 1.56 0.82

Equity per share 19.26 18.32 17.46 17.90 16.94

Dividend per share 0.86 1 0.13 – – 0.60

Other pay out per share 0.04 1 0.47 0.60 0.60 –

1  Proposal of the Board of Directors

Swissquote share
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Dear shareholders,
2017 was a highly successful year for Swissquote in every 
respect. This is reflected firstly in our record business fig-
ures:
– 	 Operating income advanced by 25.0 percent to 

CHF 187.8 million. 
– 	 Net profit surged by 88.8 percent to CHF 39.2 million. 
– 	 Client assets rose by 29.9 percent to CHF 24.1 billion. 
– 	 Our capital ratio climbed by 6.5 percent to 26.1%. 
Secondly, 2017 saw Swissquote's share price almost dou-
ble, ending the year at CHF 38.15.

In 2018, Swissquote aims to further expand its position as 
Switzerland's biggest – and leading – digital bank. It will 
therefore be undertaking further investments in innovative 
fintech solutions. Despite this additional expenditure, it 
aims to increase its net revenues and earnings by approx-
imately ten percent a year. 

Revenues up by a 25 percent

Operating income grew by 25.0 percent to CHF 187.8 mil-
lion (CHF 150.2 million) and was once again impacted by 
negative interest rates (-CHF 7.5 million). All four business 
areas contributed to the exceptional result. 
Thanks to a year-on-year increase in the number of trans-
actions by 310,000 to 2.6 million, net fee & commission in-
come grew by 22.5 percent to CHF 85.2 million (CHF 69.5 
million). The number of transactions per client per year re-
mained stable at 11.0. However, other factors that contrib-
uted to the pleasing result included the growing importance 
of Robo-Advisory services (ePrivate Banking), successful 
trading in derivative products via Swiss DOTS, and trading in 
cryptocurrencies. 
eForex income (included in net trading income) increased 
by 26.2 percent to CHF 66.7 million (CHF 52.8 million). The 
strong growth is explained by the significant increase in 
new clients (+29.0 percent) and the significant increase in 
client assets belonging to eForex clients (+45.5 percent). 
Foreign exchange income (net trading income excluding 
eForex income) grew by 32.7 percent to CHF 22.3 million 
(CHF 16.8 million). 

Net interest income increased on the back of growth in 
Lombard loans issued and steadily rising US short-term in-
terest rates.

Near doubling of earnings

At CHF 142.0 million (CHF 127.0 million), operating ex-
penses were 11.8 percent higher in 2017 than in the pre-
vious year. The increase in expenses was mainly due to 
continuing heavy investment in technology, marketing and 
staff, whose numbers grew from 550 to 593. 
While operating expenses increased by CHF 14.9 million, 
operating income rose by CHF 37.5 million. In line with 
this trend of revenues and expenses, all earnings figures 
rose sharply: operating profit jumped by 97.3 percent to 
CHF 45.8 million (CHF 23.2 million), the operating profit 
margin increased to 24.4 percent (15.4 percent), net prof-
it surged by 88.8 percent to CHF 39.2 million (CHF 20.8 
million) and the net profit margin climbed to 20.9 percent 
(13.8 percent). 
The capital ratio stood at 26.1 percent (24.5 percent in 
2016). This means that Swissquote remains one of Swit-
zerland's best-financed banks. Total equity amounted to 
CHF 295.1 million (CHF 280.8 million).

Record volume of client assets

2017 also saw client assets increase sharply by 29.9 per-
cent to CHF 24.1 billion (CHF 18.6 billion). The net new 
money inflow amounted to CHF 2.7 billion. As at the end 
of 2017, client assets of CHF 23.0 billion (+31.6 percent) 
were held in trading accounts, CHF 600.6 million (-20.8 
percent) in saving accounts, CHF 203.1 million (+75.2 per-
cent) in Robo-Advisory accounts and CHF 328.9 million 
(+45.5 percent) in eForex accounts. 
The total number of accounts grew by 6,511 (+2.2 percent) 
to 309,286 (302,775). The breakdown is as follows: 236,861 
trading accounts (+0.3 percent), 28,955 saving accounts 
(-11.9 percent), 1,898 Robo-Advisory accounts (+22.3 per-
cent) and 41,572 eForex accounts (+29.0 percent). 

Report to the shareholders 
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Major success in cryptocurrency trading

From mid-2017, Swissquote became the first European 
online bank to offer its clients the opportunity to invest 
in cryptocurrencies and trade in them against the EUR or 
USD. The service was initially confined to Bitcoin, but since 
December Bitcoin Cash, Ether, Litecoin and Ripple have 
also been available. With five leading cryptocurrencies, 
Swissquote now has a larger offering of virtual currencies 
than any other bank. Clients invest and trade in cryptocur-
rencies through their ordinary Swissquote trading account 
in the same way as with any other currencies, shares or 
funds. The sharp increase in interest in cryptocurrencies, 
particularly in the fourth quarter of 2017, led to a flood of 
new accounts being opened towards the end of year. The 
impact of the new accounts on revenues will only become 
clearly noticeable in the figures for the first half of 2018.

Artificial intelligence aids investment decisions in the run-
up to German elections

In the world of finance, the use of artificial intelligence is still 
in its infancy. However, Swissquote has set itself the goal of 
moving forward with this trend so that artificial intelligence 
applications can be made available to the broadest possible 
range of users as soon as possible. One example of such 
applications was a study conducted by Swissquote in con-
junction with the Social Media Lab at EPFL (Federal Insti-
tute of Technology Lausanne) in the run-up to the German 
parliamentary elections on 24 September 2017. The aim 
was to investigate investors' opinions on the performance 
of the DAX by analysing social media. Thanks to artificial 
intelligence, it was possible to use these analyses to arrive 
at investment decisions based on the mood among voters. 
Swissquote offered investment strategies designed to profit 
from the fluctuations on the equity and currency markets.

Expansion at Swiss DOTS

2017 saw Swissquote further expand its offering on Swiss 
DOTS, the over-the-counter trading platform launched five 
years ago. One new issuer is Vontobel Investment Banking 
AG with 10,000 new leveraged products. This adds to the 
existing range of UBS, Goldman Sachs, Commerzbank and 
Deutsche Bank. The steadily increasing growth in both mar-
ket share and transaction numbers bears testimony to the 
success of the business model.

Board of Directors welcomes new member

The Board of Directors of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd 
will propose that this year's Annual General Meeting elect 
Dr Monica Dell'Anna to serve as a member of the Board of 
Directors. The remaining five members will all stand for 
re-election. Born in 1971, Monica Dell'Anna is a Swiss and 
Italian dual citizen and she serves since 2016 as a member 
of the Executive Board at NZZ-Mediengruppe AG with re-
sponsibility for the Business Media division. She was pre-
viously a member of the Executive Board of BKW AG and 
spent more than ten years in various management roles at 
Swisscom. Swissquote would like to stress that the appoint-
ment of Monica Dell'Anna means the Board of Directors will 
gain an experienced business executive with a proven track 
record in digital transformation processes.

Distribution of profit to shareholders

In light of the very good business results and solid capital 
ratio, the Board of Directors will propose to the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd, to be held 
on 4 May 2018, that a distribution of CHF 0.90 per share be 
paid, of which CHF 0.86 as a dividend and CHF 0.04 as a 
reimbursement of reserves from capital contributions. 

Report to the shareholders 
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Report to the shareholders 
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Consolidated statement  
of financial positions

The notes on pages 16 to 107 are an integral part of these financial statements

Notes 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

in CHF

Assets

Cash and balances with central bank 1 3,517,110,596 2,284,650,001

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 1 259,850,000 277,554,556

Due from banks 1/4 425,399,549 398,214,374

Derivative financial instruments 2 72,390,700 41,516,556

Trading assets 3 8,251,045 6,942,709

Loans 4 278,589,147 226,350,929

Investment securities 5 384,884,309 554,524,886

Deferred income tax assets 12 1,297,620 1,026,000

Intangible assets 6 40,288,690 40,465,911

Information technology systems 7 44,937,871 40,729,830

Property, plant and equipment 8 61,572,383 63,911,608

Other assets 9 21,217,357 30,373,132

Total assets 5,115,789,267 3,966,260,492

Liabilities and equity

Liabilities  

Deposits from banks 1 170,984,155 32,804,479

Derivative financial instruments 2 24,111,177 12,723,622

Due to customers 10 4,566,383,437 3,600,244,732

Other liabilities 11 50,280,159 35,732,333

Current income tax liabilities 12 5,310,652 379,204

Deferred tax liabilities 12 1,558,476 1,209,728

Provisions 13 2,012,911 2,331,930

Total liabilities 4,820,640,967 3,685,426,028

Equity

Ordinary shares 15.1 3,065,634 3,065,634

Share premium 35,299,313 42,585,616

Share option reserve 15.2 1,482,727 1,968,928

Other reserve 15.3 (2,375,800) (1,510,450)

Treasury shares 15.4 (29,318,059) (13,991,184)

Retained earnings 15.5 286,994,485 248,715,920

Total equity 295,148,300 280,834,464

Total liabilities and equity 5,115,789,267 3,966,260,492
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Consolidated income  
statement

Notes 2017 2016

in CHF

Fee and commission income 16 96,127,958 78,997,271

Fee and commission expense 16 (10,923,893) (9,454,113)

Net fee and commission income 85,204,065 69,543,158

Interest income 17 31,910,090 22,319,845

Negative interest rates expense 17 (17,900,933) (9,973,432)

Interest expense 17 (1,774,530) (1,044,701)

Net interest income 12,234,627 11,301,712

Net trading income 18 90,316,997 69,400,445

Operating income 187,755,689 150,245,315

Operating expenses 19 (141,973,676) (127,035,191)

Operating profit 45,782,013 23,210,124

Income tax expense 12 (6,597,067) (2,457,610)

Net profit 39,184,946 20,752,514

Share information  

Earnings per share 20 2.73 1.39

Diluted earnings per share 20 2.73 1.39

Weighted average number of shares 20 14,341,106 14,892,473

The notes on pages 16 to 107 are an integral part of these financial statements



Annual Report 2017    Financial Report 12

The notes on pages 16 to 107 are an integral part of these financial statements

Notes 2017 2016

in CHF

Net profit 39,184,946 20,752,514

Other comprehensive income:
Gains/losses recognised directly in equity

Items that may be reclassified to the income statement

Investment securities carried at fair value (available-for-sale):

Net unrealised gains/losses 5 151,342 527,279

Net realised gains/losses reclassified to the income statement from equity 5/18 (363,648) 162,301

Income tax effect 38,215 (124,124)

Currency translation differences 15.3 145,208 (330,543)

Total other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to the income 
statement (28,883) 234,913

Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement

Defined benefit obligation:

Remeasurement 14b (1,147,000) 822,000

Income tax effect 206,460 (147,960)

Land and building:

Revaluation 8 126,918 –

Income tax effect (22,845) –

Total other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to the income 
statement (836,467) 674,040

Other comprehensive income for the period (net of tax) (865,350) 908,953

Total comprehensive income for the period 38,319,596 21,661,467

Consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income
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Consolidated statement  
of changes in equity

The notes on pages 16 to 107 are an integral part of these financial statements

Notes
Ordinary 

shares
Share 

premium
Share  

option reserve
Other

 reserve
Treasury 

shares
Retained  
earnings Total

in CHF

Balance as at 1 January 2017 3,065,634 42,585,616 1,968,928 (1,510,450) (13,991,184) 248,715,920 280,834,464

Net profit of the period – – – – – 39,184,946 39,184,946

Investment securities carried at 
fair value (available-for-sale) 5/18 – – – (212,306) – – (212,306)

Remeasurement of defined 
benefit obligation 14b – – – (1,147,000) – – (1,147,000)

Revaluation of land and 
building 8 – – – 126,918 – – 126,918

Income tax effect – – – 221,830 – – 221,830

Currency translation 
differences 15.3 – – – 145,208 – – 145,208

Other comprehensive income 
for the period – – – (865,350) – 39,184,946 38,319,596

Dividend and reimbursement 
from reserves 15.5 – (6,652,002) – – – (1,839,915) (8,491,917)

Transaction costs – – – – – (321,634) (321,634)

Employee stock option plan:

Amortisation of services 15.2 – – 768,967 – – – 768,967

Stock options exercised, 
lapsed or forfeited 15.2 – – (1,255,168) – – 1,255,168 –

Treasury shares:

Purchase 15.4 – – – – (22,668,840) – (22,668,840)

Sale/remittance 15.4 – (634,301) – – 7,341,965 – 6,707,664

Balance as at 
31 December 2017 3,065,634 35,299,313 1,482,727 (2,375,800) (29,318,059) 286,994,485 295,148,300
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Consolidated statement 
of changes in equity (continued)

Notes
Ordinary

shares
Share  

premium
Share  

option reserve
Other  

reserve
Treasury  

shares
Retained  
earnings Total

in CHF

Balance as at 1 January 2016 3,065,634 51,710,405 2,207,387 (2,419,403) (13,915,807) 227,021,442 267,669,658

Net profit of the period – – – – – 20,752,514 20,752,514

Investment securities carried at 
fair value (available-for-sale) 5/18 – – – 689,580 – – 689,580

Remeasurement of defined 
benefit obligation 14b – – – 822,000 – – 822,000

Income tax effect – – – (272,084) – – (272,084)

Currency translation 
differences 15.3 – – – (330,543) – – (330,543)

Other comprehensive income 
for the period – – – 908,953 – 20,752,514 21,661,467

Dividend and reimbursement 
from reserves 15.5 – (8,930,458) – – – – (8,930,458)

Employee stock option plan:

Amortisation of services 15.2 – – 703,505 – – – 703,505

Stock options exercised, 
lapsed or forfeited 15.2 – – (941,964) – – 941,964 –

Treasury shares:

Purchase 15.4 – – – – (901,728) – (901,728)

Sale/remittance 15.4 – (194,331) – – 826,351 – 632,020

Balance as at 
31 December 2016 3,065,634 42,585,616 1,968,928 (1,510,450) (13,991,184) 248,715,920 280,834,464

The notes on pages 16 to 107 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated statement  
of cash flows

The notes on pages 16 to 107 are an integral part of these financial statements

Notes 2017 2016

in CHF

Cash flow from/(used in) operating activities:

Fees and commission received 96,522,550 79,225,889

Fees and commission paid (10,280,117) (9,255,783)

Interest received 41,122,351 37,935,783

Interest paid (17,590,437) (10,690,418)

Net trading income received 88,439,962 69,332,880

Income tax paid/reimbursed 8,286,307 (732,366)

Payments to employees (58,232,913) (54,915,946)

Payments to suppliers (56,251,408) (49,248,733)

Cash flow from operating profit before changes in  
operating assets and liabilities 92,016,295 61,651,306

Net change in operating assets and liabilities:

Treasury bills and other eligible bills (above 3 months) 1 23,069,950 (117,269,950)

Due from banks (above 3 months) 1 10,524,141 14,019,702

Derivative financial instruments (assets) (30,874,144) 27,511,496

Loans (52,487,020) (20,921,969)

Derivative financial instruments (liabilities) 11,387,555 (9,956,982)

Due to customers 956,786,068 284,920,545

Net cash from operating activities 1,010,422,845 239,954,148

Cash flow from/(used in) investing activities:  

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and information technology systems 7/8 (20,108,710) (24,647,938)

Proceeds from sale and reimbursement of investment securities 5 306,512,014 848,003,647

Purchase of investment securities 5 (145,268,182) (621,623,765)

Net cash from investing activities 141,135,122 201,731,944

Cash flow from/(used in) financing activities:

Purchase of treasury shares (22,668,840) (901,728)

Sale of treasury shares 5,428,368 –

Transaction costs (321,634) –

Dividend and reimbursement from reserves 15.5 (8,491,917) (8,930,458)

Net cash used in financing activities (26,054,023) (9,832,186)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,125,503,944 431,853,906

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 1 2,789,801,452 2,359,315,496

Exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents 11,870,594 (1,367,950)

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 1 1 3,927,175,990 2,789,801,452

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and balances with central bank 3,517,110,596 2,284,650,001

Treasury bills and other eligible bills (less than 3 months) 165,650,000 160,284,606

Loans and advances to banks (less than 3 months) 415,399,549 377,671,324

Deposits from banks (170,984,155) (32,804,479)

Total as at 31 December 1 1 3,927,175,990 2,789,801,452

1  CHF 230.8 million and CHF 166.5 million of cash and cash equivalents were restricted as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, respectively. Refer to note 1 
for more information.
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section I: General information

Swissquote Group Holding Ltd (the “Company”) and its 
consolidated subsidiaries (together the “Group”) provide 
online financial services that mainly consist of the services 
offered by Swissquote Bank Ltd (the “Bank”) through its 
financial web portal www.swissquote.ch. The foreign sub-
sidiaries that are based in United Arab Emirates (Dubai) 
and Republic of China (Hong Kong) are responsible for in-
troducing the Group services in their respective markets. 
The foreign subsidiary that is based in the United Kingdom 
(London) provides online foreign exchange trading for cli-
ents based in the European Union. The foreign subsidiary 
that is based in Malta (Mriehel) promotes the custody ser-
vices to investment funds (institutional business) in the 
European Union.

The Group’s headquarters are located in Gland (Can-
ton of Vaud), Switzerland. The operations are located in 
Switzerland (Gland, Bern and Zurich), the United Arab Emir-
ates (Dubai), the United Kingdom (London), Malta (Mrie-
hel) and the Republic of China (Hong Kong). The Group 
employed 593 employees (full-time equivalent) at the end 
of December 2017 (31 December 2016: 550). 

The parent company of the Group is Swissquote Group 
Holding Ltd, which is a limited liability company incor-
porated in Switzerland. The address of its registered office 
is: Chemin de la Crétaux 33, CH-1196 Gland. The shares 
of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd are listed on the Swiss 
Stock Exchange since 29 May 2000. The ticker is SQN, 
the security number is 1067586 and the ISIN number is 
CH0010675863.

The issued share capital as at 31 December 2017 con-
sisted of 15,328,170 ordinary shares of CHF 0.20 nominal 
value each (2016: 15,328,170 ordinary shares of CHF 0.20 
nominal value). There is also a conditional capital and an 
authorised capital. Details are provided in Note 15.1.

According to the information available to the Group, 
the shareholders with an interest in the Group above 3% 
(including stock options) are as follows:

Except for the above-mentioned shareholders, no other 
shareholder registered in the share register owns 3% or 
more of the issued share capital as at 31 December 2017. 
All shares are freely tradable. SIX Swiss Exchange Regu-
lations however provide that individual shareholdings ex-
ceeding 5% (save for, inter alia, certain investment funds) 
are deemed to be permanent investments and are to be ex-

cluded from the free float. In accordance with SIX Swiss Ex-
change Regulations, the free float as at 31 December 2017 
is 69.75% (2016: 69.86%).

The consolidated financial statements were approved 
for publication by the Board of Directors on 27 February 
2018.

2017 2016

Shares Options Total Shares Options Total

Marc Bürki 12.62% 0.10% 12.72% 12.57% 0.14% 12.71%

Paolo Buzzi 12.63% 0.09% 12.72% 12.57% 0.14% 12.71%

PostFinance AG 5.00% – 5.00% 5.00% – 5.00%

Mario Fontana 4.96% 0.01% 4.97% 4.95% 0.02% 4.97%

Basellandschaftliche Kantonalbank 4.77% – 4.77% 4.77% – 4.77%

Janus Henderson Group plc 3.00% – 3.00% – – –

Windel Investments Ltd
(indirect holder: Georges Butros Mansour) – – – 4.89% 1.37% 6.26%

UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG – – – 3.22% – 3.22%

Acadian Asset Management LLC – – – 3.03% – 3.03%

Treasury shares:

Swissquote Group Holding Ltd (Note 15.4) 6.94% 2.82%
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section II: Scope of operations of the Group and reportable segments

−  − Swissquote takes over the clients of  

Skandia Bank Switzerland.

−  − Online trading by mobile phone;

−  − Online trading with the London Stock Exchange 

and direct trading with the Frankfurt Stock Ex-

change for derivatives.

−  − Launch of the “Value at Risk” asset management 

tool, the first step towards comprehensive online  

wealth management;

−  − Off-exchange trading of all SMI securities;

−  − Launch of online bond trading.

−  − EUWAX, the Stuttgart Stock Exchange trading  

platform, goes live;

−  − First off-exchange trading of Bank Vontobel  

derivative products.

−  − Takeover of Consors (Switzerland) AG.

−  − Online trading of investment funds;

−  − Access to the Swiss Stock Exchange (at the time 

SWX and Virt-X) and to the US NYSE, NASDAQ 

and AMEX exchanges.

−  − Swissquote Group Holding Ltd is listed on  

the Swiss Stock Exchange (symbol: SQN);

−  − Swissquote Bank Ltd is granted a banking licence.

−  − The Swissquote financial platform is founded. For 

the first time, private investors can access the re-

al-time prices of all securities traded on the Swiss 

Stock Exchange for free.

−  − January: First Swiss bank to launch an Apple TV 

application;

−  − February: Swissquote Quant Fund awarded best 

performing Swiss equity fund by the Thomson Re-

uters Lipper Fund Award.

−  − Global partnership with Manchester United, one 

of the most popular football teams in the world.

−  − Strategic partnership between Swissquote and 

PostFinance.

−  − Takeover of MIG Bank Ltd, one of the leading  

forex brokers worldwide.

−  − Swiss DOTS, a new OTC trading service for  

the derivative products.

−  − Swissquote and Basellandschaftliche Kantonal-

bank offer online mortgages.

−  − Launch of the “ePrivate Banking” magazine;

−  − New digital asset management service with 

Swissquote's Robo-Advisor;

−  − Takeover of Tradejet Ltd;

−  − Takeover of ACM Advanced Currency Markets Ltd, 

one of the largest currency traders.

−  − A new Swissquote forex trading platform goes live;

−  − Swissquote launches savings accounts.

−  − Milan Stock Exchange is the 17th market to go on-

line;

−  − Full electronic trading on the Eurex derivatives 

exchange.

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

1996

2016

2015

2014

2013

2011

2010

2008

The current scope of the operations is the 
result of a historic development of which key 
milestones are summarised as follows:

2017
−  − First online bank to offer trading on five crypto-

currencies: Bitcoin, Bitcoin cash, Ether, Litecoin 

and Ripple;

−  − Expansion into Swiss DOTS with Vontobel as new 

issuer to complement the existing offering from 

UBS, Goldman Sachs, Commerzbank and Deut-

sche Bank;

−  − Launch of the first virtual reality trading applica-

tion.

2007
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section II: Scope of operations of the Group and reportable segments

As of 31 December 2017, the Group‘s operations consisted of:

�Providing online securities services (including custody 
services and cryptocurrencies trading) and Robo-Advi-
sory services (ePrivate Banking) to:
− 	  Self-directed private investors – by mean of tools to 

route the orders to stock exchanges and third-party  
brokers via the Internet, as well as private investors 
aiming at having comprehensive investment services 
(such as tools to assist them in their decision-making);

− 	  Independent asset managers – by mean of tools that 
allow to process grouped orders on behalf of their cli-
ents and to allow such clients to have a real-time read 
access to their account – and to institutional inves-
tors;

− 	  Investment funds and other institutional clients;
− 	  Third party financial institutions under white-label 

agreements.

�Offering access to over-the-counter leveraged foreign 
exchange trading (leveraged forex or eForex) through 
in-house technology platform to:
− 	  Retail and institutional customers;
− 	  Money managers;
− 	  Third party financial institutions under white-label 

agreement.

�Operating an online bank that accepts deposits in the 
form of current accounts and saving accounts from its 
customers mainly in CHF, USD, EUR and GBP. Nostro 
management activities consist in Lombard / margin 
loans and loans to Swiss municipalities, investments in 
debt securities and in other asset classes using the Ro-
bo-Advisory technology.

Selling advertising space and providing financial infor-
mation against subscription on www.swissquote.ch and 
Swissquote ePrivate Banking magazine.

The Group is not involved in the following banking activ-
ities:
− 	  Provide commercial lending, direct mortgages lend-

ing, retail borrowings, credit-related commitments 
such as guarantees and standby letters of credit;

− 	  Provide trustee, corporate administration to third 
parties.
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section II: Scope of operations of the Group and reportable segments

Reportable segments
Sound management requires that relevant financial infor-
mation is prepared in order for decision makers to define 
strategies and focus actions towards exploiting opportuni-
ties and/or countering adverse trends.

Relevant financial information generally requires busi-
ness complexity to be broken down in various segments. 
Disclosure of relevant segmental information enables us-
ers of financial statements to evaluate the nature and the 
financial consequences of the business activities in which 
the Group is engaged and of the economic environment in 
which it operates.

IFRS 8 requires an entity to identify its operating 
segments and based thereon to determine its reportable 
segments, which may comprise one operating segment or 
an aggregation of operating segments, which meet certain 
quantitative thresholds set out in the standard. Operating 
segment is defined in IFRS 8 as a component of an entity 
that (1) engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses including revenues and 
expenses relating to transactions with other components 
of the same entity, (2) whose operating results are regularly 
reviewed to take decisions about resources to be allocated 
and assess its performance, and (3) for which discrete 
financial information is available.

IFRS 8 requires segment disclosure based on the com-
ponents of the entity that management monitors in mak-
ing decisions about operating matters (the “Management 
Approach”). The adoption of the Management Approach 
results in the disclosure of information for segments in sub-
stantially the same manner as it is reported internally. 

The “chief operating decision maker”, who is respon-
sible for allocating resources and assessing performance of 
the operating segments, has been identified as the Group 
Executive Management.

The management information system of the Group 
is designed and constantly amended in order to reflect 
the development of the business model of the Group and 
hence to support the strategic and operating processes. 
The Group discloses its operating segments by the nature 
of the business activities as managed internally and pre-
sented to the Group Executive Management and the Board 
of Directors. 

Historically, the Group acts as a leader in the online 
securities trading market in Switzerland and has progres-
sively extended its activities by increasing the level of 
assistance to its customers (Robo-Advisory) and adding 
services such as Lombard loans and cryptocurrencies trad-

ing. In the securities trading segment, the Group provides 
securities trading services and related technology-based 
financial services to various types of customers.

Since 2010, the Group gained a critical mass in the 
leveraged forex segment (eForex) by both internal and 
external growth. In this segment, the Group offers to its 
clientele access to over-the-counter (“OTC”) foreign ex-
change markets through technology platforms. The Group 
primarily operates what is referred to as an agency model 
to execute client trades. The Group revenues are mainly 
generated by adding a markup to the price provided by the 
market.

Beyond the consolidated results, segment contri-
bution is based on segment revenue less directly incurred 
costs. Indirect fixed costs which represent the largest por-
tion of the operating costs are analysed in major cost cen-
tres as the Group employs a centralised operating model. 
This approach is considered best by the Group in order to 
achieve transparency and accountability.

As defined in IFRS 8, the reported operating segments 
meet the following quantitative thresholds: (1) its reported 
revenue is ten percent or more of the combined revenue of 
all operating segments, (2) the absolute amount of its re-
ported profit or loss is ten percent or more of the greater, 
in absolute amount, of (i) the combined reported profit 
of all operating segments that did not report a loss and 
(ii) the combined reported loss of all operating segments 
that reported a loss, (3) its assets are ten percent or more of 
the combined assets of all operating segments.

With due care to the above explanations, the Group 
has defined two operating segments and one cost centre:
− 	  Securities trading;
− 	  Leveraged forex (eForex);
− 	�  Platform and infrastructure operations, which are 

analysed in four operating perspectives: technology, 
operations, marketing and general & administrative 
(G&A).

Technology, operations, marketing and G&A do not 
qualify as reportable segments and thus have been aggre-
gated in the cost centre platform and infrastructure oper-
ations. Technology, operations, marketing and G&A may 
include various type of expenses (such as payroll and pro-
duction costs).
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Based thereon, the analysis of reportable segments and cost centres for 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

2017 2016

in CHFm

Operating income 128.1 101.6

Direct operating expenses (20.0) (14.4)

Direct marketing expenses (4.4) (3.6)

Securities trading – direct contribution margin 103.7 83.6

Operating income 67.1 52.8

Direct operating expenses (18.8) (18.4)

Direct marketing expenses (5.4) (4.4)

Leveraged forex – direct contribution margin 42.9 30.0

Operating expenses – technology (35.3) (28.5)

Operating expenses – operations (21.5) (22.9)

Operating expenses – marketing (13.5) (13.8)

Operating expenses – G&A (20.5) (19.9)

Platform and infrastructure operations (cost centre) (90.8) (85.1)

Provisions and impairment allowance (2.5) (1.2)

Negative interest rate expense (excl. foreign exchange swaps) (7.5) (4.1)

Operating profit 45.8 23.2

Income tax expense (6.6) (2.5)

Net profit 39.2 20.7

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section II: Scope of operations of the Group and reportable segments

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

in CHFm

Assets – securities trading 4,522.3 3,517.1

Assets – leveraged forex 483.8 361.7

Assets – platform and infrastructure operations 109.7 87.5

Total assets 5,115.8 3,966.2

Liabilities – securities trading (4,418.4) (3,380.1)

Liabilities – leveraged forex (358.0) (275.6)

Liabilities – platform and infrastructure operations (44.2) (29.7)

Total liabilities (4,820.6) (3,685.4)

Total equity 295.2 280.8

As at 31 December 2017: 
− 	  No other location (booking centre) than Switzerland represents more than 10% of revenues or assets; 
− 	  The Group does not have any client representing more than 10% of its revenues. 

Breakdown of assets and liabilities is as follows:
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section III: Adoption of new and revised international  
financial reporting standards

The consolidated financial statements for the year 2017 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Re-
porting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Additional information required 
by national regulations is included where appropriate. 

a	� Standards, amendments and interpretations effective on or after 1 January 2017
In the current year, the Group has applied an amendment to IFRSs issued by IASB that is mandatory effective for the finan-
cial year that begins on or after 1 January 2017.

Standards/Interpretation Content Applicable for financial years beginning on/after

IAS 12 (amended) Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses 1 January 2017

IAS 12 (amended)
The amendments clarify how an entity should evaluate whether there will be sufficient future taxable profits against which 
it can utilise a deductible temporary difference. The application of these amendments had no impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements as the Group already assessed the sufficiency of future taxable profits in a way that is 
consistent with these amendments.

b	� Standards, amendments and interpretations issued, but not impacting the Group
The following standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued but have not impacted the accounting period:

Standards/Interpretation Content Applicable for financial years beginning on/after

IAS 7 (amended) Disclosure initiative 1 January 2017

IFRS 12 Annual improvements 2014-2016 1 January 2017

c	� Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective
The following standards and interpretations have been issued, are mandatory for the accounting periods beginning after 
1 January 2018 and are expected to be relevant to the Group:

Standards/Interpretation Content Applicable for financial years beginning on/after

IFRS 15 Revenue contract with customers 1 January 2018

IFRS 9 Financial instruments 1 January 2018

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

IFRS 15 ”Revenue contract with customers”
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for de-
termining whether, how much and when revenue is rec-
ognised. It replaces existing revenue guidance, including 
IAS 18 "Revenue". IFRS 15 specifies how to account for 
revenue which arises as a result of contracts from custom-
ers. Moreover, certain contracts with customers are scoped 

out because they are covered by other IFRS standards (in-
terest income and dividend income for example). The core 
principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise rev-
enue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services 
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services.
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c	� Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet 
effective (continued)

The Group recognises revenues from the two following ma-
jor sources:
− 	  Net fee and commission income that are earned from 

a diverse range of services the Group provides to its 
customers. Fees earned from providing transaction 
type services are recognised when the service has 
been completed and the fee is fixed or determinable. 
Fees earned from services that are provided over a 
certain period of time are recognised on an accrual 
basis;

− 	  Net trading income that is recognised on online for-
eign exchange transactions done by clients and as 
well on foreign currency translations of monetary and 
liabilities denominated in other currencies than CHF.

The Group has specifically considered new IFRS 15 guid-
ance on all major sources of revenues and has assessed that 
the way these revenues are recognised will continue to be 
appropriate with IFRS 15. When applicable and appropri-
ate, the Group intends to use the full retrospective method 
of transition to IFRS 15.

Furthermore, banks will need to disclose under 
IFRS 15 more information about their contracts with cus-
tomers than is currently required. Apart from providing 
more extensive disclosures on Group’s revenue transac-
tions, the Group does not anticipate that the application of 
IFRS 15 will have a significant impact on the equity and/
or the operating profit of the Group.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
IFRS 9 replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 "Financial 
Instruments". The standard contains guidance on the clas-
sification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, 
the identification of impairment of financial assets and 
hedge accounting. 

The classification and measurement of financial assets 
are based on the contractual cash flows from financial as-
sets and on the business model in which they are held. 

In the case of debt instruments (in particular invest-
ment securities), the following categories exist:
− 	  Recognition in the statement of financial positions at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method;
− 	  Recognition in the statement of financial positions at 

fair value, with changes being recognised in the state-
ment of comprehensive income and transferred to the 
income statement if the debt instrument is sold;

− 	  Recognition in the statement of financial positions at 
fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised 
in the income statement.

All equity instruments (in particular trading assets) are 
measured at fair value and, in principle, changes in their 
fair value are recorded in the income statement. However, 
management can make an irrevocable election to present 
changes in other comprehensive income, provided the in-
strument is not held for trading.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost or fi-
nancial assets where changes in fair value are recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income primarily fall 
within the scope of the new impairment model set up by 
IFRS 9. Upon initial recognition of these instruments, the 
discounted value of the expected credit losses resulting 
from possible default events within the next 12 months 
are recognised through the income statement. If there has 
been a significant increase in the risk of default since the 
initial recognition of the instrument, the discounted value 
of all expected credit losses over the remaining life of the 
instrument are recorded through the income statement.

The Group has assessed the estimated impact that the 
initial application of IFRS 9 will have on its consolidated 
financial statements. The estimated impact of the adoption 
of this standard is described in Note 25 and is based on as-
sessments undertaken to date. IFRS 9 is expected to result 
in amendments to existing regulatory reporting require-
ments applicable to banks. 

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section III: Adoption of new and revised international  
financial reporting standards
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c	� Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet 
effective (continued)
IFRS 16 “Leases”

The new standard sets out the principles for the recogni-
tion, measurement, presentation and disclosures of the 
leases for both parties to a contract. The new standard in-
troduces a new lessee accounting model that eliminates the 
classification of leases as either finance leases or operating 
leases. For all leases, the lessee recognises a leasing liabil-
ity for its obligation to make future lease payments. At the 
same time, the lessee capitalises the right to use the under-
lying leased asset, which basically corresponds to the pres-
ent value of future lease payments plus directly attributable 
costs. Exemptions apply in the case of short-term leases 
and low value lease assets. IFRS 16 will replace the previ-
ous standard IAS 17 and related interpretations and is to be 
applied for the first time to financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. In April 2017, the Basel Committee 
on Banking Supervision (BCBS) clarified that, for regulatory 
capital purposes, the underlying leased asset (right to use) 
must not be deducted from regulatory capital where the 
underlying leased asset is a tangible asset. In the meantime, 
the underlying leased asset will have a risk weight of 100% 
and must be included in the calculation of both the risk-
based capital and the leverage ratio denominators. Based 
on the current analysis, the Group does not expect IFRS 
16 to have any significant overall impact with the excep-
tion of an increase in assets and liabilities in line with the 
nominal value of its operating lease (see Note 22). Based 
on current BCBS guidance and subject to further guidance 
from FINMA, the Group expects a corresponding effet on 
risk-weighted assets and leverage ratio.

d	 Early adoption of standards
The Group did not early adopt new or amended standards 
in 2017.

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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The main accounting policies applied in the preparation of 
these consolidated financial statements are set out below:

A 	 Basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in ac-
cordance with IFRS. The consolidated financial statements 
are prepared under the historical cost convention except 
for certain properties, financial assets and share-based 
payments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair 
values as explained in the accounting policies.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates and assump-
tions. It also requires management to exercise its judge-
ment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies. Although these estimates are based on manage-
ment’s best knowledge of current events and actions, ac-
tual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complex-
ity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are signifi-
cant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed 
in section V.

B 	 Consolidation
B1	 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) 
over which the Group has the control. The Group controls 
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has the right to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 

the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unreal-
ised gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of impairment of the trans-
ferred assets. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the Group.

B2	 Acquisition
The acquisition method is used to account for the business 
combinations by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured at the fair value of the given assets, equity in-
struments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the 
date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, 
irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. 
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of 
the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than 
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, 
the difference is recognised directly in the income state-
ment.

B3	 List of consolidated subsidiaries

Interest as at 31 December

Subsidiaries Office/Country Status 2017 2016

Swissquote Bank Ltd Gland/Switzerland Active 100% 100%

Swissquote Trade Ltd Gland/Switzerland Dormant 100% 100%

Swissquote MEA Ltd Dubai/UAE Active 100% 100%

Swissquote Financial Services (Malta) Ltd Mriehel/Malta Active 100% 100%

Swissquote Ltd London/UK Active 100% 100%

Swissquote Asia Ltd Hong Kong/China Active 100% 100%
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C 	 Foreign currency translation
C1 	 Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the 
consolidated subsidiaries are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the consoli-
dated subsidiary operates (“functional currency”). The con-

solidated financial statements are presented in CHF, which 
is the functional and presentation currency of Swissquote 
Group Holding Ltd and Swissquote Bank Ltd. Functional 
and presentation currencies of foreign subsidiaries are AED, 
GBP, HKD, EUR and USD.

C2	 Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the func-
tional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions or valuation where items are 
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are rec-
ognised in the income statement, except when deferred 
in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net 
investment hedges.

C3	 Group companies
The results and financial positions of all group entities (none 
of which has the currency in a hyperinflationary economy) 
that have a functional currency different from the presen-
tation currency are translated as follows:
− 	  Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet item pre-

sented are translated at the closing rate at the date of 
the balance sheet;

− 	  Income and expenses of each income statement are 
translated at average exchange rates;

− 	  All resulting foreign exchange differences are rec-
ognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

D	 Segment reporting 
A business segment is a group of assets and operations 
engaged in providing products or services that are subject 
to risks and returns that are different from those of other 
business segments. 

The Group discloses its operating segments by the 
nature of the business activities as managed internally and 
presented to the Group Executive Management and Board 
of Directors. The set-up of the Group’s operations (i.e. in-
tegrated online brokerage services and forex trading plat-
forms) implies that the Group operates in two reported op-
erating segments and one cost centre:
− 	  Securities trading;
− 	  Leveraged forex (eForex);
− 	  Platform and infrastructure operations (cost centre).

2017 2016

Foreign currency translation Closing rates Average rates Closing rates Average rates

EUR 1.1692 1.1167 1.0719 1.0904

USD 0.9743 0.9806 1.0183 0.9885

GBP 1.3155 1.2764 1.2549 1.3286

HKD 0.1247 0.1258 0.1313 0.1274

JPY 0.0086 0.0088 0.0087 0.0091

CAD 0.7752 0.7572 0.7585 0.7478

NOK 0.1187 0.1191 0.1179 0.1179

SEK 0.1188 0.1157 0.1118 0.1151

DKK 0.1570 0.1501 0.1442 0.1465

AUD 0.7603 0.7542 0.7349 0.7340

AED 0.2652 0.2670 0.2773 0.2691

Average rates that are disclosed in the table are the average of monthly closing rates and do not reflect the effective  
average rates of transactions.
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E	 Offsetting financial instruments
The Group presents separately recognised financial assets 
and recognised financial liabilities at their gross amounts. 
The Group does not offset assets and liabilities unless re-
quired by IFRS. 

F	 Financial assets
Excluding items classified as cash and cash equivalents, the 
Group classifies its financial assets in the following cate-
gories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale 
financial assets. The Group determines the classification of 
its investments at initial recognition and this designation 
cannot be changed subsequently.

F1	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
The Group designates certain financial assets upon initial 
recognition at fair value through profit or loss (fair value 
option). This designation cannot subsequently be changed. 
Purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised on trade date (the date on 
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the assets). 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are sub-
sequently carried at fair value. Gains and losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss category are included in the income 
statement in the period in which they arise.

Trading assets are such assets that the Group acquires 
principally for the purpose of selling them in the near future 
or holding them as part of a portfolio that is managed to-
gether for short-term profits or position taking. All changes 
in fair value are recognised as part of net trading income in 
the income statement.

Derivative financial instruments are also categorised 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (unless 
designated as hedge accounting). All changes in fair value 
are recognised as part of net trading income in the income 
statement (except for foreign exchange swaps: net interest 
income).

Investment securities are such assets when the Group 
manages its performance on a fair value basis, in accordance 
with an investment strategy. All changes in fair value are 
recognised in net trading income. Interest income and ex-
pense are recognised respectively in net interest income.

F2	 Loans
Loans are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or de-
terminable payments that are not quoted on an active mar-
ket. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or 
services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading 
the receivable. Loans are recognised when cash is advanced 
to the borrowers. Loans are recorded initially at fair value, 
together with any transaction costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition. Subsequently, they are measured at am-
ortised cost, less allowances for credit losses. Interest on 
loans is included in net interest income and recognised on 
effective interest rate method.

F3	 Held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed ma-
turities that the Group’s management has the positive in-
tention and ability to hold to maturity. Purchases and sales 
of held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised on trade 
date (the date on which the Group commits to purchase or 
sell the assets). Held-to-maturity investments are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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F	 Financial assets (continued)
F4	 Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be 
held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in 
response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, 
exchange rates or equity prices. Purchases and sales of 
available-for-sale financial assets are recognised on trade 
date (the date on which the Group commits to purchase or 
sell the assets).

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently 
carried at fair value. Gains and losses arising from chang-
es in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are 
recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive in-
come, until the financial asset is derecognised or impaired 
at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously rec-
ognised in the statement of comprehensive income should 
be recognised in income statement. However, interest cal-
culated using the effective interest method is recognised in 
the income statement.

Interest earned whilst holding available-for-sale in-
struments is reported as interest income and is recognised 
by reference to the amortised cost basis using effective 
interest rate.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value 
plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried 
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the financial assets have expired or where the Group has 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

The fair values of quoted investments in active mar-
kets are based on current bid prices. If the market for 
a financial asset is not active or if the securities are not 
listed, the Group establishes fair value by using valuation 
techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length 
transactions, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing 
models and other valuation techniques commonly used by 
market participants.

G 	 Impairment of financial assets
G1 	 Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are in-
curred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impair-
ment as a result of one or more events that occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that 
loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets 
that can be reliably estimated.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence 
of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant, and individually or collectively for 
financial assets that are not individually significant.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that 
the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing signifi-
cant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest 
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where ob-
servable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease 
in the estimated cash flows, such as changes in economic 
conditions that correlate defaults.

If the Group determines that no objective evidence 
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial 
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a 
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteris-
tics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets 
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which 
an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not 
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss 
on financial assets have been incurred, the amount of the 
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s car-
rying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not 
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. 
If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has a variable in-
terest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment 
loss is the current effective interest rate determined under 
the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may mea-
sure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value 
using an observable market price.

Notes to the consolidated  
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G	  Impairment of financial assets (continued)
The calculation of the present value of the estimated fu-
ture cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the 
cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for 
obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclo-
sure is probable.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that 
are collectively assessed for impairment are estimated on 
the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the 
Group and historical loss experience for assets with credit 
risk characteristics similar to those in the Group. Historical 
loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observ-
able data to reflect the effects of current conditions that 
did not affect the period on which the historical loss expe-
rience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in 
the historical period that do not exist currently.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups 
of assets should reflect and be directionally consistent with 
changes in related observable data from period to period 
(for example, changes in unemployment rates, proper-
ty prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of 
changes in the probability of losses in the Group and their 
magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for 
estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the 
Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates 
and actual loss experience.

When a loan is non-collectable, it is written off against 
the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans are 
written off after sufficient objective evidences have been 
identified, such as:
− 	  Significant financial difficulty of the issuer;
− 	  A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency 

in interest or principal payments;
− 	  The lender, for economic or legal reasons relating 

to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the 
borrower a concession that the lender would not oth-
erwise consider;

− 	  The probability that the borrower will enter bankrupt-
cy or other financial reorganisation;

− 	  The disappearance of an active market for that finan-
cial asset because of financial difficulties;

− 	  Observable data indicating that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a 
group of financial assets.

A loan is considered impaired when management deter-
mines that it is probable that the Group will not be able to 
collect all amounts due based on the original contractual 
terms. Individual credit exposures are evaluated based on 
the borrower’s overall financial condition, resources and 
payment record, and, when applicable, the realisable value 
of any collateral.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off decrease the amount of the provision for loan impair-
ment in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impair-
ment loss decreases and the decrease can be related ob-
jectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit 
rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is re-
versed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of 
the reversal is recognised in the income statement.

G2 	 Assets carried at fair value
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity invest-
ments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or pro-
longed decline in the fair value of the security below its 
cost is considered in determining whether the assets are 
impaired. In determining what is significant or prolonged, 
the Group’s management exercises judgement. If any such 
evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the 
cumulative loss – measured as the difference between 
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any im-
pairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised 
in income statement – is removed from the statement 
of comprehensive income and recognised in the income 
statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income 
statement on equity instruments are not reversed through 
the income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair 
value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale 
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in 
income statement, the impairment loss is reversed through 
the income statement.

The Group’s risk management for the lending activi-
ty in the form of deposits or bonds to third party financial 
institutions is monitored based on independent external 
rating that must be equal to or above minimum ratings (set 
forth in the risk policy).

Notes to the consolidated  
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H	 Derivative financial instruments and hedging  
activities

Derivative financial instruments include those held for trad-
ing purposes and those used for risk management purpos-
es. Derivatives held for trading arise from proprietary trad-
ing activity and from customer-based activity. The method 
of recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss depends 
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instru-
ment, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 

The Group may designate certain derivatives as either:
− 	  Hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabil-

ities or firm commitments (fair value hedge);
− 	  Hedges of highly probable future cash flows attribut-

able to a recognised asset or liability, or a forecasted 
transaction (cash flow hedge).

Hedge accounting is used for derivatives designated in this 
way, provided certain criteria are met.

The Group documents, at the inception of the trans-
action, the relationship between hedged items and hedging 
instruments, as well as its risk management objective and 
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The 
Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge in-
ception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives 
that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective 
in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged 
items.

a 	 Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated 
and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income 
statement, together with any changes in the fair value of 
the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the 
hedged risk. Effective changes in fair value of interest rate 
swaps and related hedged items are reflected in net interest 
income. Effective changes in fair value of currency futures 
are reflected in net trading income. Any ineffectiveness is 
recorded in net trading income.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a 
hedged item for which the effective interest method is 
used is amortised to income statement over the period 
to maturity. The adjustment to the carrying amount of a 
hedged equity security remains in retained earnings until 
the disposal of the equity security.

b 	 Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of deriv-
atives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges 
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is rec-
ognised immediately in the income statement (net trading 
income).

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the 
income statement in the periods when the hedged item 
affects income statement. The gain or loss relating to the 
effective portion of foreign exchange swaps and currency 
options are recorded in line with the hedged item in the in-
come statement.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when 
a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge account-
ing, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that 
time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast 
transaction is ultimately recognised in the income state-
ment. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected 
to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in 
equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.

Notes to the consolidated  
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I	  Intangible assets
Goodwill represents the excess of cost of an acquisition 
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifi-
able assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisi-
tion. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in 
“intangible assets”. Goodwill is tested annually for impair-
ment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment loss-
es. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains 
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Customer relationships acquired in a business combi-
nation are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
The customer relationships have a finite useful life (15 years) 
and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Am-
ortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over 
the expected life of the customer relationships. Expected 
life is determined on a case-by-case basis on date of ac-
quisition.

J	  Information technology systems
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the 
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
specific software. These costs are amortised on the basis of 
the expected useful life (3 to 10 years).

Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
programs are recognised as an expense when incurred. 
However, expenditure that enhances or extends the ben-
efits of computer software programs beyond their original 
specifications and lives is recognised as a capital improve-

ment and added to the original cost of the software under 
the item “proprietary software”. Computer software devel-
opment costs recognised as assets are amortised using the 
straight-line method over their useful lives but not exceed-
ing a period of two to five years. 

Computer software internally generated by the Group 
is recognised as an asset if the cost of development is reli-
ably measurable and an analysis shows that future benefits 
from using the software application exceed the cost. Cost 
is defined as development costs incurred to make each 
computer software application ready for use. The cost of 
development consists primarily of direct remuneration and 
other directly attributable development costs. Expenses 
incurred in the planning phase are not capitalised, but ex-
pensed when incurred.

Hardware and telecom systems are recorded at cost. 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to 
write off the cost of these assets to their residual values 
over their estimated useful life, but not exceeding five 
years.

Information technology systems are periodically re-
viewed for impairment. Where the carrying amount of an 
asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is 
written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the highest of the asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use.

The cost of acquisition and accumulated depreciation 
of an item are derecognised when no future economic ben-
efits are expected from its use or disposal.
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Assets Depreciation method

Software third party licences Straightline 3 to 10 years

Proprietary software Straightline 2 to 5 years

Hardware & telecom systems Straightline Maximum 5 years
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The residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Assets Depreciation method

Building Straightline Max 30 years

Leasehold improvements Straightline 5 to 10 years 1 

Equipments Straightline 5 to 10 years
1 or duration of the lease if shorter

K 	 Property, plant and equipment
K1 	 Land and building
Land and building comprise offices for own use. Land and 
building are shown at fair value, based on regular valuations 
carried out by independent valuers (at least once every  
five years) or internally, less subsequent depreciation for 
buildings.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or are recognised as separate assets, as appropri-
ate, only when it is probable that the future economic ben-
efits associated with the item will flow to the Group and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carry-
ing amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to the income state-
ment during the financial period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquisition and accumulated depreciation 
of an item is derecognised when no future economic bene-
fits are expected from its use or disposal.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revalua-
tion of land and building are credited to other comprehen-
sive income and shown as other reserve in equity. Decreas-
es that offset previous increases of the same assets are 
charged against other reserve directly in equity. All other 

decreases are charged to the income statement. Each year, 
the difference between depreciation based on the revalued 
carrying amount of the asset charged to the income state-
ment and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost is 
transferred from other reserve to retained earnings.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by com-
paring the proceeds with the carrying amount and are rec-
ognised in the income statement. When revalued assets are 
sold, the amounts included in other reserve are transferred 
to retained earnings.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on building is 
calculated on a straight-line basis and based on the esti-
mated useful life (in general 30 years).

K2 	 Leasehold improvements and equipments
Leasehold improvements and equipments are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation on any impairment losses.  
Expenditure incurred in maintenance and repairs is rec-
ognised in the income statement as incurred. Expenditure 
incurred on major improvements is capitalised and depre-
ciated.

Depreciation is calculated as follows:
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L	  Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying 
amount of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suf-
fered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where 
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset be-
longs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of the allo-
cation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated 
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are 
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for 
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be 
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their pres-
ent value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-gener-
ating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in income statement, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case 
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been de-

termined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of 
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in income 
statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation increase.

Assets that have an indefinite useful life - for example, 
goodwill – are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amor-
tisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount ex-
ceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the highest of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, as-
sets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). 
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impair-
ment at each reporting date.

M	 Due to customers
Due to customers only include items classified as liabilities 
at amortised cost. 

Notes to the consolidated  
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N 	 Deferred income taxes
Deferred income taxes are provided, using the liability 
method, for all temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values 
for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax is de-
termined using tax rate and tax laws that have been enact-
ed or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and 
are expected to apply when the related deferred income 
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is 
settled.

The principal temporary differences arise from the 
capitalisation of certain assets and related depreciation 
and amortisation as well as from remeasurement of defined 
benefit obligation.

Deferred tax related to fair value remeasurement of 
available-for-sale investments, which is charged or credit-
ed directly to other comprehensive income, is also credit-
ed or charged directly to other comprehensive income and 
is subsequently (in case of sale) recognised in the income 
statement together with the deferred gain or loss.

Deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried for-
ward are, if any, recognised to the extent that taxable prof-
its are expected to be generated in the future and will be 
offset by the tax losses carried forward.

O	 Pension obligations
As of 31 December 2017, the Group operates various 
post-employment schemes, including defined benefit and 
defined contribution pension plans (2016: same situation).

Switzerland (defined benefit plan)
With regard to operations located in Switzerland, the pen-
sion plan has been set up in accordance with the Swiss de-
fined contribution plans. However, it does not fulfil all of 
the conditions of a defined contribution pension plan ac-
cording to IAS 19R and is therefore accounted for as a de-
fined benefit plan.

The Group insures its staff with a collective founda-
tion, which provides benefits on retirement or in the event 
of death and disability. The benefits provided by the plan 
are above the legal minimum (which is set out in Swiss 

Federal Law on Occupational Retirement, Survivors’ and 
Disability Pension Plans). These additional benefits can be 
reduced prospectively for active employees. The level of 
contributions to be paid by the employees and the relevant 
Group companies is determined in the plan’s rules. The pen-
sion benefits are based on the contributions paid by the in-
sured persons and the Group (individual savings accounts). 
As the supreme body of the collective foundation, the 
Board of Trustees is responsible for the general adminis-
tration, for the drawing up of the rules and the regulations, 
for asset management supervision and for the relation with 
authorities. The administrative, accounting and actuarial 
management is entrusted to third party services providers. 
Swiss pension plans must ensure that they can meet their 
obligations in all times. Measures to eliminate any potential 
shortfall must be based on a regulatory principle.

For IFRS purposes, pension obligations and expens-
es are determined according to the projected unit credit 
method when qualifying as defined benefit plans. The cor-
responding calculations are made by third-party actuaries 
on a periodical basis. The potential liability recognised in 
the statement of financial positions in respect of defined 
benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less 
the fair value of the plan’s assets, together with adjust-
ments for unrecognised past-service costs. The present 
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future outflows using interest 
rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated 
in the currency in which the benefits are paid, and that have 
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related 
pension obligation.

Foreign locations (defined contribution plan)
The foreign entities of the Group operate defined contri-
bution pension schemes. The assets of the scheme are held 
separately from those of the entities in an independently 
administered fund. The amount charged to the income 
statement represents the contributions that have been paid 
to the scheme in respect of the accounting period.
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P	  Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present ob-
ligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events, if it 
is probable that the Group will be required to settle the ob-
ligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best es-
timate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at balance sheet date. Where a provision is mea-
sured using cash flow estimates to settle the present ob-
ligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required 
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is 
virtually certain that the reimbursement will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Q	 Share capital/transaction costs
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share premium in-
cludes any premium received on the issuing of new shares. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue by 
Group entities of new shares or options (transaction costs) 
or to the acquisition of a business are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Dividends on or-
dinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which 
they are approved by the Group’s shareholders.

R	 Employee Share and Option Plan (ESOP)
The equity-based compensation plan is called “Employee 
Share and Option Plan” (“ESOP”). The purpose of the plan 
is to furnish incentives to eligible employees of the Group 
to increase shareholder value by improving operations and 
profitability. Eligible employee shall mean any permanent 
employee of the Group who is employed by the Group at 
the date of grant and for a minimum of one full year of em-
ployment within the Group.

The Share Plan is made available to all eligible employees 
and to the members of the Board of Directors while the Op-
tion Plan is solely available to eligible employees (in partic-
ular members of the management).

For the Option Plan, the fair value of the employee 
services received in exchange for the grant of the options 
is recognised as an expense over the vesting period (i.e. the 
period during which all the specified vesting conditions of a 
share-based payment arrangement are to be satisfied). The 
total amount to be expensed is determined by reference 
to the fair value of the options granted (at grant date), ex-
cluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions 
and the number of options anticipated to vest. Non-mar-
ket vesting conditions are included in assumptions about 
the number of options that are expected to become exer-
cisable. At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its 
estimates of the number of options that are expected to 
become exercisable. It recognises the impact of the revi-
sion of original estimates, if any, in the income statement, 
and a corresponding adjustment to equity over the remain-
ing vesting period. When shares are issued to employees 
exercising stock options, the proceeds received net of 
any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to 
share capital (nominal value) and share premium when the 
options are exercised. When treasury shares are delivered 
to employees exercising the stock options, the proceeds 
received are credited to treasury shares (acquisition cost) 
and share premium.

For the Share Plan, the Group has decided not to in-
clude any vesting condition. The fair value of the attributed 
shares is fully recognised as expense at the date of grant. 
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S	 Treasury shares
When the Group purchases its own shares, the consider-
ation paid is deducted from total equity as treasury shares 
until they are cancelled. Where such shares are subsequent-
ly sold or reissued, any consideration received is included 
in equity.

T	 Fee and commission income/expense
Fee and commission income/expense are recognised on an 
accrual basis when the services have been provided to the 
customer, usually on a time-appropriate basis, net of sales 
tax and discount.

Cryptocurrencies trading revenues are recognised as 
fee and commission income as the customers are charged 
a percentage of the transaction amount designated in EUR 
or USD currency.

U	 Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in the income 
statement for all instruments measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Interest income in-
cludes coupons earned on fixed-income investment and 
trading securities and accrued discount and premium on 
treasury bills and other discounted instruments. Once 
a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has 
been written down as a result of an impairment loss, inter-
est income is recognised using the rate of interest used to 
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring 
the impairment loss. A foreign exchange swap is a simulta-
neous purchase and sale of identical amounts of one cur-
rency for another with two different value dates (normally 
spot to forward). The difference between the forward rate 
and the spot rate represents the interest differential be-
tween the two currencies at inception. The net economic 
return (interest margin) over the investment period is rec-
ognised in net interest income, as well as any subsequent 
changes in fair value that may occur.

In the context of negative interest rates environment, 
IAS 18 did not envisage the circumstance of negative in-
terest rates. The Group decided to disclose separately the 
impact of negative interest expense on the face of the in-
come statement.

Income which falls under the scope of IAS 18 "Revenue" 
cannot be netted off against related expenses. However, 
this does not preclude the Group from presenting interest 
income followed by interest expense and a subtotal such as 
“net interest income” on the face of the income statement. 

V	 Net trading income
Net trading income is recognised on online foreign ex-
change transactions done by clients and also on foreign 
currency translation of monetary assets and liabilities de-
nominated in other currencies than CHF. Revenue rebates 
payable to introducing brokers, that are not themselves 
trading counterparties, are charged to the income state-
ment when the associated revenue is recognised and are 
disclosed as a deduction from net trading income. Changes 
in fair value and gains and losses realised on disposal of 
financial assets designated at fair value through profit or 
loss are recognised in net trading income.

W	 Leases
The leases entered into by the Group are operating leas-
es. The total payments made under operating leases are 
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the 
lease period has expired, any payment required to be made 
to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense 
in the period in which termination takes place.
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X	  Off-balance sheet activities (fiduciary activity)
The Group commonly acts in a variety of arrangements as 
trustee and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the 
holding or placing of assets on behalf of clients. These ar-
rangements are subject to regulation (when applicable) as 
well as industry custom and practice. These assets are not 
included in the statement of financial positions because the 
contractual terms and economic substance do not meet the 
general IFRS definition for the recognition of an asset and 
liability.

Y	  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than 
90 days maturity including: cash and balances, amounts due 
from other banks and other short-term highly liquid invest-
ments. Cash and balances with central banks comprise of 
deposits with Swiss National Bank which are available on 
demand. All receivables from central banks with a maturity 
over 90 days are presented under "Due from banks".

In relation with the disclosure of the consolidated 
statement of cash flow, the Group assessed that the posi-
tion due from banks (above three months) is to be included 
in the operating activities and not in the investing activities 
accordingly with market practice (2016 comparative fig-
ures have been updated accordingly).

Z	 Comparatives
When required, comparative figures have been adjusted to 
conform to changes in presentation in the current year.
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section V: Critical accounting judgements and  
key sources of estimation uncertainty

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and the application of these accounting standards 
requires the use of judgement, based on estimates and as-
sumptions that may involve significant uncertainty at the 
time they are made. Using different assumptions could 
cause the reported results to differ as well as changes in the 
assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial 
statements in the period changes occur.

This section is included to assist the reader of the con-
solidated financial statements in understanding the uncer-
tainty inherent in the estimates and assumptions used but 
does not intend to suggest that other estimates and assump-
tions would be more appropriate. As at 31 December 2017, 
Management believes the assumptions that have been made 
are appropriate under the circumstances and that the consol-
idated financial statements are fairly presented in all material 
aspects.

In addition, the process of applying the Group’s ac-
counting policies may require the use of key assumptions 
concerning the future, and/or other key sources of estima-
tion uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a sig-
nificant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year. Key assumptions are discussed below.

A	  Impairment test in respect of goodwill
As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of goodwill 
amounted CHF 39.0 million (2016: 39.0 million).

Under IFRS standards, goodwill is not amortised, but 
is reviewed for potential impairment on an annual basis or 
when indicators of impairment exist. The Group tests annu-
ally whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. 

The impairment test is performed for each segment 
for which goodwill is allocated and compares the recov-
erable amount (based on its value-in-use) to the carrying 
amount of the goodwill. An impairment charge is rec-
ognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount. The impairment test is based on assumptions.

The recoverable amounts are determined using a 
discounted cash flow (DCF) model, which incorporates 
assumptions (such as growth rate and the amount and tim-
ing of expected future cash flows for example) relevant to 
the banking business and its regulatory environment. The 
recoverable amount is the sum of the discounted earnings 
from the first five forecasted years and the terminal value. 
The terminal value, reflecting all periods beyond the fifth 
year is calculated on the basis of the forecast of the fifth 
year earnings.

Valuation parameters used for the impairment test model 
are linked to external market information, where applica-
ble (see Note 6). The discount rate is determined by ap-
plying a capital-asset-pricing model-based approach, as 
well as considering quantitative and qualitative inputs. Key 
assumptions used to determine the recoverable amounts 
are tested for sensitivity by applying a reasonably possible 
change to those assumptions.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for 
purposes of impairment testing. The allocation is made to 
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating 
units that are expected to benefit from the business combi-
nation, identified according to business segment. Report-
able segment leveraged forex (previously eForex) is consid-
ered as one cash-generating unit.

Circumstances that could trigger an impairment test 
include (but are not limited to): a significant adverse change 
in business climate or legal factor, an adverse action or as-
sessment by a regulator, additional regulatory or legislative 
changes, unanticipated competition and loss of key person-
nel.

If the estimated earnings and other assumptions in 
future periods deviate from the current outlook, the value 
of the goodwill may become impaired in the future, giving 
rise to losses in the income statement. Recognition of any 
impairment of goodwill would reduce IFRS equity and net 
profit. It would not impact cash flows nor regulatory capital 
ratios, as goodwill is required to be deducted from eligible 
capital under Basel III framework.

B	 Impairment allowance for credit losses
An allowance for credit loss is recognised if there is objec-
tive evidence that the Group will be unable to collect all 
amounts due. Allowances are evaluated at both a counter-
party-specific level and collectively. Allowances for cred-
it losses represent management’s best estimate of credit 
losses incurred at the balance sheet date due (among oth-
ers) to the credit deterioration of the counterparty.

In January 2015, the Swiss National Bank removed the 
1.20 floor on EUR/CHF which led to a sudden and extreme 
strengthening of the CHF against all major currencies. This 
event of unprecendented magnitude left many clients with 
the negative account balance (see Note 4).
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B	 Impairment allowance for credit losses (continued)
During 2017, the Group pursued its strategy to recover the 
negative balances. The Group has clustered the negative 
balances in accordance with recovery strategies. The as-
sumptions used for estimating the potential recovery are 
reviewed regularly with actual past experience. Based on 
amounts collected or for which commitments were made 
by clients with negative balances, the estimated recover-
able amount was CHF 2.3 million as at 31 December 2017 
(2016: CHF 3.5 million).

C	 Employee benefits
As at 31 December 2017, the defined benefit obligation 
amounted CHF 43.5 million (2016: CHF 39.2 million) which 
resulted in a net liability of CHF 7.2 million (2016: CHF 5.7 
million) after deduction of the fair value of plan's assets.

The present value of the pension obligations depends 
on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial 
basis using a number of assumptions. Any changes in these 
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension 
obligations (see Note 14).

The assumptions used in determining the net cost (or 
income) for pension include the discount rate. The Group 
determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each 
year. This is the interest rate that should be used to deter-
mine the present value of estimated cash outflows expect-
ed to be required to settle the pension obligations. In de-
termining appropriate discount rate, the Group considers 
the interest rates of high-quality maturity approximating 
the terms of the related pension obligations.

Other key assumptions include life expectancy, turn-
over, expected salary increases, pension rates and interest 
credits on retirement saving account balances. Life ex-
pectancy is determined by reference to mortality tables. 
The assumption for salary increases reflects the long-term 
expectations for salary growth and takes into account in-
flation, seniority and other relevant factors of the labour 
market.

D	 Holdings in cryptocurrencies
A cryptocurrency is an open-source software-based online 
system where payments are recorded in a public ledger us-
ing its own unit of account (such as bitcoin, ether or ripple). 
There is no consensus among legal scholars as to the legal 
characterisation of cryptocurrencies and numerous regula-
tors are still undecided about how to treat cryptocurren-
cies. As a result, there is no clear guidance in IFRS on how 
to account for cryptocurrencies either. IAS 8.10 provides 
that in the absence of an IFRS that specifically applies to 

a transaction, other event or condition, management shall 
use its judgement in developing and applying an accounting 
policy. In making the judgement required by IAS 8.10, man-
agement may as well consider accepted industry practices, 
legal opinions  and other accounting literature to the extent 
these do not conflict with the requirements of IFRS.

Since 2017, the Group offers cryptocurrencies trad-
ing services to its clients. In that context, the Group keeps 
the holdings in cryptocurrencies acquired by its clients in 
custody either directly or with a third party custodian. The 
Group holds all cryptocurrencies credited to the client ac-
counts solely as nominee (fiduciary basis) on behalf of its 
clients, which remain the legal and beneficial owner of such 
holdings. The Group itself has no direct claim to the crypto-
currencies, as they are assets belonging to its clients. When 
analysing the contractual terms and economic substance of 
the arrangements in place, the Group determined that (i) it 
must not record these holdings on its statement of financial 
positions because they would not fall within the bankruptcy 
estate of the Group and (ii) the general IFRS definitions of 
an asset and liability were not met. 

The Group acknowledges that this determination in-
volves significant judgement and that the analysis is not 
straightforward. The contractual arrangements should be 
considered in conjunction with applicable laws, regulation 
and established custom and practice. As of today, FINMA 
has not yet established specific rules that would be relevant 
to the application of the recognition criteria and in case of 
bankruptcy (for example rules on the use of separate cli-
ent bank accounts and/or restrictions on commingling of 
funds). Based on the above choice and pursuant to IAS 1.7, 
the Group must provide narrative descriptions and disclo-
sures about the items that do not qualify for recognition on 
the statement of financial positions.

Should the holdings in cryptocurrencies meet the IFRS 
definition of recognition of an asset and liability, this would 
result in a gross-up of the statement of financial positions 
of less than 3.0% but not impact the income statement.
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VI: Financial risk management

A	 Introduction
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks that re-
quire the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management 
of some degree of risks or combination of risks. Risks arise 
from all Group business activities and cannot be completely 
eliminated. Prudent risk-taking is in line with the strategic 
priorities and is fundamental to the Group business as pro-
vider of online financial services. 

Risk management plays an important role in the 
Group business' planning process and is highly supported 
by the Executive Management and the Board of Directors.

A1	  Financial risk factors
The Group activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
− 	  Credit risk;
− 	  Liquidity risk;
− 	  Market risks (including foreign exchange risk and in-

terest rate risk);
− 	  Operational risk.

A variety of methodologies and measures are applied to 
quantify the risks of the Group and risk concentrations.

A2	 Risk governance and risk organisation
The Group risk management policies and systems are de-
signed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate 
risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence 
to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information 
systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management 
policies and systems to reflect changes in the markets, 
products, emerging best practices and legislative and reg-
ulatory developments. As a general rule, risk limits are set 
by the Board of Directors. The Executive Management is 
responsible for supervising and directing the risk profile 
and recommending risk limits to the Board of Directors. The 
Chief Risk Officer is the executive accountable for enabling 
the governance of significant risks (risk management).

The objectives of risk management are to protect the 
Group financial strength and reputation, while ensuring 
that capital is well deployed to support business activities. 

These business activities are constrained by the capital that 
is available to cover risk-weighted assets resulting inter alia 
from the risks underlying the activities and the size of the 
balance sheet assets. These constraints represent a link be-
tween the strategy, the risks generated by the activities and 
the balance sheet and capital resources that are available to 
absorb those risks. The Group risk management organisa-
tion reflects the specific nature of the various risks in order 
to ensure that risks are managed within limits set in a trans-
parent and timely manner. The Board of Directors is respon-
sible for the strategic direction, supervision and control of 
the Group activities as well as the definition of the overall 
tolerance for risk. The Audit & Risk Committee is responsi-
ble for assisting the Board of Directors in its responsibilities 
by monitoring Group’s approach with respect to financial 
reporting, internal controls, accounting, compliance and 
internal audit.

The Board of Directors provides written principles for 
the overall risk management, as well as written policies cov-
ering the following main risk areas: 
− 	  Asset and liability management and treasury policies 

(covering inter alia currency and maturity mismatching 
risks); 

− 	  Credit risks (including margining of collateral risks);
–	 Liquidity risks;
− 	  Market risks (comprising the scope of assets consid-

ered for investment and provisions on market, inter-
est rate and liquidity risks);

− 	  Capital management policies;
− 	  Operational risks.

Furthermore, once a year, the Board of Directors organises 
a conference dedicated to an in-depth review of risk and 
of the risk management process (the “Annual Conference 
on Risks”). Selected members of the senior management, 
the external auditors and the internal auditors provide the 
Board of Directors with their own risk assessments and their 
recommendations with respect to the risk management and 
internal control.
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Section VI: Financial risk management

B	 Financial assets and liabilities categorisation
IFRS 7 requires presenting all the financial assets and liabilities of the Group by category and by class of instruments.

Amortised cost Fair value

in CHF

Classes of financial assets Loans and advances Held-to-maturity
Fair value through 

profit & loss Available-for-sale Total Fair value

Cash and balances with central bank 3,517,110,596 – – – 3,517,110,596 3,517,110,596

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 259,850,000 – – – 259,850,000 259,850,000

Due from banks 425,399,549 – – – 425,399,549 425,399,549

Derivative financial instruments – – 72,390,700 – 72,390,700 72,390,700

Trading assets – – 8,251,045 – 8,251,045 8,251,045

Loans 278,589,147 – – – 278,589,147 278,589,147

Investment securities – 76,901,842 2,197,997 305,784,470 384,884,309 391,344,396

Other assets 21,217,357 – – – 21,217,357 21,217,357

Total financial assets 4,502,166,649 76,901,842 82,839,742 305,784,470 4,967,692,703 4,974,152,790

Deferred income tax assets 1,297,620

Intangible assets 40,288,690

Information technology systems 44,937,871

Property, plant and equipment 61,572,383

Total non financial assets 148,096,564

Total assets as at 
31 December 2017 5,115,789,267

in CHF

Classes of financial liabilities
Fair value through  

profit & loss Other liabilities Total Fair value

Deposits from banks – 170,984,155 170,984,155 170,984,155

Derivative financial instruments 24,111,177 – 24,111,177 24,111,177

Due to customers – 4,566,383,437 4,566,383,437 4,566,383,437

Other liabilities – 50,280,159 50,280,159 50,280,159

Current income tax liabilities – 5,310,652 5,310,652 5,310,652

Total financial liabilities 24,111,177 4,792,958,403 4,817,069,580 4,817,069,580

Deferred tax liabilities 1,558,476

Provisions 2,012,911

Total non financial liabilities 3,571,387

Total liabilities as at
31 December 2017 4,820,640,967

Net balance as at 
31 December 2017 295,148,300
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B	 Financial assets and liabilities categorisation (continued)

Amortised cost Fair value

in CHF

Classes of financial assets Loans and advances Held–to–maturity
Fair value through 

profit & loss Available–for–sale Total Fair value

Cash and balances with central bank 2,284,650,001 – – – 2,284,650,001 2,284,650,001

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 258,790,000 18,764,556 – – 277,554,556 277,554,556

Due from banks 398,214,374 – – – 398,214,374 398,214,374

Derivative financial instruments – – 41,516,556 – 41,516,556 41,516,556

Trading assets – – 6,942,709 – 6,942,709 6,942,709

Loans 226,350,929 – – – 226,350,929 226,350,929

Investment securities – 85,712,776 2,612,443 466,199,667 554,524,886 563,491,537

Other assets 30,373,132 – – – 30,373,132 30,373,132

Total financial assets 3,198,378,436 104,477,332 51,071,708 466,199,667 3,820,127,143 3,829,093,794

Deferred income tax assets 1,026,000

Intangible assets 40,465,911

Information technology systems 40,729,830

Property, plant and equipment 63,911,608

Total non-financial assets 146,133,349

Total assets as at 
31 December 2016 3,966,260,492

in CHF

Classes of financial liabilities
Fair value through  

profit & loss Other liabilities Total Fair value

Deposits from banks – 32,804,479 32,804,479 32,804,479

Derivative financial instruments 12,723,622 – 12,723,622 12,723,622

Due to customers – 3,600,244,732 3,600,244,732 3,600,244,732

Other liabilities – 35,732,333 35,732,333 35,732,333

Current income tax liabilities – 379,204 379,204 379,204

Total financial liabilities 12,723,622 3,669,160,748 3,681,884,370 3,681,884,370

Deferred tax liabilities 1,209,728

Provisions 2,331,930

Total non-financial liabilities 3,541,658

Total liabilities as at 
31 December 2016 3,685,426,028

Net balance as at 
31 December 2016 280,834,464
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C	 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The fair value of financial instruments traded in an active 
market, such as trading available-for-sale securities, is 
based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. 
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by 
the Group is the current bid price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not 
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter 
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. 
The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assump-
tions that are based on market conditions existing at each 
balance sheet date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes 
for similar instruments are used for long-term debts. 

Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash 
flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining 
financial instruments.

The carrying value less impairment provision of other 
assets and other liabilities is assumed to approximate their 
fair value.

Fair value hierarchy
The levels of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows:
− 	  Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 

for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes 
listed debt instruments and trading assets on stock 
and other exchanges and exchange traded derivatives 
such as futures. This level of the fair value hierarchy 
provides the most reliable evidence of fair value and is 
used to measure fair value whenever available.

− 	  Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included 
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or li-
ability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly 
(that is, derived from prices). These inputs include: 
(1) quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in ac-
tive markets, (2) quoted prices for identical or sim-
ilar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, 
that is, markets in which there are few transactions 
for the asset or liability, the prices are not current or 
price quotations vary substantially either over time or 
among market makers, or in which little information 
is publicly available, inputs other than quoted prices 
that are observable for the asset or the liability or 
(3) inputs that are derived principally from or corrobo-
rated by observable market data by correlation or oth-
er means. This level includes the majority of the OTC 
derivative contracts and investment securities. The 
sources of input parameters such as LIBOR yield curve 
or counterparty credit risk are Bloomberg and Reuters.

− 	  Level 3 – Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are 
not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs). These inputs reflect the Group’s own assump-
tions about the assumptions that market participants 
would use in pricing the asset or liability (including 
assumptions about risk). These inputs are developed 
based on the best information available in the circum-
stances. This level includes equity investments and 
debt instruments with significant unobservable com-
ponents. This hierarchy requires the use of observable 
market data when available. The Group considers rel-
evant and observable market prices in its valuations 
where possible.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active mar-
kets is based on quoted prices at the balance sheet date. 
An active market is one in which quoted prices are readily 
and regularly available from a stock exchange, a dealer, a 
broker, an industry group, a pricing service or a regulato-
ry agency, those prices represent actual and regularly oc-
curring market transactions on an arm’s length basis and in 
which transactions take place with sufficient frequency and 
volume. The quoted market price used for financial assets 
held by the Group is the current bid price. These instru-
ments are included in level 1. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not 
traded in an active market (i.e. over-the-counter derivatives 
and investment securities) is determined by using valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use 
of observable market data where it is available and rely as 
little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all signifi-
cant inputs required to measure at fair value an instrument 
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs are not based 
on observable market data, the instrument is included in 
level 3.

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VI: Financial risk management
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C	  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value Carrying amount

in CHF

As at 31 December 2017

Financial assets measured at fair 
value

Derivative financial instruments 46,848,682 25,542,018 – 72,390,700 72,390,700

Trading assets 8,251,045 – – 8,251,045 8,251,045

Investment securities 40,431,948 267,550,519 – 307,982,467 307,982,467

Total 95,531,675 293,092,537 – 388,624,212 388,624,212

Financial assets not measured at 
fair value

Cash and balances with central 
bank 3,517,110,596

Treasury bills and other eligible 
bills 259,850,000

Due from banks 425,399,549

Loans 278,589,147

Investments securities 48,682,752 34,679,177 – 83,361,929 76,901,842

Other assets 21,217,357

Total financial assets 48,682,752 34,679,177 – 83,361,929 4,967,692,703

Financial liabilities measured at 
fair value

Derivative financial instruments 6,831,666 17,279,511 – 24,111,177 24,111,177

Total 6,831,666 17,279,511 – 24,111,177 24,111,177

Financial liabilities not measured 
at fair value

Deposits from banks 170,984,155

Due to customers 4,566,383,437

Other liabilities 50,280,159

Current income tax liabilities 5,310,652

Total financial liabilities 4,817,069,580

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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Financial assets measured at fair value
Investment securities measured at fair value comprise of 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (31 De-
cember 2017: CHF 2.2 million, out of which CHF 2.2 million 
classified as level 2) and financial assets designated avail-
able-for-sale (31 December 2017: CHF 305.8 million, out of 
which CHF 265.4 million classified as level 2).

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value
Investment securities not measured at fair value are all classi-
fied as held-to-maturity (31 December 2017: CHF 83.4 mil-
lion, out of which CHF 48.7 million classified as level 2 and 
CHF 34.7 million as level 1). For all other financial assets and 
liabilities not measured at fair value, the carrying amount is 
assessed to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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C	 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value Carrying amount

in CHF

As at 31 December 2016

Financial assets measured at fair 
value

Derivative financial instruments 27,080,310 14,436,246 – 41,516,556 41,516,556

Trading assets 6,942,709 – – 6,942,709 6,942,709

Investment securities 69,378,996 399,433,114 – 468,812,110 468,812,110

Total 103,402,015 413,869,360 – 517,271,375 517,271,375

Financial assets not measured at 
fair value

Cash and balances with central 
bank 2,284,650,001

Treasury bills and other eligible 
bills 277,554,556

Due from banks 398,214,374

Loans 226,350,929

Investments securities 56,532,445 38,146,982 – 94,679,427 85,712,776

Other assets 30,373,132

Total financial assets 56,532,445 38,146,982 – 94,679,427 3,820,127,143

Financial liabilities measured at 
fair value

Derivative financial instruments 6,068,408 6,655,214 – 12,723,622 12,723,622

Total 6,068,408 6,655,214 – 12,723,622 12,723,622

Financial liabilities not measured at 
fair value

Deposits from banks 32,804,479

Due to customers 3,600,244,732

Other liabilities 35,732,333

Current income tax liabilities 379,204

Total financial liabilities 3,681,884,370

Notes to the consolidated  
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Financial assets measured at fair value
Investment securities measured at fair value comprise of 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (31 De-
cember 2016: CHF 2.6 million, out of which CHF 2.6 million 
classified as level 2) and financial assets designated avail-
able-for-sale (31 December 2016: CHF 466.2 million, out of 
which CHF 396.8 million classified as level 2).

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value
Investment securities not measured at fair value are all classi-
fied as held-to-maturity (31 December 2016: CHF 94.7 mil-
lion, out of which CHF 38.2 million classified as level 2 and 
CHF 56.5 million as level 1). For all other financial assets and 
liabilities not measured at fair value, the carrying amount is 
assessed to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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C	 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (contin-
ued)

Classification within the fair value hierarchy
Investment securities are generally classified as level 1 or 
level 2. Although market data is readily available, there is 
often insufficient third-party transaction data to justify an 
active market and corresponding level 1 classification.

Derivative financial instruments include, inter alia, 
currency forwards which are valued using foreign exchange 
spot rates observed in the market. As the foreign exchange 
market is actively tradable, these currency forwards are 
generally classified as level 1. Other derivative financial in-
struments, such as precious-metals forwards, are typically 
classified as level 2.

Trading assets are predominantly exchange-traded 
investment fund units with readily available quoted prices 
in liquid markets and therefore are classified as level 1.

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VI: Financial risk management
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D	 Capital management (including disclosures  
required by Swiss capital regulation)

D1	 Capital management framework
The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a 
broader concept than “equity” on the face of the statement 
of financial positions, are:
− 	  Comply with regulatory capital requirements defined 

in the Swiss Federal Law on Banks and Savings Banks, 
the Implementing Ordinance on Banks and Savings 
Banks, the Swiss Capital Adequacy Ordinance (CAO) 
and the FINMA circulars that it refers to;

− 	  Safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as going 
concern so that it can continue to provide returns 
to the shareholders and demonstrate its financial 
strength and creditworthiness to its business partners 
and clients;

− 	  Maintain a capital basis and capital ratios deemed ad-
equate to support the growth of its business activities 
and to absorb the stresses that the Group calculates 
annually using scenarios for credit, market and opera-
tional risks;

− 	  Anticipate future business and regulatory develop-
ments.

The Group and Swissquote Bank Ltd are both subject to the 
regulation of the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Au-
thority (FINMA). The capital levels of the Group are sub-

ject to quantitative and qualitative judgements by FINMA 
about the components of capital, risk weightings and other 
factors.

Within FINMA framework, Swiss Banks are classi-
fied in five supervisory categories according to their size 
and risk impact. The higher the category to which the bank 
belongs, the greater are its additional capital requirements 
and its required disclosures.

As at 31 December 2017, Swissquote Group is classi-
fied in the supervisory category 4 (category 1 being the one 
with the highest requirements). Banks included in supervi-
sory category 4 are obliged to hold 8.0% of total capital ra-
tio and an additional 3.2%, known as “capital conservation 
buffer” (total: 11.2%), as well as a variable “anti-cyclical 
buffer” (up to 2.5%). This “anti-cyclical buffer” has been 
activated, without impact for the Group since it is limited 
to mortgage loans business in Switzerland. Banks included 
in category 4 are not required, under conditions, to publish 
the exhaustive range of disclosures set in FINMA circulars 
(partial disclosure). 

The capital ratio of 10.5% is defined by FINMA as a 
ratio below which immediate and extensive actions would 
be taken under supervisory law. 

Under Basel III, a number of different approaches 
exist to calculate the capital adequacy requirements. The 
Swissquote Group and Swissquote Bank Ltd apply:

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Credit risk International Standard Approach – AS-BRI International Standard Approach – AS-BRI

Market risk Standardised Approach Standardised Approach

Operational risk Basic Indicator Approach Basic Indicator Approach

Other foreign subsidiaries of the Group are as well subject to locally applicable capital requirement regulations.
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D2	 Risk-weighted assets
The balance sheet positions, off-balance sheet expo-
sures and the size of business activities are translated into 
risk-weighted assets (“RWA”) that are categorised as mar-
ket, credit, operational and non-counterparty risk. 

Market risk reflects the capital requirements relating 
to potential changes in the fair values of financial instru-
ments in response to market movements inherent in both 
the balance sheet and the off-balance-sheet items. 

Credit risk reflects the capital requirements for the 
possibility of a loss incurred as the result of a counterparty 
failing to meet its obligations. 

Operational risk reflects the capital requirements for the 
risk of loss resulting from inadequate internal processes, 
people and systems or from external events. 

Non-counterparty risk reflects the capital require-
ments relating to premises and equipment.

Together, all these constraints create a link between 
the Group strategy, the risks that the business activities 
generate, the balance sheet and capital resources that are 
available.

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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Total risk-weighted assets are determined by multiplying the capital requirements by 12.5 (which is the reciprocal of the 
minimum capital ratio of 8.0% required by Basel III).

Risk-weighted assets Required capital

in CHF

31 December 2017 31 December 2016 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Credit risk:

Sovereign 14,626,500 33,727,200 1,170,120 2,698,176

Banks 139,223,500 162,691,771 11,137,880 13,015,342

Corporates 86,946,820 165,068,925 6,955,746 13,205,514

Other institutions 135,914,000 140,133,827 10,873,120 11,210,706

Others 116,892,180 64,871,717 9,351,374 5,189,737

Non-counterparty risk 106,510,254 104,641,438 8,520,820 8,371,315

Market risk 63,841,000 22,810,000 5,107,280 1,824,800

Operational risk 302,889,179 276,447,879 24,231,134 22,115,830

Total 966,843,433 970,392,757 77,347,474 77,631,420
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31 December 2017 31 December 2016

in CHF

Eligible capital

Ordinary shares 3,065,634 3,065,634

Share premium 35,299,313 42,585,616

Share option reserve 1,482,727 1,968,928

Other reserve (2,375,800) (1,510,450)

Treasury shares (29,318,059) (13,991,184)

Retained earnings 286,994,485 248,715,920

Subtotal 295,148,300 280,834,464

General adjustments

Intangible assets (40,288,690) (40,465,911)

Others (2,880,984) (2,803,654)

Total common equity tier 1 capital 251,978,626 237,564,899

Total tier 2 capital 194,730 –

Total eligible capital 252,173,356 237,564,899

Capital ratios Minimum requirements

31 December 
2017

31 December 
2016

Basel III minimum 
requirement

Capital conserva-
tion buffer

Total minimum  
requirement

Common equity tier 1 ratio (CET1) 26.1% 24.5% 4.5% 2.9% 7.4%

+ Additional tier 1 capital ratio (AT1) – – 1.5% 0.1% 1.6%

+ Tier 2 capital ratio (T2) – – 2.0% 0.2% 2.2%

Capital ratio (%) 26.1% 24.5% 8.0% 3.2% 11.2%

The Group as well as the applicable subsidiaries comply with the minimum capital requirements as at 31 December 2017 
and has done so at all times during 2017 and 2016.

Additional metrics requested by FINMA:
CET1 available to cover BSIII minimum capital after deduction of AT1 (1.5%) and T2 (2.0%) filled by CET 1 (26.1%): 22.6%
CET1 available to cover total minimum capital after deduction of AT1 (1.6%) and T2 (2.2%) filled by CET 1 (26.1%): 22.3%
Capital ratio available to meet CET1 and T1 capital targets after deduction of T2 minimum requirement (2.2%): 23.9%

Notes to the consolidated  
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D3	 Eligible capital and capital ratios
To determine the total eligible capital under Basel III, additional deductions are made in the form of general adjustments 
from the total equity calculated in accordance with IFRS. These items are deducted in full and in particular comprise of 
intangible assets (goodwill).
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D4 Leverage ratio
The FINMA Circular 2015/3 “Leverage ratio” clarifies the calculation of the leverage ratio as per guidelines set forth in the 
Basel III minimum standards.

D5	  Liquidity coverage ratio
The Liquidity Ordinance (LiqO), and the Circular FINMA 
15/2 “Liquidity Risks Banks” outline the qualitative and 
quantitative liquidity requirements for banks. The qualita-
tive part includes the definition of liquidity risk tolerance 
and strategy, the measurement of liquidity risks, stress 
testing and contingency funding planning. The require-
ments apply to all banks, but are tiered according to the 
scope of operations, complexity and general risk profile of 
its business activities. 

The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) comprises two compo-
nents: (1) the value of specifically defined high-quality liq-
uid assets in stressed conditions and (2) the total net cash 
outflows calculated according to parameters.

The FINMA Circular 2016/1 “Disclosure – banks” 
requires to publicly disclose the LCR on a quarterly basis, 
calculated based on the three months average of the LCR 
components.

Notes to the consolidated  
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31 December 2017 31 December 2016

in CHF thousand, except where indicated

Tier 1 capital 251,979 237,565

Total leverage ratio exposure 5,373,551 3,967,962

Leverage ratio (%) 4.7% 6.0%

Total leverage ratio exposure corresponds to total assets adjusted by tier 1 capital deductions and off-balance-sheet items.

Q1 2017 Q2 2017 Q3 2017 Q4 2017

in CHF thousand, except where indicated

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)

Cash outflows 682,139 846,082 888,038 1,008,287

Cash inflows (294,067) (369,269) (373,658) (348,033)

Net cash outflows 388,072 476,813 514,380 660,254

Total high-quality liquid assets (HQLA) 2,394,235 2,855,847 3,087,280 3,354,400

Liquidity coverage ratio (LCR in %) 617% 599% 600% 508%

During 2017, the LCR was mainly influenced by the mix of 
weightings to be applied to customer cash balances (due to 
customers and deposits from banks) when determining the 
cash outflows and the methodology applied to the deter-
mination of net cash outflows for foreign exchange swaps.

The structural liquidity ratio (Net Stable Funding Ra-
tio, hereafter “NSFR”) will be applied in Switzerland as a 
minimum requirement (minimum ratio: 100%) starting from 
1 January 2018. As at 31 December 2017, the NSFR ratio 
reported to Swiss National Bank was 366% (2016: 285%).

Complementing the short-term liquidity (LCR) and struc-
tural liquidity (NSFR) ratios, observation ratios form part 
of the new liquidity regulations set out in Basel III. Obser-
vation ratios are used as liquidity monitoring tools and con-
trary to the LCR and NSFR ratios, no minimum requirements 
apply to the various observation ratios. The first reporting 
was submitted in May 2017.
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E	 Compliance with depositor protection rules
The Swiss Federal Law on Banks and Savings Banks 
states that in the event of a bank collapsing, deposits 
up to CHF 100,000 per depositor will be treated as “pref-
erential debt”, thus taking priority over the claims of other 
creditors. This preferential status means that these “priv-
ileged deposits” will be paid out of the insolvent bank’s 
assets and will therefore take priority over claims by other 
(non-preferential) creditors. In order to secure these privi-
leged deposits, banks are required to hold 125% of total 
privileged deposits in adequate eligible assets. In Swit-
zerland, the Group (standalone basis) met those require-
ments as at 31 December 2017, with a coverage of 198% 
(31 December 2016: 163%).

F	 Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the possibility of a loss being in-
curred as the result of a borrower or counterparty failing 
to meet its financial obligations. In the event of a default, 
the Group could incur a loss equal to the amount owed by 
the debtor, less any recoveries resulting from foreclosure, 
liquidation of collateral or the restructuring of the debtor 
company.

Credit exposures arise principally in lending activities 
that lead to loans, and investing activities that bring debt 
securities and other bills to the Group’s asset portfolio. 

Credit risk management is a structured process to 
assess, monitor and manage risk on a constant basis. This 
requires careful consideration of proposed extensions of 
credit, the setting of specific limits, monitoring during the 
life of the exposure and standardised approach to recognis-
ing credit impairments.

F1	 Credit risk measurement
(I) Loans

Loans are principally in the form of:
− 	  Lombard loans and other margin loans (securities 

trading);
− 	  Leveraged forex credit lines;
− 	  Other loan receivables (public authorities).

These credit limits are principally used by clients for lever-
aging their securities trading or their leveraged forex op-
erations. The Group operates real-time mark-to-market 
trading platforms with customers’ accounts being simulta-
neously updated with individual profits and losses. Credit 
risk arises when client’s assets deposited with the Group 
are not sufficient to cover trading losses incurred.

Lombard loans and other margin loans: for Lombard loans, 
the maximum amount of margin (and hence of credit to a cli-
ent) is based on the aggregate margin determined on each 
item of the customer’s portfolio. The margin rate for secu-
rities is based on the type of security (mainly listed shares 
and bonds), and various other features such as liquidity, vol-
atility and external rating. The amount of maximum margin 
is remeasured at each transaction of the customer, and in 
case of inactivity of the client at several times per business 
day. Lombard loans are monitored using a real-time system 
comparing the fair value of the collateral with the actu-
al credit granted to each customer. Margin loans may be 
granted by the Group in the field of options and futures. 
Margin requirements are calculated for each customer 
throughout the trading day. Customers are alerted in their 
account when approaching margin breaches and if a cus-
tomer's equity falls below the required level, positions are 
liquidated to bring the account into margin compliance. By 
permitting customers to exercise leverage with option and 
future positions, the Group is subject to risks inherent in ex-
tending credit, especially during periods of rapidly declin-
ing markets in which the value of the collateral held could 
fall below the amount of a customer's indebtness.

Leveraged forex credit lines: open positions of clients 
are authorised to a maximum leverage of their equity (mar-
gin deposit adjusted by unrealised gains and losses). With 
the aim to ensure the financial losses do not exceed the 
credit line, the Group has set up a system for the automatic 
closing-out of open positions. The automatic system shall 
apply (in normal market conditions) as soon as the used 
margin of the open positions reaches the credit line by a 
specific percentage.

Other loan receivables (public authorities): in the ab-
sence of debt security, investing activities could be per-
formed in the form of a loan receivable, in particular to 
Swiss public authorities. The credit risk associated are limit-
ed through internal regulation and prescribed limits. Limits 
apply at a counterparty level. Compliance with prescribed 
limits is monitored at a counterparty level. Compliance with 
prescribed limits is monitored on an ongoing basis and also 
verified before the conclusion of each transaction.
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F1	 Credit risk measurement (continued)
(II) Due from banks

Due from banks comprises:
− 	  Interbank deposits;
− 	  Collateral deposits;
− 	  Receivables from banks.

Interbank deposits: these deposits are made in order to 
gain an interest margin on the assets deposited by clients at 
the Group in the form of current account or term deposits. 

Collateral deposits: these exposures result from 
amounts that are pledged in favour of third party financial 
institutions (such as stock exchanges) in order to secure the 
settlement of the transactions carried out by the Group’s 
clients. 

Receivables from banks: the Group also faces credit 
risk in the context of its white-label operations from third 
party banks which benefit from the trading venues of the 
Group. These exposures may be mitigated by collateral 
agreements (deposits recognised as deposits from banks) 
as well as other means. However, all credit exposure cannot 
be always totally eliminated on an intraday basis.

The limit for each counterparty – which absolute 
maximum is defined inter alia by reference to Group eligible 
capital (equity) in accordance with Swiss banking regulation 
(Capital Adequacy Ordinance in particular) – is based on a 
set of cumulative factors that include the external rating of 
the counterparty, the domicile of the counterparty and the 
duration of the financial instrument.

(III) Investment securities and treasury bills and 
other eligible bills

Investment securities comprise debt securities. Treasury 
bills and other eligible bills comprise of commercial papers 
and short-term debt instruments with a maturity below 12 
months. Internal regulations define the procedures for the 
approval, management and review of the Group’s exposure.

(IV) Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives contracts are entered into the normal course 
of business (clientele activity), as well as for assets and li-
abilities activities and for own risk management need, in-
cluding mitigation of interest rate, foreign exchange and 
credit risk. Derivatives are either privately negotiated OTC 
contracts or standard contracts transacted through regu-
lated exchanges. The replacement values correspond to the 
fair values. Positive replacement values constitute an asset, 
while negative replacement values a liability.

F2	 Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Group carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. 
The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes 
by setting limits on the amount of risk accepted in rela-
tion to a borrower, or groups of borrowers with respect 
to their credit rating, as well as the level of security mar-
gin required which depends on the types of securities and 
portfolio profiles.

Counterparty credit risks are monitored on a revolving 
basis and are subject to a monthly or more frequent review. 

The exposure to any borrower including banks and 
brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- and 
off-balance sheet exposures. Actual exposures against lim-
its are monitored daily. Exposure to credit risk is managed 
through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and po-
tential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment 
obligations and by changing these lending limits where ap-
propriate.

To avoid credit risk concentrations, the Group estab-
lishes limits and controls that constrain risk concentrations 
with regard to sector and country exposure.
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F3	  Impairment and provisioning policies
Impairment provisions are provided for losses that have 
been incurred at the balance sheet date based on objective 
evidence.

Objective evidence of impairment is principally based on:
− 	  Downgrading;
− 	  Delinquency in the contractual payment of principal 

or interest;
− 	  Breach of loan covenants and conditions;
− 	  Initiation of bankruptcy proceeding.

The Group reviews individual financial assets that are above 
materiality thresholds at least monthly or more regularly if 
necessary. Impairment allowances on individual assessed 
accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred 
loss at the balance sheet date on a case-by-case basis, and 
are applied to all significant accounts. The assessment nor-
mally encompasses collaterals held (including re-confirma-
tion of its enforceability) and the anticipated receipts for 
that individual account.

2017 2016

in CHF

Collateral at fair value to support loans 950,047,129 698,293,642

Cash deposits to support derivative financial instruments 328,879,809 226,090,181

Total as at 31 December 1,278,926,938 924,383,823
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F4	 Maximum exposure to credit risk (excluding collateral held or credit enhancement)

Maximum exposure

2017 2016

in CHF

Credit risk exposure relating to on-balance sheet assets are as follows:

Cash and balances with central bank 3,517,110,596 2,284,650,001

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 259,850,000 277,554,556

Due from banks 425,399,549 398,214,374

Derivative financial instruments 72,390,700 41,516,556

Loans 278,589,147 226,350,929

Investment securities 384,884,309 554,524,886

Others (trading assets and other assets) 29,468,402 37,315,841

Total credit exposure on financial assets (A) 4,967,692,703 3,820,127,143

Non-financial assets (no counterparty exposure) 148,096,564 146,133,349

Total assets as at 31 December 5,115,789,267 3,966,260,492

Credit risk exposure relating to off-balance sheet assets are as follows:

Operating lease commitments 10,722,586 3,515,240

Loan commitments (depositor protection contribution – Art. 37H BA) 26,030,000 24,936,000

Total credit exposure off-balance sheet (B) 36,752,586 28,451,240

Total credit exposure (A) + (B) as at 31 December 5,004,445,289 3,848,578,383

As at 31 December 2017, 70.3% of total credit exposure is related to Swiss National Bank (2016: 59.4%).
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F5	 Due from banks and loans

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Loans Due from banks Loans Due from banks

in CHF

Neither past due nor impaired 276,256,198 425,399,549 222,890,130 398,214,374

Past due but not impaired 2,332,949 – 3,460,799 –

Impaired 19,477,182 418,339 19,001,387 437,248

Gross balance 298,066,329 425,817,888 245,352,316 398,651,622

Impairment allowance (19,477,182) (418,339) (19,001,387) (437,248)

Net balance 278,589,147 425,399,549 226,350,929 398,214,374

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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Loans are spread over 19,339 distinct customers (2016: 
15,612), 76.4% of them are domiciled in Switzerland 
(2016: 79.3%). The largest balance as at 31 December 2017 
is CHF 15,605,416 (2016: CHF 10,831,620).

Due from banks are spread over 40 distinct counter-
parties (2016: 31). The largest balance as at 31 Decem-
ber 2017 is related to cash collateral pledged in favour 
of EUREX Exchange (leading derivatives exchange) and 
amounts CHF 81,401,217 (2016: CHF 50,858,375).
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F5	 Due from banks and loans (continued)
Due from banks are further analysed as follows (based on contractual maturity):
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in CHF External rating Sight 0–3 months 3–12 months Gross amount

Investment grade From AAA to AA- 142,880,111 10,000,000 – 152,880,111

From A+ to A- 122,089,606 – 5,359,550 127,449,156

From BBB+ to 
BBB- 66,318,804 – 5,000,000 71,318,804

Speculative grade From BB+ to BB- 2,138,004 – – 2,138,004

From B+ to B- 867,092 – – 867,092

From CCC+ to 
CCC- – – – –

From CC+ to C- – – – –

Other Unrated 2,658,607 30,719,100 10,183,500 43,561,207

Total as at 31 December 2016 336,952,224 40,719,100 20,543,050 398,214,374

Unrated counterparties mainly relate to banks domiciled in Switzerland (2017: CHF 21.1 million; 2016: CHF 41.5 million).

No credit limits were exceeded during 2017 and 2016. 

At year-end, up to CHF 230.8 million (2016: CHF 166.5 million) of the exposure is explained by amounts pledged in favour 
of third parties mainly in order to secure the settlement of client transactions (collateral deposits).

in CHF External rating Sight 0–3 months 3–12 months Gross amount

Investment grade From AAA to AA- 150,444,639 17,538,450 10,000,000 177,983,089

From A+ to A- 145,750,463 10,000,000 – 155,750,463

From BBB+ to 
BBB- 57,438,517 – – 57,438,517

Speculative grade From BB+ to BB- 2,552,809 – – 2,552,809

From B+ to B- – – – –

From CCC+ to 
CCC- – – – –

From CC+ to C- – – – –

Other Unrated 11,674,671 20,000,000 – 31,674,671

Total as at 31 December 2017 367,861,099 47,538,450 10,000,000 425,399,549
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F6	 Investment securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills
Investment securities (CHF 384.9 million), treasury bills and other eligible bills (CHF 259.9 million) are analysed as follows:

As at 31 December 2017, the balance of CHF 11.1 million 
identified as speculative grade mainly consists of bonds is-
sued by European sovereign governments (CHF 3.8 million), 
European corporates (CHF 1.2 million), European banks 
(CHF 1.5 million) and South African government (CHF 4.6 
million). The balance identified as unrated mainly consists 
of loans to Swiss municipalities (CHF 169.4 million) which 

are classified as treasury bills and other elligible bills when 
the maturity is below 12 months.

None of the above investment securities and treasury 
bills and other eligible bills are past due or impaired.

As at 31 December 2017, no investment securities are 
pledged in favour of third parties in connection with repo 
transactions (2016: none).

in CHF External rating Less than 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years Over 5 years Gross amount

Investment grade
From AAA to 
AA- 112,903,446 68,472,088 – 22,427,383 203,802,917

From A+ to A- 112,301,708 33,556,241 3,966,029 – 149,823,978

From BBB+ to 
BBB- 71,333,146 33,446,179 1,727,230 – 106,506,555

Speculative grade
From BB+ to 
BB- 2,435,083 8,647,897 – – 11,082,980

From B+ to B- – – – – –

From CCC+ to 
CCC- – – – – –

From CC+ 
to C- – – – – –

Other Unrated 170,500,821 – – 3,017,058 173,517,879

Total as at 31 December 2017 469,474,204 144,122,405 5,693,259 25,444,441 644,734,309

Cash and balances with central bank 3,517,110,596

Other assets than cash and balances with central bank, investment 
securities and treasury bills and other eligible bills 953,944,362

Total assets as at 31 December 2017 5,115,789,267

in CHF External rating Less than 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years Over 5 years Gross amount

Investment grade
From AAA to 
AA- 58,778,485 88,512,993 31,221,159 26,190,896 204,703,533

From A+ to A- 51,293,569 77,217,075 4,254,309 – 132,764,953

From BBB+ to 
BBB- 96,726,084 84,123,440 2,754,465 112,675 183,716,664

Speculative grade
From BB+ to 
BB- 38,551,449 5,064,724 5,196 – 43,621,369

From B+ to B- – – – – –

From CCC+ to 
CCC- – – – – –

From CC+ 
to C- – – – – –

Other Unrated 266,165,822 1,107,101 – – 267,272,923

Total as at 31 December 2016 511,515,409 256,025,333 38,235,129 26,303,571 832,079,442

Cash and balances with central bank 2,284,650,001

Other assets than cash and balances with central bank, investment 
securities and treasury bills and other eligible bills 849,531,049

Total assets as at 31 December 2016 3,966,260,492

None of the above investment securities and treasury bills and other eligible bills are past due or impaired.

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VI: Financial risk management
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F7	 Geographical concentration of financial assets
The Group has credit exposures outside Switzerland:
− 	  Through its deposits with financial institutions domi-

ciled outside Switzerland (due from banks);
− 	  Through debt instruments issued by foreign corpora-

tions, financial institutions and governments (invest-
ment securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills 
and other assets);

− 	  To clients domiciled outside of Switzerland to whom 
the Group has granted credit facilities such as Lom-
bard loans (loans as well as derivative financial instru-
ments).

The geographical distribution based on the domicile of the counterparties is analysed below:

Switzerland Europe North America
Middle East  

& Asia Others Total

in CHF

Cash and balances with central bank 3,517,110,596 – – – – 3,517,110,596

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 259,850,000 – – – – 259,850,000

Due from banks 144,269,904 230,320,353 43,160,776 7,648,516 425,399,549

Derivative financial instruments 11,427,041 19,371,915 1,644,792 39,178,145 768,807 72,390,700

Trading assets 8,251,045 – – – – 8,251,045

Loans 220,469,068 23,160,886 2,777,266 29,387,281 2,794,646 278,589,147

Investment securities 69,724,482 148,228,905 102,855,642 46,985,801 17,089,479 384,884,309

Other assets 18,815,813 1,343,590 627,301 349,958 80,695 21,217,357

Total financial assets as at 
31 December 2017 4,249,917,949 422,425,649 151,065,777 123,549,701 20,733,627 4,967,692,703

Switzerland Europe North America
Middle East  

& Asia Others Total

in CHF

Cash and balances with central bank 2,284,650,001 – – – – 2,284,650,001

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 258,790,000 13,424,875 5,339,681 – – 277,554,556

Due from banks 183,278,183 152,066,430 57,237,264 5,632,497 – 398,214,374

Derivative financial instruments 9,641,355 12,151,587 1,059,381 18,129,746 534,487 41,516,556

Trading assets 6,942,709 – – – – 6,942,709

Loans 182,755,399 21,955,680 1,832,087 15,431,185 4,376,578 226,350,929

Investment securities 97,455,331 240,664,497 133,000,962 56,872,204 26,531,892 554,524,886

Other assets 25,906,452 3,134,347 903,255 299,754 129,324 30,373,132

Total financial assets as at 
31 December 2016 3,049,419,430 443,397,416 199,372,630 96,365,386 31,572,281 3,820,127,143

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VI: Financial risk management
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F8	 Industry sector concentration of assets 
The industry sector concentration is analysed below:

Cash and trea-
sury bills

Derivative finan-
cial instruments

Due from banks 
and loans

Investment 
securities

Total at
31 December 

2017

Total at
31 December 

2016

in CHF

Banks – 3,899,420 425,399,549 180,144,058 609,443,027 642,970,295

Central Banks 3,517,110,596 – – – 3,517,110,596 2,284,650,001

Sovereign and municipalities 259,850,000 – 27,540,000 98,239,220 385,629,220 391,004,952

Subtotal 3,776,960,596 3,899,420 452,939,549 278,383,278 4,512,182,843 3,318,625,248

Automobiles & parts – – – 9,500,921 9,500,921 26,746,647

Basic resources – – – 1,680,896 1,680,896 2,954,401

Chemicals – – – 6,531,907 6,531,907 8,580,826

Constructions & materials – – – 362,344 362,344 3,686,822

Food & beverages – – – 6,555,938 6,555,938 21,380,301

Health care – – – 8,278,954 8,278,954 12,648,645

Individuals – 68,491,280 251,049,147 – 319,540,427 258,629,112

Industrials goods – – – 15,468,468 15,468,468 30,245,021

Insurance – – – 1,406,556 1,406,556 3,531,049

Media – – – 1,189,621 1,189,621 2,241,835

Oil & gas – – – 13,681,039 13,681,039 16,805,414

Private households – – – 8,766,321 8,766,321 8,030,569

Retail – – – – – 3,657,644

Supranational – – – 9,888,809 9,888,809 9,846,964

Technology – – – 588,240 588,240 4,379,326

Telecommunications – – – 11,063,094 11,063,094 30,632,927

Travel & leisure – – – – – 869,405

Utilities – – – 11,537,923 11,537,923 19,319,146

Subtotal – 68,491,280 251,049,147 106,501,031 426,041,458 464,186,054

Other assets with no industry sector 
concentration 177,564,966 183,449,190

Total assets 5,115,789,267 3,966,260,492

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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F9	 Offsetting
Offsetting and related rights to set off are risk management tools that the Group use among others to reduce counterparty 
credit risk. The following table presents the recognised financial instruments that are subject to enforceable master 
netting agreements or other similar agreements but not offset.

Gross amounts of  
recognised financial 

assets
Presented in statement 

of financial positions

Related amounts not 
set off in statement of 

financial positions Net credit exposure

in CHF

Derivative financial instruments (assets)

Foreign exchange swaps 3,124,688 3,124,688 – 3,124,688

Currency options 29,672 29,672 – 29,672

Interest rate futures 3,958 3,958 – 3,958

Currency forwards, precious-metals 
forwards and CFD derivatives 69,232,382 69,232,382 328,879,809 –

Balance as at 31 December 2017 72,390,700 72,390,700 328,879,809 3,158,318

Foreign exchange swaps 1,804,507 1,804,507 – 1,804,507

Currency options 61,877 61,877 – 61,877

Interest rate futures 1,554 1,554 – 1,554

Currency forwards, precious-metals 
forwards and CFD derivatives 39,648,618 39,648,618 226,090,181 –

Balance as at 31 December 2016 41,516,556 41,516,556 226,090,181 1,867,938

Gross amounts of recognised financial liabilities Presented in statement of financial positions

in CHF

Derivative financial instruments (liabilities)

Foreign exchange swaps 12,182,517 12,182,517

Currency options 29,672 29,672

Interest rate futures – –

Currency forwards, precious-metals 
forwards and CFD derivatives 11,898,988 11,898,988

Balance as at 31 December 2017 24,111,177 24,111,177

Foreign exchange swaps 3,920,689 3,920,689

Currency options 61,877 61,877

Interest rate futures 3,405 3,405

Currency forwards, precious-metals 
forwards and CFD derivatives 8,737,651 8,737,651

Balance as at 31 December 2016 12,723,622 12,723,622

Currency forwards, precious-metals forwards and CFD derivatives recognised as derivative financial instruments corre-
spond to open positions from leveraged forex (eForex) clients that are authorised to trade with a maximum leverage of their 
equity (margin deposit being recognised in due to customers).

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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G	 Liquidity risk
Liquidity is the ability of the Group to fund increases in as-
sets and meet obligations as they come due, without in-
curring unacceptable losses. The fundamental role of banks 
in the maturity transformation of short-term deposits into 
medium- and long-term loans makes banks inherently vul-
nerable to liquidity risk.

G1	 Liquidity risk management process
Liquidity and funding policy is designed to ensure that 
funding is available to meet all obligations in times of stress, 
whether caused by market events or issues specific to the 
Group. The objective of the Group’s liquidity risk manage-
ment is achieved through a conservative asset and liability 
management strategy, which comprises of:

− 	  The maturity analysis of current investments in order 
to ensure the regular stream of expiries;

− 	  The measurement of known and unknown cash flows;
− 	  Measures ensuring ability to borrow funds through 

various instruments.

G2	 Non-derivative cash flows
The table below presents the balances payable by the 
Group under non-derivative financial liabilities by remain-
ing contractual maturities at the balance sheet date. The 
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undis-
counted cash flows.

Up to 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

in CHF

As at 31 December 2017

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Deposits from banks 170,984,155 – – – – 170,984,155

Due to customers 4,565,243,720 – 802,727 336,990 – 4,566,383,437

Other liabilities 50,280,159 – – – – 50,280,159

Current income tax liabilities 5,310,652 – – – – 5,310,652

Total non-derivative financial 
liabilities (contractual maturity 
dates) – (A) 4,791,818,686 – 802,727 336,990 – 4,792,958,403

Derivative financial instruments 24,111,177

Non financial liabilities 3,571,387

Total liabilities 4,820,640,967

Commitments (B) – – 28,040,933 5,111,893 3,599,760 36,752,586

Total maturity grouping (A) + (B) 4,791,818,686 – 28,843,660 5,448,883 3,599,760 4,829,710,989

Total non-derivative financial assets 
(expected maturity dates) (4,312,226,259) (114,114,146) (267,459,113) (177,355,664) (25,444,441) (4,896,599,623)

Net balance 479,592,427 (114,114,146) (238,615,453) (171,906,781) (21,844,681) (66,888,634)

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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G2 	 Non-derivative cash flows (continued)

Up to 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

in CHF

As at 31 December 2016

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Deposits from banks 32,804,479 – – – – 32,804,479

Due to customers 3,600,244,732 – – – – 3,600,244,732

Other liabilities 35,732,333 – – – – 35,732,333

Current income tax liabilities 379,204 – – – – 379,204

Total non-derivative financial 
liabilities (contractual maturity 
dates) – (A) 3,669,160,748 – – – – 3,669,160,748

Derivative financial instruments 12,723,622

Non financial liabilities 3,541,658

Total liabilities 3,685,426,028

Commitments (B) – – 26,781,797 1,669,443 – 28,451,240

Total maturity grouping (A) + (B) 3,669,160,748 – 26,781,797 1,669,443 – 3,697,611,988

Total non-derivative financial assets 
(expected maturity dates) (3,023,980,407) (159,700,947) (269,391,200) (300,484,631) (26,079,402) (3,779,636,587)

Net balance 645,180,341 (159,700,947) (242,609,403) (298,815,188) (26,079,402) (82,024,599)

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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G3	 Derivative cash flows
Derivatives held are settled on a net basis and are disclosed on a fair value basis.

Up to 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

in CHF

As at 31 December 2017

Assets

Derivatives held for trading

Foreign exchange swaps 2,355,152 522,905 246,631 – – 3,124,688

Currency options 11,063 1,082 17,527 – – 29,672

Currency forwards 47,355,660 1,273,811 273,328 22,790 – 48,925,589

Precious-metals forwards 16,334,341 – – – – 16,334,341

CFD derivatives 3,972,452 – – – – 3,972,452

Derivatives held for hedging

Interest rate futures – – – – 3,958 3,958

Total 70,028,668 1,797,798 537,486 22,790 3,958 72,390,700

Liabilities

Derivatives held for trading

Foreign exchange swaps 5,213,447 6,957,284 11,786 – – 12,182,517

Currency options 11,063 1,082 17,527 – – 29,672

Currency forwards 7,540,449 1,134,068 482,660 22,335 – 9,179,512

Precious-metals forwards 2,097,709 – – – – 2,097,709

CFD derivatives 621,767 – – – – 621,767

Derivatives held for hedging

Interest rate futures – – – – – –

Total 15,484,435 8,092,434 511,973 22,335 – 24,111,177

Currency forwards, precious-metals forwards and CFD derivatives (indices and commodities) are mainly related to open 
transactions of leveraged forex (eForex) clientele as at 31 December 2017. Those transactions have to be classified in cat-
egory “up to 1 month”.

Notes to the consolidated  
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G3	 Derivative cash flows (continued)
Derivatives held are settled on a net basis and are disclosed on a fair value basis.

Up to 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

in CHF

As at 31 December 2016

Assets

Derivatives held for trading

Foreign exchange swaps 1,373,288 60,733 358,214 12,272 – 1,804,507

Currency options 25,119 1,634 35,124 – – 61,877

Currency forwards 28,532,428 383,312 580,928 23,476 – 29,520,144

Precious-metals forwards 7,069,525 – – – – 7,069,525

CFD derivatives 3,058,949 – – – – 3,058,949

Derivatives held for hedging

Interest rate futures – – – – 1,554 1,554

Total 40,059,309 445,679 974,266 35,748 1,554 41,516,556

Liabilities

Derivatives held for trading

Foreign exchange swaps 3,305,765 297,180 317,744 – – 3,920,689

Currency options 25,119 1,634 35,124 – – 61,877

Currency forwards 6,671,675 368,364 595,077 34,289 – 7,669,405

Precious-metals forwards 802,994 – – – – 802,994

CFD derivatives 265,252 – – – – 265,252

Derivatives held for hedging

Interest rate futures – – – 2,355 1,050 3,405

Total 11,070,805 667,178 947,945 36,644 1,050 12,723,622

Currency forwards, precious-metals forwards and CFD derivatives (indices and commodities) are mainly related to open 
transactions of leveraged forex (eForex) clientele as at 31 December 2016. Those transactions have to be classified in 
category “up to 1 month”.

Notes to the consolidated  
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G4	 Off-balance sheet cash flows
The table below summarises the future cash outflow commitments as at 31 December:

No later than 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

in CHF

As at 31 December 2017

Loan commitments 26,030,000 – – 26,030,000

Operating lease commitments 2,010,933 5,111,893 3,599,760 10,722,586

Total 28,040,933 5,111,893 3,599,760 36,752,586

As at 31 December 2016

Loan commitments 24,936,000 – – 24,936,000

Operating lease commitments 1,845,797 1,669,443 – 3,515,240

Total 26,781,797 1,669,443 – 28,451,240

Loan commitments are related to the payment obligation to the client deposit protection scheme (art. 37H Banking Act).

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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H	 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that fair values or future cash flows 
of financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes 
in market conditions. The Group does not enter into pro-
prietary trading positions based on expectations of future 
market improvements.

In the context of its activities, market risks arise from 
open positions in interest rates, currency and equity prod-
ucts, all of which are exposed to general and specific mar-
ket movements as well as changes in the level of volatility 
of market rates or prices such as:
− 	  Foreign exchange risk;
− 	  Interest rate risk;
− 	  Equity market risk;
− 	  Issuer credit risk;
−	 Market liquidity risk.

Single transactions may also be exposed to a number of dif-
ferent market risks.

The Group devotes significant resources to ensure 
that market risks are comprehensively captured, accurately 
modelled and reported and effectively managed. Trading 
and non-trading portfolios are managed at various organ-
isational levels. The Group uses market risk measurement 
and management methods designed to meet or exceed in-
dustry standards.

H1	 Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to two main sources of foreign ex-
change risk.

Transactional foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk represents exposures to changes in 
the value of current holdings and future cash flows denom-
inated in other currencies. The types of instruments ex-
posed to this risk include for example foreign investments, 
foreign currency denominated loans and future cash flows 
in foreign currencies. The Board sets limits on the level of 
exposure by currency and in aggregate which are moni-
tored daily.

Leveraged forex (eForex) business
Foreign exchange risk arises from leveraged forex activities 
and clients trading foreign currencies and foreign designat-
ed securities.

The Group predominantly operates an agency model 
to execute client trades as it is considered as fundamental 
in the core business model philosophy. However, all client 
exposures are not immediately hedged and the Group may 
have a residual net position in any of the foreign currency 
pairs in which the Group offers leveraged forex. The Group 
has set up foreign exchange limits with the aim to optimise 
the efficiency of the operations and does not take own 
positions outside this scope. These limits are defined with 
reference to the expected volatility and liquidity of the cor-
responding foreign currency pairs. The real-time systems 
target to maximise the level of internal hedging arising from 
the client base (internalisation of the transaction flow) and 
monitor the foreign exchange exposure against the defined 
limits. If exposure exceeds these limits, hedging is under-
taken to adjust the exposure within the limit. 

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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H1	 Foreign exchange risk (continued)
The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk as at 31 December. Included in the table are the 
Group’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.

CHF USD EUR Others Total

in CHF

As at 31 December 2017

Assets

Cash and balances with central bank 3,517,030,774 33,061 30,741 16,020 3,517,110,596

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 259,850,000 – – – 259,850,000

Due from banks 327,344,051 4,181,766 43,629,544 50,244,188 425,399,549

Derivative financial instruments 7,468,871 44,182,898 1,014,238 19,724,693 72,390,700

Trading assets 858,959 247,987 7,144,099 – 8,251,045

Loans 126,657,211 57,630,275 88,284,275 6,017,386 278,589,147

Investment securities 83,947,445 214,024,843 86,552,719 359,302 384,884,309

Other assets 12,522,758 4,059,459 1,109,942 3,525,198 21,217,357

Total financial assets 4,335,680,069 324,360,289 227,765,558 79,886,787 4,967,692,703

Liabilities

Deposits from banks 15,370,849 52,508,494 86,777,836 16,326,976 170,984,155

Derivative financial instruments 15,552,671 6,525,405 111,038 1,922,063 24,111,177

Due to customers 2,303,897,603 1,083,412,534 978,450,738 200,622,562 4,566,383,437

Other liabilities 44,893,617 2,550,427 592,059 2,244,056 50,280,159

Current income tax liabilities 5,310,652 – – – 5,310,652

Total financial liabilities 2,385,025,392 1,144,996,860 1,065,931,671 221,115,657 4,817,069,580

Net on-balance sheet financial position 1,950,654,677 (820,636,571) (838,166,113) (141,228,870) 150,623,123

Off-balance sheet notional position and 
credit commitments (1,763,603,353) 819,818,591 838,715,585 141,821,763 36,752,586

Net exposure 187,051,324 (817,980) 549,472 592,893 187,375,709
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H1	 Foreign exchange risk (continued)
The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk as at 31 December. Included in the table are the 
Group’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.

CHF USD EUR Others Total

in CHF

As at 31 December 2016

Assets

Cash and balances with central bank 2,284,605,363 10,432 27,537 6,669 2,284,650,001

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 258,790,000 – 18,764,556 – 277,554,556

Due from banks 249,763,432 12,380,321 91,627,945 44,442,676 398,214,374

Derivative financial instruments 5,471,145 23,900,986 1,611,550 10,532,875 41,516,556

Trading assets 728,784 183,094 6,030,831 – 6,942,709

Loans 109,862,146 45,240,654 64,623,687 6,624,442 226,350,929

Investment securities 119,288,913 284,264,480 150,330,388 641,105 554,524,886

Other assets 24,125,174 2,811,327 2,797,340 639,291 30,373,132

Total financial assets 3,052,634,957 368,791,294 335,813,834 62,887,058 3,820,127,143

Liabilities

Deposits from banks 7,410,857 8,508,520 12,506,504 4,378,598 32,804,479

Derivative financial instruments 6,329,669 4,334,200 59,259 2,000,494 12,723,622

Due to customers 1,936,302,691 763,540,563 746,619,813 153,781,665 3,600,244,732

Other liabilities 32,914,386 1,045,353 325,842 1,446,752 35,732,333

Current income tax liabilities 349,008 – – 30,196 379,204

Total financial liabilities 1,983,306,611 777,428,636 759,511,418 161,637,705 3,681,884,370

Net on-balance sheet financial position 1,069,328,346 (408,637,342) (423,697,584) (98,750,647) 138,242,773

Off-balance sheet notional position and 
credit commitments (903,748,635) 410,095,681 425,210,809 96,893,385 (28,451,240)

Net exposure 165,579,711 1,458,339 1,513,225 (1,857,262) 166,694,013

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VI: Financial risk management



Annual Report 2017    Financial Report 67

H2	 Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash 
flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate 
risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The 
Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in 
the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair 

value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as 
a result of such changes but may reduce or create losses in 
the event that unexpected movements arise.

The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to 
interest rate risks. Included in the table are the Group’s as-
sets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the 
earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

Up to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years
Non-interest-

bearing Total

in CHF

As at 31 December 2017

Assets

Cash and balances with central bank 3,517,110,596 – – – – 3,517,110,596

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 165,650,000 94,200,000 – – – 259,850,000

Due from banks 415,399,549 10,000,000 – – – 425,399,549

Derivative financial instruments 71,826,466 537,486 22,790 3,958 – 72,390,700

Trading assets – – – – 8,251,045 8,251,045

Loans 251,049,147 – 27,540,000 – – 278,589,147

Investment securities 165,470,033 114,943,739 79,026,096 25,444,441 – 384,884,309

Other assets 19,891,869 1,325,488 – – – 21,217,357

Total financial assets 4,606,397,660 221,006,713 106,588,886 25,448,399 8,251,045 4,967,692,703

Liabilities

Deposits from banks 170,984,155 – – – – 170,984,155

Derivative financial instruments 23,576,869 511,973 22,335 – – 24,111,177

Due to customers 4,565,243,720 802,727 336,990 – – 4,566,383,437

Other liabilities 50,280,159 – – – – 50,280,159

Current income tax liabilities 5,310,652 – – – – 5,310,652

Total financial liabilities 4,815,395,555 1,314,700 359,325 – – 4,817,069,580

Net on-balance sheet (208,997,895) 219,692,013 106,229,561 25,448,399 8,251,045 150,623,123

Off-balance sheet – – – – – –

Net exposure (208,997,895) 219,692,013 106,229,561 25,448,399 8,251,045 150,623,123

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VI: Financial risk management
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H2	 Interest rate risk (continued)
The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the Group’s assets and 
liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

Up to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years
Non-interest-

bearing Total

in CHF

As at 31 December 2016

Assets

Cash and balances with 
central bank 2,284,650,001 – – – – 2,284,650,001

Treasury bills and other 
eligible bills 160,284,606 117,269,950 – – – 277,554,556

Due from banks 377,671,324 20,543,050 – – – 398,214,374

Derivative financial 
instruments 40,504,988 974,266 35,748 1,554 – 41,516,556

Trading assets – – – – 6,942,709 6,942,709

Loans 220,350,929 – 6,000,000 – – 226,350,929

Investment securities 250,791,724 131,733,075 145,920,685 26,079,402 – 554,524,886

Other assets 26,166,544 1,748,100 1,761,011 697,477 – 30,373,132

Total financial assets 3,360,420,116 272,268,441 153,717,444 26,778,433 6,942,709 3,820,127,143

Liabilities

Deposits from banks 32,804,479 – – – – 32,804,479

Derivative financial 
instruments 11,737,983 947,945 36,644 1,050 – 12,723,622

Due to customers 3,600,244,732 – – – – 3,600,244,732

Other liabilities 35,732,333 – – – – 35,732,333

Current income tax 
liabilities 379,204 – – – – 379,204

Total financial liabilities 3,680,898,731 947,945 36,644 1,050 – 3,681,884,370

Net on-balance sheet (320,478,615) 271,320,496 153,680,800 26,777,383 6,942,709 138,242,773

Off-balance sheet – – – – – –

Net exposure (320,478,615) 271,320,496 153,680,800 26,777,383 6,942,709 138,242,773

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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H3	 Sensitivity analysis on foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate risk

a	 Analysis of sensitivity to foreign exchange risk
A sensitivity analysis has been performed on the basis of a 5.0% variation of CHF currency against all others as this is con-
sidered as reasonably possible.

Sensitivity analysis
(cumulated impact)¹

	 + 5% EUR
	 + 5% USD
	 + 5% others

	 – 5% EUR
	 – 5% USD
	 – 5% others

in CHF thousand

As at 31 December 2017 Carrying amount Profit/(loss)
Other movements 

in equity Profit/(loss)
Other movements 

in equity

Financial assets

Cash and balances with central bank 3,517,111 4 – (4) –

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 259,850 – – – –

Due from banks 425,400 4,903 – (4,903) –

Loans 278,589 7,597 – (7,597) –

Investment securities 384,884 15,047 – (15,047) –

Other (derivatives, trading assets and 
other assets) 101,859 4,051 – (4,051) –

Total impact on financial assets 31,602 – (31,602) –

Financial liabilities

Deposits from banks 170,984 (7,781) – 7,781 –

Due to customers 4,566,383 (113,124) – 113,124 –

Others (derivatives and other liabilities) 74,391 (697) – 697 –

Total impact on financial liabilities (121,602) – 121,602 –

Total impact on-balance sheet positions (90,000) – 90,000 –

Impact on off-balance-sheet positions 90,018 – (90,018) –

Net impact before income tax expense 18 – (18) –

Income tax expense (3) – 3 –

Net impact after income tax expense 15 – (15) –

31 December 2016 121 – (121) –

¹ without cumulating the impact of the sensitivity analysis, the maximum net impact after income tax expense will not exceed CHF 0.1m for any of the currencies 
(2016: CHF 0.1m).

The sensitivity analysis assumes normal market conditions in particular with regard to liquidity, which may affect execution 
prices.

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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H3	 Sensitivity analysis on foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate risk (continued)

b	 Analysis of sensitivity to interest rate risk
An interest rate risk sensitivity analysis has been performed on the basis of 1.0% variation in interest rate (100 basis points) 
as this is considered as reasonably possible and it is in accordance with the reporting of the interest rate risk prescribed 
by FINMA circular 2008/6. The analysis includes the impacts of variation in profitability (interest income) for the assumed 
change in interest rates as well as the fluctuations in the net present value of positions brought about by interest rates. 

The results of the sensitivity analysis may be dependent on the negative interest environment and related decisions made 
by the Group with regard to their repercussion on client accounts conditions.

H4	 Equity market risk
Equity market risk arises from trading assets, investment 
securities (FVTPL) and contract-for-differences (derivative 
financial instruments) offered to clients. 

Trading assets are mainly related to units in invest-
ment funds that are invested in stocks included in major 
stock exchange indices (Swiss Performance Index and DJ 
Euro Stoxx).

Contract-for-differences (derivative financial instruments) 
are based on underlying stock indices on world stock mar-
kets. As not all of these products can be processed on 
agency model trades, the Group uses future contracts to 
hedge CFD positions on a net basis.

Sensitivity analysis

+ 100 basis points – 100 basis points

in CHF thousand

As at 31 December 2017 Carrying amount
Income statement

(profitability effect)
Equity (net present 

value effect)
Income statement

(profitability effect)
Equity (net present 

value effect)

Financial assets

Cash and balances with central bank 3,517,111 19,269 – (25,692) –

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 259,850 2,624 – (3,499) –

Due from banks 425,400 4,425 – (2,575) –

Loans 278,589 1,378 – (604) –

Investment securities 384,884 969 (1,055) (1,029) 1,076

Total impact on financial assets 28,665 (1,055) (33,399) 1,076

Financial liabilities

Deposits from banks 170,984 (98) – – –

Due to customers 4,566,383 (7,667) – 934 –

Total impact on financial liabilities (7,765) – 934 –

Net impact before income tax expense 20,900 (1,055) (32,465) 1,076

Income tax expense (3,762) – 5,844 –

Net impact after income tax expense 17,138 (1,055) (26,621) 1,076

31 December 2016 10,625 (2,122) (25,460) 2,173

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VI: Financial risk management
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H5	 Issuer credit risk
Issuer credit risk represents exposure to changes in the 
creditworthiness of individual issuers or groups of issuers. 
The Group investment securities portfolio is exposed to is-
suer credit risk where the value of an asset may be adversely 
impacted by changes in the levels of credit spreads.

H6	 Market liquidity risk
Market liquidity risk represents the risk that the level of ex-
pected market activity changes dramatically and, in certain 
cases, may even cease to exist. This situation resulting in 
the inability for a market participant to liquidate a position 
in a timely manner at a reasonable price. The effects of mar-
ket liquidity risk can result into a price impact of trading 
activity (bid-ask spreads) and/or a postponed trading exe-
cution. This exposes the Group to the risk that it will not be 
able to transact business and execute trades in an orderly 
manner which may impact the results and/or client account 
balances. This impact could be exacerbated if expected 
hedging, pricing correlations or risk management systems 
are compromised by the disproportionate demand or lack 
of demand for certain instruments.

I	 Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate 
or failed internal processes, people, systems, or from ex-
ternal events, including cyber risk and data confidentiality.

Operational risk is an inevitable consequence of being 
in business and managing this risk is a core element of the 
Group activities, implemented through a conceptual frame-
work and an effective risk function. In September 2016, 
FINMA issued the Circular 2017/1 on corporate gover-
nance, risk management and internal controls at banks. The 
circular sets out the duties and responsibilities and defines 
requirements for the design of a relevant risk management 
framework and an internal control framework. At the same 
time, FINMA introduced new principles on IT and cyber 
risks in the Circular 2008/21 on operational risk.

Operational risk includes, among other things, tech-
nology risk as the Group is heavily dependent on technol-
ogy to supply its services to clients and to run its internal 
processes. Technology risk is managed under the super-
vision of the Chief Technology Officer with independent 
oversight of the Chief Risk Officer. Information security 
is managed by a dedicated information security team. The 
Group undertakes regular penetration tests to detect vul-
nerabilities and receives advice on emerging threats from 
external experts.

I1	 Fiduciary activities
The Group provides fiduciary capacities that result in the 
holding or placing of assets on behalf of clients. These ser-
vices are mainly rendered through its web portal and there-
fore the Group is exposed to the operational risks associ-
ated with the use of this technology. At the balance sheet 
date, the Group clients’ financial assets under custody, 
excluding cash portion, amount to CHF 18.6 billion (2016: 
CHF 14.4 billion).

I2	 Cryptocurrencies trading services
Transactions on cryptocurrencies are settled through pro-
cesses that are dependent on a peer-to-peer network. A 
cryptocurrency, or some fraction of it, is a chain of digital 
signatures stored in a public ledger called the blockchain. 
Possession and control over a particular cryptocurrency 
holding is synonymous with having knowledge of one or 
more private keys that are linked to one or more public ad-
dresses. 

These particular characteristics make cryptocurren-
cies a target for cyberattacks because the stolen data has 
instant value and transactions are not reversible. These vul-
nerabilities are managed by the Group for the cryptocur-
rencies it holds in direct custody through effective security 
encompassing not only cybersecurity but as well the estab-
lishment of recognised security standards for offline (cold) 
cryptocurrencies storage and multi-signature wallets. Cold 
storage involves placing the private keys in an offline me-
dia, such as disconnected computer memory. Multi-signa-
ture wallets involves assigning cryptocurrencies to public 
addresses that are linked to multiple private key, each sep-
arately stored, subset of which are needed to effectuate 
any transfer. To access the cryptocurrencies network, the 
Group considered Bitstamp.net as an intermediary to be 
its principal market and third party custodian. The Group 
considers Bitstamp.net an appropriate counterparty for the 
cryptocurrencies services offered to customers.

Notes to the consolidated  
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements

1	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and balances with central bank comprise of CHF 3.5 
billion deposits with Swiss National Bank (2016 : CHF 2.3 bil-
lion). Since 2015, a negative 0.75% interest rate is applied to 
Swiss National Bank deposit account balances that exceed a 
given exemption threshold.

Treasury bills and other eligible bills comprise of 
CHF 259.9 million of short-term receivables (below 12 
months) from Swiss municipalities (2016: 258.8 million).

Part of "Due from banks" are pledged (2017: CHF 230.8 
million – 2016: CHF 166.5 million) in favour of third parties 
mainly in order to secure the settlement of client transac-
tions. 

As at 31 December 2017, "Deposits from banks" 
(above 3 months) of CHF 10.0 million relates to deposits 
made by third-party banks which benefit from trading 
venues of the Group.

2017 2016

in CHF

Cash and balances with central bank 3,517,110,596 2,284,650,001

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 259,850,000 277,554,556

Due from banks 425,399,549 398,214,374

Deposits from banks (170,984,155) (32,804,479)

Total net 4,031,375,990 2,927,614,452

Less: treasury bills and other eligible bills (above 3 months) (94,200,000) (117,269,950)

Less: due from banks (above 3 months) (10,000,000) (20,543,050)

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 3,927,175,990 2,789,801,452
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2	 Derivative financial instruments

Fair Value Contract notional amount

in CHF

Assets Liabilities

Derivatives held for trading

Foreign exchange swaps 3,124,688 (12,182,517) 2,015,610,553

Currency options 29,672 (29,672) 1,185,081

Currency forwards 48,925,589 (9,179,512) 3,426,840,955

Precious-metals forwards 16,334,341 (2,097,709) 785,732,121

CFD derivatives (indices and commodities) 3,972,452 (621,767) 111,244,069

Total derivatives held for trading 72,386,742 (24,111,177) 6,340,612,779

Derivatives held for hedging

Derivatives designated as fair value hedge:

Interest rate futures 3,958 – 2,417,202

Total derivatives held for hedging 3,958 – 2,417,202

Total as at 31 December 2017 72,390,700 (24,111,177) 6,343,029,981

 
Currency forwards, precious-metals forwards and CFD derivatives are related to clients’ transactions. Foreign exchange 
swaps, currency options and interest rate futures are related to the Group’s own transactions.

Fair Value Contract notional amount

in CHF

Assets Liabilities

Derivatives held for trading

Foreign exchange swaps 1,804,507 (3,920,689) 1,045,754,219

Currency options 61,877 (61,877) 2,844,651

Currency forwards 29,520,144 (7,669,405) 1,585,262,745

Precious-metals forwards 7,069,525 (802,994) 161,935,960

CFD derivatives (indices and commodities) 3,058,949 (265,252) 88,778,756

Total derivatives held for trading 41,515,002 (12,720,217) 2,884,576,331

Derivatives held for hedging

Derivatives designated as fair value hedge:

Interest rate futures 1,554 (3,405) 9,269,444

Total derivatives held for hedging 1,554 (3,405) 9,269,444

Total as at 31 December 2016 41,516,556 (12,723,622) 2,893,845,775

Currency forwards, precious-metals forwards and CFD derivatives are related to clients’ transactions. Foreign exchange 
swaps, currency options and interest rate futures are related to the Group’s own transactions.

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements
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3	 Trading assets
Trading assets mainly comprise of units in investment funds principally invested in stocks and included in major stock indices, 
respectively DJ Euro Stoxx and Swiss Performance Index.

2017 2016

in CHF

European equities investment funds 7,396,906 6,243,173

Swiss equities investment funds 606,067 516,442

Other trading assets 248,072 183,094

Total as at 31 December 8,251,045 6,942,709

4	 Due from banks and loans

2017 2016

in CHF

Due from banks 425,817,888 398,651,622

Impairment allowance (418,339) (437,248)

Total due from banks 425,399,549 398,214,374

Loans 298,066,329 245,352,316

Impairment allowance (19,477,182) (19,001,387)

Total loans as at 31 December 278,589,147 226,350,929

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements

Loans mainly consist of advances covered by the pledging 
of the customers portfolio consisting of cash and securities 
(Lombard loans). As at 31 December 2017, loans include a 
balance of CHF 27.5 million (2016: CHF 6 million) related to 
loans to Swiss municipalities with maturity above 12 months.

As at 31 December 2017, the balance of CHF 19.5 million 
includes an impairment allowance of CHF 19.2 million (2016: 
CHF 18.6 million) related to the removal of the 1.20 floor on 
EUR/CHF by Swiss National Bank in 2015 (see section V - 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estima-
tion uncertainty).

Reference is made to Note 25 for the estimated impact of the adoption of IFRS 9. 
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5	 Investment securities
Investment securities mainly consist of listed bonds and OTC-traded bonds.

Fair value
through P&L Available-for-sale Held-to-maturity Total

in CHF

As at 1 January 2017 2,612,443 466,199,667 85,712,776 554,524,886

Exchange differences (78,670) (2,811,823) 536,182 (2,354,311)

Additions 2,603,500 142,664,682 – 145,268,182

Premium/(discount) – (5,390,939) (326,049) (5,716,988)

Disposals (sale and redemption) (2,655,852) (294,835,095) (9,021,067) (306,512,014)

Gains/(losses) from changes in fair value (283,424) (42,022) – (325,446)

As at 31 December 2017 2,197,997 305,784,470 76,901,842 384,884,309

Reference is made to Note 25 for the estimated impact of the adoption of IFRS 9. 

Fair value
through P&L Available-for-sale Held-to-maturity Total

in CHF

As at 1 January 2016 24,352,895 651,239,983 113,253,093 788,845,971

Exchange differences 169,097 2,164,410 34,479 2,367,986

Additions 5,978,914 615,644,851 – 621,623,765

Premium/(discount) – (10,366,719) (522,674) (10,889,393)

Disposals (sale and redemption) (27,605,280) (793,346,245) (27,052,122) (848,003,647)

Gains/(losses) from changes in fair value (283,183) 863,387 – 580,204

As at 31 December 2016 2,612,443 466,199,667 85,712,776 554,524,886

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements
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5	 Investment securities (continued)

2017 Recognition as per IAS 39

in CHF

Carrying value Fair value
Unrealised gains/

(losses)
Comprehensive 

income
Income  

statement
Not 

recognised

Fair value through profit 
& loss 2,197,997 2,197,997 (454,598) – (454,598) –

Available-for-sale 305,784,470 305,784,470 527,724 527,724 – –

Held-to-maturity 76,901,842 83,361,929 6,460,087 – – 6,460,087

Total as at 31 December 384,884,309 391,344,396 6,533,213 572,724 (454,598) 6,460,087

During the period under review, CHF 151,342 of unrealised gains arising from changes in fair value of available-for-sale 
assets have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (2016: unrealised gains of CHF 527,279). The cu-
mulated balance recorded in comprehensive income represents unrealised gains of CHF 527,724 (2016: unrealised gains of 
CHF 740,030), gross of deferred tax impact.

2016 Recognition as per IAS 39

in CHF

Carrying value Fair value
Unrealised gains/

(losses)
Comprehensive 

income
Income  

statement
Not 

recognised

Fair value through profit 
& loss 2,612,443 2,612,443 (178,869) – (178,869) –

Available-for-sale 466,199,667 466,199,667 740,030 740,030 – –

Held-to-maturity 85,712,776 94,679,427 8,966,651 – – 8,966,651

Total as at 31 December 554,524,886 563,491,537 9,527,812 740,030 (178,869) 8,966,651

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements
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5	 Investment securities (continued)
Unrealised gains/(losses) incurred in investment securities are analysed as follows:

Unrealised gains/(losses) 
as at 31 December 2017 Change versus 2016

in CHF

Fair value through profit & loss (454,598) (275,729)

Available-for-sale 527,724 (212,306)

Held-to-maturity 6,460,087 (2,506,564)

Total 6,533,213 (2,994,599)

Unrealised gains/(losses) 
as at 31 December 2016 Change versus 2015

in CHF

Fair value through profit & loss (178,869) 3,979,575

Available-for-sale 740,030 689,580

Held-to-maturity 8,966,651 (2,030,124)

Total 9,527,812 2,639,031

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements
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6	 Intangible assets

Goodwill
Customer

relationships Total

in CHF

Gross value

As at 1 January 2016 38,989,066 3,300,000 42,289,066

Addition – – –

As at 31 December 2016 38,989,066 3,300,000 42,289,066

Addition – – –

As at 31 December 2017 38,989,066 3,300,000 42,289,066

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2016 – (1,645,933) (1,645,933)

Depreciation/amortisation – (177,222) (177,222)

As at 31 December 2016 – (1,823,155) (1,823,155)

Depreciation/amortisation – (177,221) (177,221)

As at 31 December 2017 – (2,000,376) (2,000,376)

Net book value as at 31 December 2017 38,989,066 1,299,624 40,288,690

Net book value as at 31 December 2016 38,989,066 1,476,845 40,465,911

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements
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6	 Intangible assets (continued)
The Group performed impairment tests of goodwill at the 
end of the financial year 2017 and 2016. For the purpose 
of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the 
relevant cash-generating unit which is expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the corresponding business combi-
nation. 

The impairment tests are based on calculations of 
value in use. Cash flow projections are based on actual 
operating results and cash flow projections based on fi-
nancial budgets. Cash beyond the considered period are 

extrapolated using estimated long-term growth rates (if 
applicable). Future cash flows are discounted based on 
the weighted average cost of capital (WACC), taking into 
account risks that are specific to the cash-generating unit 
tested for impairment and historical industry average. As at 
31 December 2017, the discount rates used were based on 
observable market long-term Swiss government bonds plus 
a risk premium.

Key elements used for value-in-use calculations of in-
tangible assets are:

The Group has determined the values assigned to each of the 
above key elements based on past performance and expecta-
tions of market development and industry trends. The Group 
recognised that the speed of technological change, the im-
plementation of new regulations and the possibility of new 
entrants can have an impact on growth rate assumptions.

As at 31 December 2017, the estimated recoverable 
amount exceeds the carrying amount (2016: same).

Sensitivity analysis:
The Group has considered and assessed reasonably possi-
ble changes for key assumptions and has not identified in-
stances that could cause the carrying amount to exceed the 
recoverable amount.

When performing sensitivity analysis, the Group has 
identified that a permanent change in the revenue assump-
tion of –12% (without any adjustment in the forecasted 
expenses) could cause the carrying amount to exceed the 
recoverable amount.

Type Goodwill

Date of acquisition 2010, 2013

Business acquired
ACM Advanced Currency Markets Ltd

MIG Bank Ltd

Carrying amount CHF 38,989,066

Depreciation method Indefinite useful life

Reportable segment Leveraged forex (eForex)

Basis for recoverable amount Value in use

Cash flow projections 5 years + terminal value

Long-term growth rate 1%

Discount rate 7.65% (2016: 7.45%)

Main assumptions

Transaction volume
Revenue margin (CHF per million of volume)

Net revenues
Operating costs

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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7	 Information technology systems

Software  
third party licences Proprietary software

Hardware &
telecom systems Total

in CHF

Gross value

As at 1 January 2016 5,699,168 56,717,659 6,212,000 68,628,827

Addition 1,195,397 16,058,734 2,071,325 19,325,456

Other changes (1,848,685) (6,854,511) (836,902) (9,540,098)

As at 31 December 2016 5,045,880 65,921,882 7,446,423 78,414,185

Addition 707,705 17,220,968 1,851,309 19,779,982

Other changes (699,901) (6,807,472) (1,088,526) (8,595,899)

As at 31 December 2017 5,053,684 76,335,378 8,209,206 89,598,268

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2016 (2,987,535) (26,209,089) (4,375,054) (33,571,678)

Amortisation/depreciation (903,847) (11,541,531) (1,207,397) (13,652,775)

Other changes 1,848,685 6,854,511 836,902 9,540,098

As at 31 December 2016 (2,042,697) (30,896,109) (4,745,549) (37,684,355)

Amortisation/depreciation (907,554) (13,171,124) (1,493,263) (15,571,941)

Other changes 699,901 6,807,472 1,088,526 8,595,899

As at 31 December 2017 (2,250,350) (37,259,761) (5,150,286) (44,660,397)

Net book value as at 31 December 2017 2,803,334 39,075,617 3,058,920 44,937,871

Net book value as at 31 December 2016 3,003,183 35,025,773 2,700,874 40,729,830

Proprietary software comprises of software development 
costs and purchased software in connection with the de-
sign and improvements of the products, services and sys-
tems of the Group. As at 31 December 2017, additions 
to information technology systems include an amount of 
CHF 10.1 million (2016: CHF 9.8 million) representing own 
costs capitalised according to IAS 38.

Other changes of CHF 8.6 million are related to fully de-
preciated items which are derecognised because no future 
economic benefits are expected from their use.

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements
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8	 Property, plant and equipment

Land and
building

Leasehold
improvements Equipments Total

in CHF

Gross value

As at 1 January 2016 67,800,825 2,571,445 3,385,500 73,757,770

Addition 5,174,683 2,055 145,745 5,322,483

Other changes – (249,410) (32,087) (281,497)

As at 31 December 2016 72,975,508 2,324,090 3,499,158 78,798,756

Addition 31,256 104,469 193,004 328,729

Revaluation of land and building 126,918 – – 126,918

Other changes – (16,413) (1,127,745) (1,144,158)

As at 31 December 2017 73,133,682 2,412,146 2,564,417 78,110,245

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2016 (8,277,288) (1,764,360) (2,211,392) (12,253,040)

Amortisation/depreciation (2,305,490) (209,119) (400,996) (2,915,605)

Other changes – 249,410 32,087 281,497

As at 31 December 2016 (10,582,778) (1,724,069) (2,580,301) (14,887,148)

Amortisation/depreciation (2,261,314) (184,418) (349,140) (2,794,872)

Other changes – 16,413 1,127,745 1,144,158

As at 31 December 2017 (12,844,092) (1,892,074) (1,801,696) (16,537,862)

Net book value as at 31 December 2017 60,289,590 520,072 762,721 61,572,383

Net book value as at 31 December 2016 62,392,730 600,021 918,857 63,911,608

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements

Other changes of CHF 1.1 million are related to fully de-
preciated items which are derecognised because no future 
economic benefits are expected from their use. 

Land and building are stated at their revalued amount, 
being the fair value at date of revaluation, less any subse-
quent depreciation. The fair value is based on regular ap-
praisals by independent qualified valuers (last independent 
qualified valuation performed in 2013) or internally. As of 

31 December 2017, the fair value was determined based 
on comparable market prices, vacancy rates and discount 
rate, which resulted in a level 2 fair value. There has been no 
changes in valuation technique. As at 31 December 2017, 
the other reserve in equity includes a revaluation surplus of 
CHF 1,403,208 (2016: CHF 1,276,290) gross of applicable 
deferred taxes, which cannot be freely distributed.
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9	 Other assets

2017 2016

in CHF

Accrued income and other receivables 12,896,530 24,138,226

Others 8,320,827 6,234,906

Total as at 31 December 21,217,357 30,373,132

10	 Due to customers

2017 2016

in CHF

Securities trading accounts 3,879,893,690 2,992,624,367

Saving accounts 357,609,938 381,530,184

Leveraged forex accounts 328,879,809 226,090,181

Total as at 31 December 4,566,383,437 3,600,244,732

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements
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11	 Other liabilities

2017 2016

in CHF

Accrued expenses 26,216,380 17,628,442

Account payables 6,480,555 3,864,061

Social security, pension plan and other social charges 10,009,186 7,950,272

Withholding tax to be paid and other taxes 6,450,949 5,345,189

Deferred revenues 1,123,089 944,369

Total as at 31 December 50,280,159 35,732,333

12	 Taxation
a	 Deferred income tax assets

Sources

Tax losses  
carried forward

Pension plan 
 liability Total

in CHF

Balance as at 1 January 2016 1,049,083 1,155,880 2,204,963

In connection with remeasurement of defined benefit obligation – (98,640) (98,640)

In connection with losses in Switzerland (1,049,083) – (1,049,083)

In connection with change in tax rate – (31,240) (31,240)

Balance as at 31 December 2016 – 1,026,000 1,026,000

In connection with remeasurement of defined benefit obligation – 271,620 271,620

In connection with losses in Switzerland – – –

In connection with change in tax rate – – –

Balance as at 31 December 2017 – 1,297,620 1,297,620

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements
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12	 Taxation (continued)
b	 Deferred tax liabilities

Sources

Revaluation reserve Temporary differences Total

in CHF

Balance as at 1 January 2016 238,666 1,211,269 1,449,935

Change in tax rate (8,934) (21,292) (30,226)

Depreciation of fair-valued assets at date of acquisition of subsidiaries – (20,966) (20,966)

Differences in the capitalisation, depreciation and other accounting 
policies – (189,015) (189,015)

Balance as at 31 December 2016 229,732 979,996 1,209,728

Revaluation of land & building 22,845 – 22,845

Depreciation of fair-valued assets at date of acquisition of subsidiaries – (31,900) (31,900)

Differences in the capitalisation, depreciation and other accounting 
policies – 357,803 357,803

Balance as at 31 December 2017 252,577 1,305,899 1,558,476

2017 2016

in CHF

Revaluation of land & building 252,577 229,732

Fair valued assets at date of acquisition of subsidiaries (business combination) 636,413 668,313

Differences in the capitalisation, depreciations and other accounting policies 1 669,486 311,683

Total as at 31 December 1,558,476 1,209,728

1 Differences in the capitalisation, depreciation and other accounting policies come from the differences between IFRS and the accounting rules set out for 

banks by FINMA (ARB-FINMA).

 

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements

In 2017, the average tax rate was 18.0% (2016: 18.0%). The 
average tax rate may vary depending on the profit mix ac-
cross the various jurisdictions.

The Swiss Federal Council started a consultation pro-
cess for the so-designated "Tax Proposal 17" which aims to 
reform the corporate tax laws in Switzerland. According to 
the timetable, the Parliament should discuss and pass the 
new tax reform law in its 2018 summer and fall sessions. 
Accordingly, the new law may enter into force earliest at the 
beginning of 2019. In the meantime, the Canton of Vaud has 
confirmed its intention to introduce a reduced corporate 
tax rate regardless the current corporate tax reform under 
way at the federal level. The Canton of Vaud will implement 

in the coming months a cantonal package, including a re-
duction in the corporate income tax rate to 13.79%. 

This new ordinary tax should also be applicable in the 
long run to companies that have enjoyed privileged status 
so far (such as holding status). Until a federal tax reform is 
implemented, however, these companies will remain sub-
ject to a tax rate comparable to that applicable today.

As of 31 December 2017, the Group has evaluated the 
impact on deferred tax assets and liabilities of the potential 
new ordinary tax rates. Should the reduction to 13.79% be 
confirmed in 2018, the corresponding adjustments shall be 
less than CHF 0.1 million (net).
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12	 Taxation (continued)
c	 Current income tax liabilities

d	 Income tax expense

	 2017 2016

in CHF

Current-year income tax expense 6,298,109 1,518,854

Change in deferred income tax assets (65,160) 1,178,963

Change in deferred tax liabilities 364,118 (240,207)

Total 6,597,067 2,457,610

Changes in deferred income tax assets and deferred tax liabilities may impact the income statement or statement of com-
prehensive income.

2017 2016

in CHF

Reconciliation of taxes

Operating profit 45,782,013 23,210,124

Income tax expense computed at average tax rate in Switzerland (18.0%) 8,240,762 4,177,822

Increase/(decrease) in income taxes resulting from:

Lower taxed income (746,327) (489,746)

Tax effect of losses not recognised in foreign locations (686,487) (362,067)

Non-deductible tax expenses 428,785 306,086

Non taxable income (49,666) (15,216)

Additional taxable income (90,000) (180,000)

Remeasurement of deferred tax – change in tax rate – 20,731

Tax provision release (500,000) (1,000,000)

Total 6,597,067 2,457,610

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2017, unrecognised tax loss carryforwards 
represented an equivalent amount of CHF 1.5 million (2016: 
CHF 5.2 million). The level of recognised tax assets depends 
on assumptions regarding available future taxable profits that 

are eligible for offset in the same jurisdictions and the ability 
of the consolidated subsidiary to take benefit of the underly-
ing losses. The amount of unrecognised tax loss carryforwards 
is subject to foreign exchange differences.

2017 2016

in CHF

Related to parent company 333,722 246,980

Related to Swissquote Bank Ltd 4,976,930 102,028

Related to other subsidiaries – 30,196

Total as at 31 December 5,310,652 379,204
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13	 Provisions

2017 2016

in CHF

Balance as at 1 January 2,331,930 3,749,841

Increase 785,556 410,970

Used/reversed:

Acquisition of subsidiaries (1,104,575) (1,427,838)

Other provisions – (401,043)

Balance as at 31 December 2,012,911 2,331,930

Acquisition of subsidiaries 194,000 1,253,891

Other provisions 1,818,911 1,078,039

Total as at 31 December 2,012,911 2,331,930

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements

12	 Taxation (continued)
d	 Income tax expense

In 2017, the average tax rate was 18.0% (2016: 18.0%). 
The average tax rate may vary depending on the profit mix 
across the various jurisdictions. The Group met specific 
conditions that make Swissquote Bank Ltd eligible to a pre-
ferred tax rate at a Swiss cantonal level for a period maxi-
mum up to 2019 (reduction of 25% on ordinary tax rate). 
These conditions have been met during the full period.

During 2017, pending tax filings reached final resolution with 
relevant tax authorities and the Group estimated that an 
amount of CHF 0.5 million (2016: CHF 1.0 million) could be 
released in the income statement.



Annual Report 2017    Financial Report 88

14	 Pension
a	 Pension plan

The Group operates a defined benefit plan in Switzerland 
and defined contribution plans in foreign locations. All plan 
assets are held in trusts that are governed by local regu-
lations and practice in each country. As at 31 December 
2017, the level of benefits provided to staff located in for-
eign locations is not relevant for financial reporting purpos-
es of the Group.

In Switzerland, the Group manages a tailored pension 
scheme through a collective foundation, which is organised 
under Swiss law. The main features are the following:
− 	  This pension plan is accounted as a defined benefit 

plan under IAS 19R;
− 	  The fund assets are held independently of the Group 

assets in separated trustee funds;

− 	  Decisions with respect to the funds (levels of the ben-
efits and of the contributions, as well as investment 
strategy) are made by a Board of Trustees in which 
the employees and the Group are each represented at 
parity;

− 	  The pension’s benefits are determined based on the 
contributions paid by the employees and the Group. 
However, in accordance with Swiss law the part of 
the employees’ saving accounts corresponding to 
the minimum required by law shall be remunerated at 
a minimal interest rate set by the Swiss Government. 
In 2017, the rate was 1.00% per annum (2016: 1.00% 
per annum).

The main actuarial assumptions used for the calculation of 
the pension cost and the projected benefit obligations are 
as follows:

2017 2016

Discount rate 0.85% 0.80%

Rate of future increase in compensations 1.25% 1.00%

Interest rate credited on savings accounts 1.00% 1.00%

Pension indexation 0.00% 0.00%

Inflation rate 1.00% 0.75%

Mortality tables BVG 2015 BVG 2015

Retirement age 65 (male)/64 (female) 65 (male)/64 (female)

Turnover 15% on average 19% on average

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements

Demographic assumptions (e.g. probability of death, dis-
ability or termination) are based on the technical principles 
set out in the Swiss Federal Law on Occupational Retire-
ment, Survivors’ and Disability Pension Plans (BVG) 2015 
(cohort life tables), which draw on observations of large 

insurance portfolios in Switzerland over a period of several 
years, and are adapted to reflect conditions specific to the 
group or empirical values where necessary.

Pension obligations and costs are presented as neg-
ative amounts.
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14	 Pension (continued)
b	 Defined benefit pension plans

Defined benefit obligation Fair value of plan assets Total

in CHF thousand

Total as at 1 January 2017 (39,220) 33,520 (5,700)

Service cost (2,910) – (2,910)

Plan amendments – – –

Interest income on plan assets/(interest cost on defined 
benefit obligation) (302) 276 (26)

Administrative expense – (131) (131)

Actuarial gain/(loss) of other long-term employee benefits – – –

Pension cost recognised in income statement (3,212) 145 (3,067)

Actuarial gain/(loss) (1,682) – (1,682)

Return on plan assets (excluding interest income) – 535 535

Pension cost recognised in other comprehensive income (1,682) 535 (1,147)

Employees’ contributions (2,375) 2,375 –

Employer’s contribution – 2,705 2,705

Benefit payments 3,033 (3,033) –

Total as at 31 December 2017 (43,456) 36,247 (7,209)

Of which active employees (42,424)

Of which pensioners (1,032)

Defined benefit obligation Fair value of plan assets Total

in CHF thousand

Total as at 1 January 2016 (38,463) 31,340 (7,123)

Service cost (3,063) – (3,063)

Plan amendments 1,275 – 1,275

Interest income on plan assets/(interest cost on defined 
benefit obligation) (390) 340 (50)

Administrative expense – (127) (127)

Actuarial gain/(loss) of other long-term employee benefits – – –

Pension cost recognised in income statement (2,178) 213 (1,965)

Actuarial gain/(loss) 1,112 – 1,112

Return on plan assets (excluding interest income) – (290) (290)

Pension cost recognised in other comprehensive income 1,112 (290) 822

Employees’ contributions (2,245) 2,245 –

Employer’s contribution – 2,566 2,566

Benefit payments 2,554 (2,554) –

Total as at 31 December 2016 (39,220) 33,520 (5,700)

Of which active employees (37,696)

Of which pensioners (1,524)

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements
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14	 Pension (continued)
b	 Defined benefit pension plans (continued)
Actuarial gains and losses arise from changes in demographic and financial assumptions as well as from experience. Benefit 
payments include vested benefits paid respectively deposited in the event of employees exiting or entering the plans.

c	 Categories of plan assets (fair value)

Debt instruments may include instruments such as convertible bonds and perpetual callable bonds.

d	 Other disclosures (risks, sensitivity analysis, duration 
and estimate of contributions)

Through its defined benefit plan, the Group is exposed to 
a number of risks. As an example, the defined benefit obli-
gation is calculated using a discount rate set with reference 
to market yields. A decrease in market yield will increase 
plan liabilities, although this will partially be offset by an 
increase in the fair value of the plan assets. As at 31 Decem-
ber 2017, the discount rate is based on an average duration 
of 20.7 years, which corresponds to the modified duration 
calculated based on the future expected benefit payments.

Further, the defined benefit obligation depends on a 
number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis 
using a number of assumptions. Any change in these as-
sumptions will impact the carrying amount of defined ben-
efit obligation. 

As at 31 December 2017, the actuarial analysis established 
that an increase or a decrease of 0.25% in discount rate 
would lead to a maximum change of CHF 2.0 million (2016: 
CHF 1.5 million) in the defined benefit obligation. Other 
assumptions of changes do not impact the defined bene-
fit obligation to the same extent. As an example (among 
others), an increase or decrease of 0.25% in interest rate 
credited on savings account would lead to an increase or a 
decrease of CHF 0.5 million (2016: CHF 0.4 million).

The estimates of employer's contribution and em-
ployees’ contributions for 2018 are expected to be close to 
the respective contributions identified in 2017 (excluding 
the impact of potential new plan participants).

2017 2016

in CHF thousand

Cash 4,020 4,226

Qualified insurance policies 359 952

Debt instruments (listed) 23,861 21,051

Equity instruments (listed) 6,805 6,517

Real estate (listed) 777 371

Commodities (listed) 425 403

Total as at 31 December 36,247 33,520

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements



Annual Report 2017    Financial Report 91

15	 Equity
15.1	 Share capital
a	 Number of shares in 2017

1 January Change Increase Utilisation 31 December

Issued shares

Ordinary share capital

Number of shares 15,328,170 – – – 15,328,170

Nominal value per share 
(CHF) 0.2 – – – 0.2

Total nominal value (CHF) 3,065,634 – – – 3,065,634

Unissued shares

Conditional capital

Number of conditional 
shares 960,000 – – – 960,000

Nominal value per share 
(CHF) 0.2 – – – 0.2

Total nominal value (CHF) 192,000 – – – 192,000

Authorised capital

Number of authorised shares 1,810,200 – – – 1,810,200

Total nominal value (CHF) 0.2 – – – 0.2

Authorised capital (CHF) 362,040 – – – 362,040

b	 Number of shares in 2016

1 January Change Increase Utilisation 31 December

Issued shares

Ordinary share capital

Number of shares 15,328,170 – – – 15,328,170

Nominal value per share 
(CHF) 0.2 – – – 0.2

Total nominal value (CHF) 3,065,634 – – – 3,065,634

Unissued shares

Conditional capital

Number of conditional 
shares 960,000 – – – 960,000

Nominal value per share 
(CHF) 0.2 – – – 0.2

Total nominal value (CHF) 192,000 – – – 192,000

Authorised capital

Number of authorised shares 1,810,200 – – – 1,810,200

Total nominal value (CHF) 0.2 – – – 0.2

Authorised capital (CHF) 362,040 – – – 362,040

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements
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15	 Equity (continued)
15.2	 Share option reserve (employee stock options plan)
a	 Components of share option reserve

Share option reserve components

Value of services to be 
reclassified to retained 

earnings when lapsed, 
forfeited or exercised

Value of services to 
be amortised through 

income statement over 
the vesting period 2017 2016

in CHF

Balance as at 1 January 2,683,890 (714,962) 1,968,928 2,207,387

Stock options lapsed, forfeited or exercised (1,255,168) – (1,255,168) (941,964)

Fair value of current-year allocation 1,073,160 (1,073,160) – –

Amortisation of services – 768,967 768,967 703,505

Balance as at 31 December 2,501,882 (1,019,155) 1,482,727 1,968,928

The fair value of stock options granted during 2017 was CHF 1,073,160 when the Group recognised a share option expense 
of CHF 768,967 in its income statement.

Allocation Tranche

Value of services to be reclassified 
to retained earnings when lapsed, 

forfeited or exercised

Value of services to be amortised 
through income statement over the 

vesting period 2017 2016

in CHF

14 3/3 – – – 183,888

15 2/3 – – – 302,613

15 3/3 210,069 – 210,069 311,806

16 1/3 – – – 230,709

16 2/3 142,701 – 142,701 234,537

16 3/3 213,889 – 213,889 169,021

17 1/3 66,973 – 66,973 150,558

17 2/3 97,408 – 97,408 132,895

17 3/3 176,020 (34,690) 141,330 89,240

18 1/3 117,536 – 117,536 88,811

18 2/3 204,250 (60,435) 143,815 45,024

18 3/3 202,970 (107,694) 95,276 29,826

19 1/3 353,653 (216,068) 137,585 –

19 2/3 359,085 (289,236) 69,849 –

19 3/3 357,328 (311,032) 46,296 –

As at 
31 December 2,501,882 (1,019,155) 1,482,727 1,968,928

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements
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15	 Equity (continued)
15.2	 Share option reserve (employee stock options plan) 

(continued)
b	 Employee stock option plan – historical allocations
The Group operates a Stock Option Plan under which it 
makes options in common stock available to the Group’s 
employees and directors at the discretion of the Board. 

Since the creation of the Plan in 1999, a total of 19 allo-
cation schemes have been offered. Optionees whose work 
contract is terminated lose their rights to options outstand-
ing unless the Board resolves otherwise. 

The terms and maturities of the non-lapsed alloca-
tions as at 31 December 2017 are summarised below.

Exercise period Analysis of status

Allocation Tranche
Strike price 

(CHF) Number options Start End In the money
In exercise 

period
In the money & 
exercise period

15 3/3 33.24 50,613 August 16 July 18 50,613 50,613 50,613

16 2/3 30.71 26,394 October 16 September 18 26,394 26,394 26,394

3/3 30.71 39,628 October 17 September 19 39,628 39,628 39,628

17 1/3 25.66 17,542 August 16 July 18 17,542 17,542 17,542

2/3 25.66 24,865 August 17 July 19 24,865 24,865 24,865

3/3 25.66 44,661 August 18 July 20 44,661 – –

18 1/3 25.95 29,433 August 17 July 19 29,433 29,433 29,433

2/3 25.95 50,445 August 18 July 20 50,445 – –

3/3 25.95 50,374 August 19 July 21 50,374 – –

19 1/3 34.02 68,076 August 18 July 20 68,076 – –

2/3 34.02 68,076 August 19 July 21 68,076 – –

3/3 34.02 67,987 August 20 July 22 67,987 – –

Total 538,094 538,094 188,475 188,475

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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15	 Equity (continued)
15.2	 Share option reserve (employee stock options plan) 

(continued)
c	 Nineteenth allocation
The fair value of the options is determined based on Black-
Scholes valuation model. The table below summarises the 
most significant inputs into the model that are the spot 

price at grant, the strike price, the expected life of the 
options and the volatility. The volatility is measured over 
a period of three years. Other inputs into the model are the 
risk free interest rate and the dividend yield (respective-
ly –0.14% and 1.0% for the 2017 allocation). One option 
grants the right to acquire one share.

Options are conditional on the employee completing at least one year service after the grant date (vesting period).

Date of grant 11.08.2017

Strike price (CHF) 34.02

Number of equal tranches 3

Start of exercise period (years from date of grant)
Tranche 1
Tranche 2
Tranche 3

1
2
3

Max. duration of exercise period (years) for each tranche 2

Duration used for the calculation of the value of the option 1

Data on options granted and option price:
Total number of options initially granted
Of which granted to Executive Management
Of which granted to other employees

204,729 
23,600 

181,129

Spot price at grant (CHF) 32.40

Volatility 31.02%

Fair value per option (average of all tranches) (CHF) 5.24

Of which:
Tranche 1
Tranche 2
Tranche 3

5.19  
5.27 
5.26

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
Section VII: Other notes to the consolidated financial statements



Annual Report 2017    Financial Report 95

15	 Equity (continued)
15.2	 Share option reserve (employee stock options plan) (continued)
d	 Movement in stock options granted
The movements in options granted, exercised, forfeited and lapsed are reported below:

Allocation

14th 15th 16th 17th 18th 19th Total
Conditional shares 

available for exercise

Strike price (CHF) 32.2 33.24 30.71 25.66 25.95 34.02

Share price as at 
31 December 2017 (CHF) 38.15 38.15 38.15 38.15 38.15 38.15

Balance as at 1 January 2016 114,170 233,940 136,467 151,246 – – 635,823 960,000

Increase of conditional capital –

Grants – – – – 163,949 – 163,949

Exercises covered by:

The issue of new shares – – – – – – –

Treasury shares – – – (8,628) – – (8,628)

Lapsed/forfeited (58,365) (83,804) (6,372) (6,844) (590) – (155,975)

Balance as at 
31 December 2016 55,805 150,136 130,095 135,774 163,359 – 635,169 960,000

Balance as at 1 January 2017 55,805 150,136 130,095 135,774 163,359 635,169

Grants – – – – – 204,729 204,729 960,000

Exercises covered by:

The issue of new shares

Treasury shares (38,790) (21,904) (57,503) (43,036) (22,390) – (183,623)

Lapsed/forfeited (17,015) (77,619) (6,570) (5,670) (10,717) (590) (118,181)

Balance as at 
31 December 2017 – 50,613 66,022 87,068 130,252 204,139 538,094 960,000

Conditional shares available for 
exercise 960,000

Less outstanding stock options (538,094)

Intermediary balance (including 
conditional shares) 421,906

Number of treasury shares 
available as at 31 December 2017 1,063,775

Balance shares available for 
future grants 1,485,681

During 2017, the 210,000 stock options part of the consideration paid for the acquisition of MIG Bank Ltd have expired 
(strike price: CHF 47.50).

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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15	 Equity (continued)
15.2	 Share option reserve (employee stock options plan) (continued)
e	 Movement (fair value) in stock options

Allocation

in CHF

14
th

15
th

16
th

17
th

18
th

19
th

Total

Balance as at 1 January 2016 370,338 935,329 733,386 588,689 – – 2,627,742

Grants – – – – 659,706 – 659,706

Exercises: new shares – – – – – – –

Exercises: treasury shares – – – (32,941) – – (32,941)

Lapsed/forfeited (186,450) (320,910) (34,244) (26,639) (2,374) – (570,617)

Balance as at 31 December 2016 183,888 614,419 699,142 529,109 657,332 – 2,683,890

Balance as at 1 January 2017 183,888 614,419 699,142 529,109 657,332 – 2,683,890

Grants 1,073,160 1,073,160

Exercises: new shares – – – – – – –

Exercises: treasury shares (127,820) (90,912) (307,401) (166,451) (89,411) – (781,995)

Lapsed/forfeited (56,068) (313,438) (35,151) (22,257) (43,165) (3,094) (473,173)

Balance as at 31 December 2017 – 210,069 356,590 340,401 524,756 1,070,066 2,501,882

f	 Strike value of stock options outstanding and movements

Allocation

in CHF

14
th

15
th

16
th

17
th

18
th

19
th

Total

Balance as at 1 January 2016 3,676,274 7,776,166 4,190,901 3,880,972 – – 19,524,313

Grants – – – – 4,254,477 – 4,254,477

Exercises: new shares – – – – – – –

Exercises: treasury shares – – – (221,394) – – (221,394)

Lapsed/forfeited (1,879,353) (2,785,645) (195,684) (175,617) (15,311) – (5,051,610)

Balance as at 31 December 2016 1,796,921 4,990,521 3,995,217 3,483,961 4,239,166 – 18,505,786

Balance as at 1 January 2017 1,796,921 4,990,521 3,995,217 3,483,961 4,239,166 – 18,505,786

Grants – – – – – 6,964,881 6,964,881

Exercises: new shares – – – – – – –

Exercises: treasury shares (1,249,038) (728,089) (1,765,917) (1,104,304) (581,021) – (5,428,369)

Lapsed/forfeited (547,883) (2,580,056) (201,765) (145,492) (278,106) (20,072) (3,773,374)

Balance as at 31 December 2017 – 1,682,376 2,027,535 2,234,165 3,380,039 6,944,809 16,268,924

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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15	 Equity (continued)
15.3	 Other reserve

Available-for-sale 
financial assets

Defined benefit 
obligation Revaluation reserve

Currency translation 
differences Total

in CHF

Balance as at 1 January 2016 43,586 (3,625,419) 1,037,624 124,806 (2,419,403)

Revaluation of available-for-sale 
– gross 689,580 – – – 689,580

Revaluation of available-for-sale 
– tax (124,124) – – – (124,124)

Remeasurement of defined benefit 
obligation – gross – 822,000 – – 822,000

Remeasurement of defined benefit 
obligation – tax – (147,960) – – (147,960)

Currency translation differences – – – (330,543) (330,543)

Balance as at 31 December 2016 609,042 (2,951,379) 1,037,624 (205,737) (1,510,450)

Balance as at 1 January 2017 609,042 (2,951,379) 1,037,624 (205,737) (1,510,450)

Revaluation of available-for-sale 
– gross (212,306) – – – (212,306)

Revaluation of available-for-sale 
– tax 38,215 – – – 38,215

Remeasurement of defined benefit 
obligation – gross – (1,147,000) – – (1,147,000)

Remeasurement of defined benefit 
obligation – tax – 206,460 – – 206,460

Revaluation of land and building 
– gross – – 126,918 – 126,918

Revaluation of land and building 
– tax – – (22,845) – (22,845)

Currency translation differences – – – 145,208 145,208

Balance as at 31 December 2017 434,951 (3,891,919) 1,141,697 (60,529) (2,375,800)

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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15	 Equity (continued)
15.4	 Treasury shares

2017 2016

Beginning of the year (shares) 432,744 421,388

Purchase 852,728 36,650

Unit price ranging from CHF 23.82 to 38.55 22.77 to 28.50

Sale (19,479) –

Unit price ranging from CHF 34,93 to 38.42 –

Remittance to optionees/grant of shares (202,218) (25,294)

Unit price ranging from CHF 24.35 to 33.24 23.95 to 25.66

End of the period – 31 December (shares) 1,063,775 432,744

Total cost (CHF) 29,318,059 13,991,184

% of the issued shares 6.94% 2.82%

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

in CHF

Dividend per share 0.86 1 0.13 – – 0.60

Other payout per share 0.04 1 0.47 0.60 0.60 –

1 Proposal of the Board of Directors

In 2017, CHF 6,652,002 (2016: 8,930,458) were reimbursed from share premium (reserves from capital contributions) and 
CHF 1,839,915 (2016: 0) from retained earnings.

16	 Net fee and commission income

2017 2016

in CHF

Brokerage and related income 72,764,656 56,294,412

Custody fees 9,378,580 8,398,687

Other commission income 11,191,115 11,787,049

Advertising and subscription fees 2,793,607 2,517,123

Total fee and commission income 96,127,958 78,997,271

Fee and commission expenses (10,923,893) (9,454,113)

Total net fee and commission income 85,204,065 69,543,158

As at 31 December 2017, remaining balance of 1,063,775 is primarily held for the purpose of covering employees share and 
option plans. During 2017, the Group granted and allocated for free a total of 18,595 shares (2016: 16,666) to employees 
(blocked for a 5-year period) and Board members (blocked for a 3-year period).

15.5	 Retained earnings (dividend and other payout)
Under Swiss law, dividends can only be paid out of the distributable reserves that are determined on a non-consolidated 
basis. Final dividends are not accounted for until they have been ratified at the Annual General Meeting. 

The Group offers various pricing schemes to its white-la-
bel partners which establish in general a minimum floor fee. 
When applicable, the difference with such minimum fee is 
included in other commission income. 

Fee and commission income include an amount of CHF 5.6 
million relating to the cryptocurrencies service that was ini-
tiated on 14 July 2017.

Notes to the consolidated  
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17	 Net interest income

Activities excluding 
foreign exchange swaps

Foreign
exchange swaps 2017 2016

in CHF

Interest income

Cash and short-term funds 268,116 – 268,116 265,808

Investment securities 7,507,686 – 7,507,686 8,885,442

Foreign exchange swaps – 18,598,423 18,598,423 8,350,195

Loans 5,535,865 – 5,535,865 4,818,400

Subtotal 13,311,667 18,598,423 31,910,090 22,319,845

Negative interest rate expense

Central banks and stock exchanges (5,729,757) (10,387,071) (16,116,828) (8,338,888)

Treasury bills and loans (1,161,367) – (1,161,367) (1,213,144)

Banks (622,738) – (622,738) (421,400)

Subtotal (7,513,862) (10,387,071) (17,900,933) (9,973,432)

Interest expense

Banks (187,781) – (187,781) (28,738)

Foreign exchange swaps – (613,900) (613,900) (272,557)

Customers – securities trading accounts (536,504) – (536,504) (369,199)

Customers – saving accounts & leveraged 
forex accounts (436,345) – (436,345) (374,207)

Subtotal (1,160,630) (613,900) (1,774,530) (1,044,701)

Net interest income 4,637,175 7,597,452 12,234,627 11,301,712

18	 Net trading income

2017 2016

in CHF

Foreign exchange revenues

From leveraged forex (eForex) 66,675,733 52,821,691

From other foreign exchange income 22,197,870 16,437,687

Unrealised fair value gains/losses

From trading assets 1,659,387 40,020

From others (338,760) (283,183)

Realised gains/losses 122,767 384,230

Net trading income 90,316,997 69,400,445

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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19	 Operating expenses

2017 2016

in CHF

Payroll and related expenses 64,645,074 57,047,716

Other operating expenses 35,830,182 32,334,697

Marketing expenses 20,425,604 19,669,005

Depreciation and amortisation 18,544,033 16,745,601

Provisions and impairment allowance 2,528,783 1,238,172

Total 141,973,676 127,035,191

Payroll and related expenses consist of:

2017 2016

in CHF

Wages and salaries 66,490,909 60,092,532

Social security costs 5,147,439 4,726,041

Pension costs (defined benefit and defined contribution) 3,136,698 2,010,155

Subtotal 74,775,046 66,828,728

Less: capitalised costs (10,129,972) (9,781,012)

Total 64,645,074 57,047,716

Average headcount (FTE) 577 532

With the development of international activities of the 
Group, wages and salaries comprise of a balance of CHF 6.8 
million which is not subject to Swiss social security (2016: 
CHF 5.9 million).

For pension costs, reference is made to Note 14 as defined 
benefit costs are influenced by the result of actuarial analysis.

The capitalised costs relate to internally generated 
computer softwares (Note 7).

Notes to the consolidated  
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20	 Earnings per share

Basic
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding the average number of ordinary shares purchased and held as 
treasury shares.

2017 2016

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 14,341,106 14,892,473

Net profit (CHF) 39,184,946 20,752,514

Earnings per share (CHF) 2.73 1.39

Diluted
Diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstand-
ing to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. Share options are the only type of dilutive poten-
tial ordinary shares: a calculation is performed to deter-
mine the number of shares that could have been acquired 

at fair value (determined at the average annual market 
share price of the Group’s shares) based on the monetary 
value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding 
share options. The number of shares calculated as above is 
compared with the number of shares that would have been 
issued assuming the exercise of the share options.

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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2017 2016

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 14,341,106 14,892,473

Adjustments for share options 23,215 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share options 14,364,321 14,892,473

Net profit (CHF) 39,184,946 20,752,514

Diluted earnings per share (CHF) 2.73 1.39
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21	 Related-party transactions
Related-party transactions are defined as transactions and balances with members of the Board of Directors and of the 
Executive Management and their close family members as well as with shareholders with an interest in the Group of more 
than 5%. 

2017 2016

in CHF

Key management compensation

Short term employee benefits 3,731,917 2,393,929

Post-employment benefits 379,161 257,671

Total 4,111,078 2,651,600

Of which:

Share-based payment (market value) 270,887 219,290

Loans 10,071,294 9,833,044

Due to customers 2,592,092 2,797,423

Interest income 92,296 48,536

Interest expenses 3,163 1,199

Related-party transactions are made on an arm’s-length basis.

On 15 March 2017, the Group acquired 750,000 treasury shares from Windel Investments Ltd. These shares were initially 
transferred as part of the consideration for the acquisition of MIG Bank Ltd in 2013.

22	 Off-balance-sheet commitments

2017 2016

in CHF

Irrevocable commitments

Operating lease commitments 10,722,586 3,515,240

Loan commitments 26,030,000 24,936,000

Total 36,752,586 28,451,240

Loan commitments
Swiss banking law and the deposit insurance scheme re-
quire Swiss banks and securities dealers to jointly guaran-
tee an amount up to CHF 6 billion for privileged deposits 
in the event a Swiss bank or a securities dealer becomes in-
solvent. As per FINMA guidelines, the payment obligation 
of the Group has to be recognised for as an irrevocable 
commitment under the off-balance-sheet transactions.

Other off-balance-sheet items
Reference is made to Note 23.

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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2017 2016

in CHF

Assets with management/investment advisory mandate 132,916,398 91,704,597

Assets in self-managed collective investments instruments 35,931,460 24,224,619

Total as at 31 December 168,847,858 115,929,216

Out of which double counts – –

2017 2016

in CHF

Change attributable to net new money 36,397,721 40,721,283

Change attributable to market value 16,520,921 9,411,423

Total change in assets under management 52,918,642 50,132,706

Client assets
Client assets is a broader term than assets under management under FINMA definition and comprises of all bankable assets 
that are managed or deposited with the Group, including assets that are not held for custody but for which the technology 
of the Group gives clients access to asset classes and stock markets and/or for which services are provided by Swissquote’s 
Robo-Advisor.

23	 Client assets
Assets under management (FINMA definition)

Assets under management are calculated and reported in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Swiss Financial 
Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) concerning accounting standards for banks. According to FINMA, assets under 
management compose of assets for which the strict condition of having either a discretionary management mandate or an 
investment advisory agreement signed by the client with the Group itself is fulfilled.

Notes to the consolidated  
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2017 2016

in CHF

Trading assets (including fiduciary placements and cryptocurrencies) 22,979,079,035 17,457,335,958

Saving assets 600,609,043 758,060,808

eForex assets 328,879,809 226,090,181

Robo-Advisory (ePrivate Banking) assets 203,110,068 115,929,216

Total client assets as at 31 December 24,111,677,955 18,557,416,163

Assets not deposited with the Group (871,666,438) (693,883,474)

Total assets under custody as at 31 December 23,240,011,517 17,863,532,689
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24	 Disclosure of shareholdings of the Board of Directors and Executive Management
In compliance with Art. 663c of Swiss Code of Obligations, the following table summarises all shareholdings held by each 
member of the Board of Directors, the Executive Management and closely related persons:

Number of stock options

Number of shares 
2017

Number of shares 
2016 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Participations

Mario Fontana, Chairman of the Board 516,752 595,815 1,000 – – – –

Mario Fontana, closely related persons 1 244,011 164,011 – – – – –

Markus Dennler, member of the Board 29,534 28,909 667 – – – –

Martin Naville, member of the Board 8,990 8,365 667 – – – –

Jean-Christophe Pernollet, member of the 
Board 2,868 2,243 – – – – –

Beat Oberlin, member of the Board 3,424 1,699 – – – – –

Marc Bürki, CEO 1,934,692 1,926,300 4,240 1,574 4,720 3,147 1,574

Paolo Buzzi, CTO 1,936,240 1,926,275 2,667 1,574 4,720 3,147 1,574

Michael Ploog, CFO 68,050 67,950 5,813 4,720 4,720 3,147 1,574

Morgan Lavanchy, CLO 340 – 2,907 2,360 3,147 2,359 1,574

Gilles Chantrier, CRO 340 – 2,907 2,360 3,147 2,359 1,574

Closely related persons 2 154,810 163,090 67 – – – –

Former members – 4,143 667 – – – –

Total 4,900,051 4,888,800 21,602 12,588 20,454 14,159 7,870
1 Mario Fontana, Chairman of the Board, retains full control of the social rights attached to the shares.

2 The data reported in the table above is based on the Company’s best knowledge of the number of shares owned by close relatives of the members of the Board and 
members of the Executive Management. Close relatives consist of spouse, children, father and mother as well as sisters and brothers. As at 31 December 2017 and 
31 December 2016, closely related persons are mainly related to Marc Bürki (CEO), Paolo Buzzi (CTO) and Michael Ploog (CFO).

Notes to the consolidated  
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25	 Estimated impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 
“Financial Instruments”

Classification of financial assets and liabilities
IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement ap-
proach for financial assets that reflects the business model 
in which assets are managed and their cash flow character-
istics. IFRS 9 contains three principal classification catego-
ries for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and 
fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The standard elim-
inates the existing IAS 39 categories of held-to-maturity, 
loans and receivables and available-for-sale.

Based on its assessment, the Group does not believe that the 
new classification requirements will have a material impact 
on its accounting for financial assets compared to IAS 39.

The following table provides a reconciliation between 
line items in the statement of financial positions and cate-
gories of financial instruments:

Impairment
IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in IAS 39 with the 
“expected credit loss” (ECL) model. Under IFRS 9, loss al-
lowances will be measured on either the following bases:
− 	  12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from pos-

sible default events within the 12 months after the 
reporting date;

− 	  Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all pos-
sible default events over the expected life of a finan-
cial instrument. 

Lifetime ECLs measurement applies if the credit risk of a 
financial asset at the reporting date has increased signifi-
cantly since initial recognition and 12-month ECL applies 
if it has not.

The Group has identified that impairment losses are 
likely to increase and become more volatile for the assets in 
the scope of IFRS 9 impairment model. 

Original classification 
under IAS 39

New classification 
under IFRS 9

Original carrying 
amount under IAS 39

New carrying amount 
under IFRS 9 1 Change

in CHF

As at 31 December 2017

Cash and balances with central bank Loans and advances Amortised cost 3,517,110,596 3,517,110,596 –

Treasury bills and other eligible bills Loans and advances Amortised cost 259,850,000 259,850,000 –

Due from banks Loans and advances Amortised cost 425,399,549 425,399,549 –

Derivative financial instruments FVTPL FVTPL 72,390,700 72,390,700 –

Trading assets FVTPL FVTPL 8,251,045 8,251,045 –

Loans Loans and advances Amortised cost 278,589,147 278,589,147 –

Investment securities Held-to-maturity Amortised cost 76,901,842 76,901,842 –

Investment securities Available-for-sale FVOCI 304,111,145 304,111,145 –

Investment securities Available-for-sale FVOCI equities 1,673,325 1,673,325 –

Investment securities FVTPL FVTPL 2,197,997 2,197,997 –

Other assets Loans and advances Amortised cost 21,217,357 21,217,357 –

Total financial assets 4,967,692,703 4,967,692,703 –

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
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1 Amounts excluding the impact of impairment loss allowance

IFRS 9 did not result in new measurements of financial assets and liabilities. IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements 
in IAS 39 for the classification of financial liabilities.
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25	 Estimated impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)
Based on the impairment methodology set by IFRS 9, the Group has estimated that application of IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018 
results in additional impairment losses as follows:

The following comments provide further details about the 
main components of the estimated impact as at 1 January 
2018:

Investment securities
As at 1 January 2018, the Group made some key presump-
tions to determine whether the 12-month ECL or the life-
time ECL had to be used as a basis for calculation of the 
impairment allowance. The Group has assumed that credit 
risk had not increased significantly if an investment security 
was identified as “low credit risk”. An example of invest-
ment security that had a low credit risk is one that has an 
external “investment grade” rating. The method that the 
Group used for ECL is mainly based on a combination of 
the following factors: probability of default (PD), loss given 
default (LGD), exposure at default (EAD) and discounting. 
Probabilities of default (PD) are based on historical data and 
quantitative estimates supplied by third parties. Loss given 
defaults (LGD) parameters are estimated through the use of 
the standard supervisory rules set by Basel Committee on 
Banking Supervision (e.g. 45% for unsecured transactions 
and 75% for subordinated exposures). The starting point is  
the use of a 45% LGD value for most unsecured transac-
tions, with a higher LGD (75%) applied to subordinated ex-
posures. The Group plans to monitor changes in credit risk 
by tracking market indicators (such as published external 
ratings, CDS prices, credit component in bond yields and 
stock prices) as well as a number of fundamental indicators.

Due from banks
The deposits are held with banks and financial institutions 
counterparties which are generally rated as “investment 
grade”. The estimated impairment was calculated based 
on the 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short 
maturities of the exposures. The Group used a similar ap-
proach for assessment of ECLs for "Due from banks" than 
those used for "Investment securities".

Loans
Because most of the loans are essentially composed of 
Lombard and other secured exposures to clients, the Group 
considered a simplified approach for the handling of the 
margin loans as appropriate. This approach is driven by the 
fact that those types of portfolios are subject to specific 
risk monitoring processes, such as daily monitoring, hair-
cuts to reflect collateral risk, margin calls, closeout pro-
cesses and stress testing to simulate market events. For 
Lombard loans, the Group has determined that a significant 
increase in credit risk has no effect. ECL on these positions 
is expected to be low. The period over which the Group is 
exposed to credit risk is limited to the period needed to 
execute any credit risk mitigation actions. If margin calls are 
not satisfied, the position will be closed out immediately 
with any shortfall generally classified as a stage 3 position.

Impairment loss allowance recognised as at 1 January 2018 gross of tax

in CHF

Cash and balances with central bank –

Treasury bills and other eligible bills –

Due from banks 387,728

Derivative financial instruments –

Trading assets –

Loans 56,627

Investment securities 595,351

Other assets –

Total impairment allowance  
(deducted from respective carrying amounts) 1,039,706

Less: income tax effect (187,141)

Total impairment allowance, net of tax (deducted from equity) 852,565

Notes to the consolidated  
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Hedge accounting
The Group will not adopt the optional IFRS 9 hedge ac-
counting requirements pending completion of the IASB’s 
project on macro hedge accounting strategies.

Disclosures
IFRS 9 will require additional disclosures, in particular for 
ECLs.

Transition
The Group will take advantage of the exemption allowing 
it not to restate comparative information for prior peri-
ods with respect to the classification and measurement 
changes (including impairment). Differences in the carrying 
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting 
from the adoption of IFRS 9 will be recognised in retained 
earnings as at 1 January 2018.

Impact on regulatory capital
The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) has 
issued a consultative document on an interim approach and 
transitional adjustments for the regulatory treatment of 
IFRS 9 impairment allowance provisions. BCBS considers it 
may be appropriate to introduce the following transitional 

adjustments to add back IFRS 9 accounting provisions to 
Tier 2 capital, up to a maximum of 1.25% of risk-weighted 
assets and to implement a transitional model to spread the 
impact on day 1 on CET 1 capital over a specified number 
of years (from three to five years).

FINMA initiated the revision of several bank-related circu-
lars and held a consultation on the matter until the end of 
January 2018. Key changes of the revised FINMA circular 
2013/1 include a straight-line amortisation of the transi-
tion impact until 2022. The mechanics of the transitional 
arrangement would consist of including back the transition 
impact in the CET 1 capital as follows:
− 	  90% until 30 June 2018,
− 	  80% until 31 December 2018,
− 	  70% until 30 June 2019,
− 	  60% until 31 December 2019,
− 	  50% until 30 June 2020,
− 	  40% until 31 December 2020,
− 	  30% until 30 June 2021,
− 	  20% until 31 December 2021,
− 	  10% until 30 June 2022 and 0% afterwards.

Based on this interim guidance, the Group expects the impact on capital ratio to be as follows:

As reported 
as at 31 December 2017

Estimated adjustment 
 due to adoption of IFRS 9 Transitional measures

Estimated ratio 
as at 1 January 2018

Total capital ratio 26.1% (0.1%) 0.1% 26.1%
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25	 Estimated impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)
The estimated impact on Group’s equity is assessed as follows:

As reported as at 31 December 
2017

Estimated adjustment due to 
adoption of IFRS 9

Estimated adjusted opening 
balance as at 1 January 2018

in CHF

Ordinary shares 3,065,634 – 3,065,634

Share premium 35,299,313 – 35,299,313

Share option reserve 1,482,727 – 1,482,727

Other reserve (2,375,800) – (2,375,800)

Treasury shares (29,318,059) – (29,318,059)

Retained earnings 286,994,485 (852,566) 286,141,919

Total equity 295,148,300 (852,566) 294,295,734
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Report of the statutory auditor to the General Meeting of  
Swissquote Group Holding Ltd Gland
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial positions as at 31 December 2017 and the consolidated income 
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consol-
idated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages 10 to 107) give a true and fair view of the consolidated finan-
cial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Swiss Auditing Stan-
dards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss 
audit profession, as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach
Overview

 

 

Materiality

Audit scope

Key audit 
matters

Overall Group materiality: CHF 2'289'000 which represents 5% of profit before tax 
as of 31 December 2017
We concluded full scope audit work at Swissquote Group Holding Ltd and 
Swissquote Bank Ltd both in Gland
Our audit scope therefore addressed 99.8% of the Group’s total assets and 98.8% 
of the Group’s operating income
As key audit matters the following areas of focus have been identified:
�  � Impairment allowance for credit losses on Loans
�  � Goodwill impairment assessment
�  � Holdings in cryptocurrencies

Audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the 
industry in which the Group operates.

As Swissquote Bank Ltd and Swissquote Group Holding Ltd contributed to 99.8% of the Group’s total assets and 98.8% of 
the Group’s operating income, we, as group auditors, carried out full scope audit on those two entities. In addition, we performed 
analytical procedures on other group entities to ensure that any potential risk is identified and addressed. We, at group level, 
audited the consolidation which includes the consolidation adjustments, amongst others employee stock options plan, goodwill, 
tax, equity and intercompany eliminations. We finally validated the compliance of the consolidated financial statements with 
IFRS and Swiss law.
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Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Our audit opinion aims to provide reasonable assur-
ance that the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud 
or error. They are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the 
overall Group materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together 
with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, on the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole.

Overall Group materiality CHF 2'289'000

How we determined it 5% of profit before tax, rounded

Rationale for the materiality  
benchmark applied

We chose profit before tax as the benchmark because, in our view, it is the 
benchmark against which the performance of the Group is most commonly 
measured, and it is a generally accepted benchmark.

We agreed with the Audit & Risk Committee that we would report to them misstatements above CHF 228'900 identified during 
our audit as well as any misstatements below that amount which, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

lmpairment allowance for credit losses on Loans
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Beside the Lombard loans, Leverage Forex credit lines 
and Loans to municipalities granted in the normal course 
of business (see section F1 of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements), the Loans as shown on the face of the balance 
sheet (CHF 278.6 million) also include amounts due from 
clients who went into an unarranged overdraft.

All of those overdrafts are linked to the Swiss Nation-
al Bank decision taken on 15 January 2015 to remove the 
1.20 floor on EUR/CHF which led to a sudden and extreme 
strengthening of the CHF against all major currencies. This 
event of unprecedented magnitude left many clients with a 
negative account balance. 

Since then, the Group seeks to recover the residual 
negative balances by different means. In order to assess the 
foreseeable recovery of such residual balances, the Group 
has clustered the negative balances based on different 
recovery strategies. The assumptions used for estimating 
the potential recovery are reviewed regularly by Executive 
Management and the Board of Directors to reduce any dif-
ferences between the loss estimated and actual loss expe-
rience.

We report the audit of the negative account balances 
as a key audit matter because the parameters to determine 
the level of the impairment allowance for those exposures 

We tested the controls over identification of impaired loans 
and the calculation of allowances for credit losses.

In relation to the negative balances and related provi-
sions, we performed the following procedures:
�  � We inspected the legal and financial assessment per-

formed by the Group. We assessed the assumptions 
used by the management to determine the recoverable 
amounts and compared them with actual amounts re-
coverable on settled cases;

�  � We tested a sample of the data used in the provision 
calculation to supporting evidence and we assessed the 
calculation methodology;

�  � We examined for a sample of clients the correspon-
dence exchanged with the Group (when applicable);

�  � We obtained and analysed the lawyer’s letters who as-
sessed the legal position of the Group and the status of 
the pending lawsuits.

We concluded that management’s accounting for the loan 
impairment allowance is in accordance with IAS 39 “Finan-
cial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.
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are subject to judgement and because of their size. At 31 De-
cember 2017, the Group assessed that the amount of negative 
balances recoverable, and therefore not impaired, was CHF 2.3 
million.

See Consolidated Financial Statements 2017, Section V: Critical 
accounting policies and key sources of uncertainty on pages 37-
38 and Note 4 on page 75.

Goodwill impairment assessment
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The goodwill impairment assessment is considered a key 
audit matter due to the size of goodwill balance (CHF 39 
million) as well as considerable judgment with respect to 
assumptions about calculations of the value in use including 
the future results of the business and the discount rate ap-
plied to future cash flow forecast.

See Consolidated Financial Statements 2017, Section V: 
Critical accounting judgement and key sources of estima-
tion uncertainty on page 37 and Note 6 on pages 79-80.

We performed the following procedures: 
�  � We evaluated the cash flow forecasts included in the dis-

counted cash flow model (used to determine the value in 
use of the goodwill) and the process by which they were 
developed (including verifying the mathematical accura-
cy of the underlying calculations). We also compared the 
forecasts to the latest budget approved by the Board of 
Directors. We found that the forecasts used in the value 
in use calculations were consistent with the Board ap-
proved budget, and that the key assumptions were sub-
ject to oversight by the members of the Board;

�  � We compared the current year actual results (2017) with 
the figures included in the prior year forecast (2016) to 
consider whether any forecasts included assumptions 
that, with hindsight, had been optimistic. We found that 
actual performance was higher than forecast perfor-
mance;

�  � We challenged management’s assumptions on the reve-
nue and discount rate by comparing the cost income ratio 
and the discount rate with comparable institutions which 
are active in the foreign exchange business. We found the 
assumptions to be consistent and in line with our expecta-
tions and the discount rate used by management (7.65%) 
consistent with market data and comparable business;

�  � We re-performed sensitivity analyses around the key as-
sumptions (growth rate and discount rate) to ascertain 
the extent of change in those assumptions that either in-
dividually or collectively would be required for the good-
will to be impaired. We found that significant headroom 
remained between the stress-tested value in use calcula-
tions and the carrying value in the financial statements. In 
particular, we noted that significant headroom remained 
even when a zero terminal growth rate was assumed in 
conjunction with no revenue growth for the first 5 years. 

We concluded that valuation and recognition of the good-
will was in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of assets”.
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Holdings in cryptocurrencies
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We performed the following procedures:
�  � We inspected the legal assessment performed by the 

Group taking into account the Group’s external coun-
sel’s legal analysis as well as the current regulatory guid-
ance including the contractual relationship between the 
Group and its clients that supports Management’s con-
clusion;

�  � We took into consideration the current regulatory and 
accounting framework; it is important to note that the 
rules surrounding accounting for cryptocurrencies might 
be subject to clarification in the future by the relevant 
authorities and therefore might evolve;

�  � We controlled the Group’s internal ledger which allows 
the reconciliation between the cryptocurrencies held 
by the Group on behalf of the clients and the individ-
ual holdings of each client as reflected in their account 
statement;

�  � We ensured that the Group performed a daily reconcili-
ation between the transactions in cryptocurrencies car-
ried out in the market and the orders executed on behalf 
of the individual clients to assess whether each transac-
tion could be attributed to the relevant client.

Based on the above, and on the current regulatory and ac-
counting framework, we concur with Management’s con-
clusion that the clients’ holdings in cryptocurrencies are not 
to be included in the statement of financial positions as at  
31 December 2017.

During 2017, the Group launched a new trading service by 
offering to its clients the opportunity to trade in crypto-
currencies. At the end of 2017, the offer covered five cryp-
tocurrencies which clients can trade against EUR and USD 
currencies.

The accounting rules surrounding the clients’ holdings 
in cryptocurrencies have been a key area of audit focus for 
the current financial statements. 

The key element to consider in the current regulato-
ry and accounting framework relating to cryptocurrencies, 
and which involves significant judgement, is to determine 
whether the cryptocurrencies owned by the clients are seg-
regated from the Group’s assets and therefore should not 
be included in the statement of financial positions as at 31 
December 2017. 

Management’s assessment of this matter considered 
the following items:
�  � the nature of the contractual relationship between the 

Group and its clients including the Group’s external 
counsel’s legal opinion;

�  � the current regulatory and accounting framework;
�  � the Groups’ own internal organisation to be able to seg-

regate the client’s investments in cryptocurrencies from 
the Group’s own assets. 

Based on the above, Management has come to the conclu-
sion that the clients’ holdings in cryptocurrencies are not to 
be included in the statement of financial positions as at 31 
December 2017.

See Consolidated Financial Statements 2017, Section V: 
Critical accounting judgement and key sources of estima-
tion uncertainty on page 38.
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Other information in the annual report
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information comprises all 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone 
financial statements and the remuneration report of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd and our auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual report and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other infor-
mation in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors deter-
mines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss 
law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is located at the website of 
EXPERTsuisse: http://expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-public-companies. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control 
system exists which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements according to the instruc-
tions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Beresford Caloia	 Alain Lattafi
Audit expert	 Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Lausanne, 27 February 2018  
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Notes 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

in CHF

Assets

Cash and banks 256,642 249,632

Receivable from subsidiaries 1 20,229,208 31,803,214

Total current assets 20,485,850 32,052,846

Investment in subsidiaries 2 139,775,956 99,775,956

Subordinated loan to subsidiaries 2 – 40,000,000

Total non-current assets 139,775,956 139,775,956

Total assets 160,261,806 171,828,802

Liabilities and equity

Accrued expenses and deferred income – 765,197

Income tax payable 353,693 266,951

Total short-term liabilities 353,693 1,032,148

Total liabilities 353,693 1,032,148

Equity

Share capital 3 3,065,634 3,065,634

Legal capital reserves

Reserves from capital contributions 4 931,356 7,583,358

Other capital reserves 4 6,109,093 6,109,093

Retained earnings 5 165,555,536 156,629,897

Net profit 13,564,553 11,399,855

Treasury shares 6 (29,318,059) (13,991,183)

Total equity 159,908,113 170,796,654

Total liabilities and equity 160,261,806 171,828,802

The notes on pages 116 to 120 are an integral part of these financial statements
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2017 2016

in CHF

Royalties 8,953,318 7,372,920

Dividend received from subsidiaries 7,187,500 7,187,500

Interest income 298,211 287,745

Other revenues 1,856,459 659,706

Operating expenses (4,243,077) (3,766,678)

Operating profit 14,052,411 11,741,193

Income tax expense (487,858) (341,338)

Net profit 13,564,553 11,399,855

The notes on pages 116 to 120 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Swissquote Group Holding Ltd (the “Company”) was 
formed on 12 August 1999 and is registered in the Can-
ton of Vaud, Switzerland, with headquarters in Gland. 
Swissquote Group Holding Ltd is the parent company of a 
financial group that is active in online financial services, the 
main operating subsidiary being Swissquote Bank Ltd. As 
at 31 December 2017, the Company did not employ more 
than 10 full-time equivalents (2016: no changes).

The shares of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd are listed on 
the Swiss Stock Exchange since 29 May 2000. The ticker is 
SQN, the security number is 1067586 and the ISIN Number 
is CH0010675863.

The main shareholders (pursuant to Swiss Financial Market 
Infrastructure Act FMIA) are (including stock options):

2017 2016

Shares Options Total Shares Options Total

Marc Bürki 12.62% 0.10% 12.72% 12.57% 0.14% 12.71%

Paolo Buzzi 12.63% 0.09% 12.72% 12.57% 0.14% 12.71%

PostFinance AG 5.00% – 5.00% 5.00% – 5.00%

Mario Fontana 4.96% 0.01% 4.97% 4.95% 0.02% 4.97%

Basellandschaftliche Kantonalbank 4.77% – 4.77% 4.77% – 4.77%

Janus Henderson Group plc 3.00% – 3.00%

Windel Investments Ltd
(indirect holder: Georges Butros Mansour) – – – 4.89% 1.37% 6.26%

UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG – – – 3.22% – 3.22%

Acadian Asset Management LLC – – – 3.03% – 3.03%

Treasury shares:

Swissquote Group Holding Ltd 6.94% 2.82%

The statutory financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on 27 February 2018.

The Remuneration Report replaces the information previously contained in the notes to the statutory financial state-
ments pursuant to art. 663b bis of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

Notes to the statutory  
financial statements
General information 
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These statutory financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the provisions on accounting and finan-
cial reporting of the Swiss Code of Obligations (Art. 957 to 
963b CO, effective since 1 January 2013 but applied by the 
Company for the first time for the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2015). According to art. 962 Para. 3 CO, the Company 
does not present additional statutory financial statements in 
accordance with a recognised financial reporting standard.

Foregoing a cash flow statement and additional  
disclosures in the notes
Because consolidated financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with IFRS, the Company has decided, pursuant 
to art. 961d CO, to forego presenting additional informa-
tion on audit fees in the notes as well as a cash flow state-
ment in accordance with the Swiss law.

Where not described below, accounting and valuation 
principles are provided by law.

A	 Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are valued at cost less econom-
ically necessary amortisations.

B	 Treasury shares
Treasury shares are valued at the acquisition price and are de-
ducted from equity in accordance with art. 959a Para. 2 CO. 
Gains and losses on disposal of treasury shares are rec-
ognised in equity (but remain accountable for the determi-
nation of the taxable profit).

C	 Comparatives
Comparative figures, where necessary, are adjusted to con-
form to any changes in presentation in the current year.

Notes to the statutory  
financial statements
Summary of significant accounting policies 
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1	 Receivables from subsidiaries
The current account of CHF 20,229,208 (2016: CHF 31,803,214) is related to cash deposited into a bank account opened 
with Swissquote Bank Ltd.

2	 Investment in subsidiaries and subordinated loan to subsidiaries

Office/country 2017 2016

in CHF

Swissquote Bank Ltd Gland/Switzerland 100.00% 137,560,002 100.00% 97,560,002

Swissquote Trade Ltd Gland/Switzerland 100.00% 238,950 100.00% 238,950

Swissquote Financial Services (Malta) Ltd Mriehel/Malta 99.90% 1,977,004 99.90% 1,977,004

Total as at 31 December 139,775,956 99,775,956

Subordinated loan to subsidiaries
On 8 December 2017, the subordinated loan of CHF 40,000,000 due by Swissquote Bank Ltd was converted into equity 
increasing the investment in subsidiary for the same amount.

Notes to the statutory  
financial statements
Other notes to the statutory financial statements
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3	 Share capital

2017 2016

Ordinary issued share capital

Number of shares in issue 15,328,170 15,328,170

Nominal value of each share (registered shares) 0.20 0.20

Ordinary share capital (CHF) 3,065,634 3,065,634

Unissued share capital (CHF)

Conditional share capital (nominal value) 192,000 192,000

Authorised share capital (nominal value) 362,040 362,040

Shares for members of the Board of Directors
Board members were granted free shares of the Company which are subject to a blocking period. The grants performed on 
behalf of 2016 and 2017 were as follows:

Shares

2017 2016

Number Market value Tax value Number Market value Tax value

Members of the Board 3,437 131,122 110,094 6,494 154,882 130,042

Authorised and conditional share capital
The provision ruling the utilisation of the authorised share 
capital provides that the Board of Directors is authorised 
until 13 May 2018 to increase the share capital of the 
Company by a maximum of CHF 362,040 by issuing no 
more than 1,810,200 new registered shares with a nominal 
value of CHF 0.20. The provision further provides details 
on the capital increase process and exercise of preferen-
tial subscription rights.

The provision ruling the utilisation of the conditional share 
capital provides that the Board of Directors is authorised 
to increase the share capital of the Company by a maxi-
mum of CHF 192,000 by issuing no more than 960,000 
shares. The capital increase may be carried out through 
the exercise of options granted to employees.
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Notes to the statutory  
financial statements
Other notes to the statutory financial statements

5	 Retained earnings

2017 2016

in CHF

Retained earnings 156,629,897 142,743,094

Net profit (previous year) 11,399,855 14,081,134

1 January 168,029,752 156,824,228

Dividend paid on behalf of previous year (1,839,915) –

Realised loss on treasury shares (634,301) (194,331)

31 December 165,555,536 156,629,897

The dividend on behalf of exercice 2016 that was paid in 2017 (CHF 8,491,917) was partially paid out of the retained earn-
ings (CHF 1,839,915) and partially reimbursed from the reserves from capital contibutions (CHF 6,652,002).

6	 Treasury shares

2017 2016

Beginning of the year (shares) 432,744 421,388

Purchase 852,728 36,650

Unit price ranging from CHF 23.82 to 38.55 22.77 to 28.50

Sale (19,479) –

Unit price ranging from CHF 34,93 to 38.42 –

Remittance to optionees/grant of shares (202,218) (25,294)

Unit price ranging from CHF 24.35 to 33.24 23.95 to 25.66

End of the period – 31 December (shares) 1,063,775 432,744

Total cost (CHF) 29,318,059 13,991,183

% of the issued shares 6.94% 2.82%

4	 Legal capital reserves
On 5 March 2015, the Federal Tax Administration confirmed 
to the Company that an amount of CHF 25,182,184 was rec-
ognised as capital contributions. Following the reimburse-
ments performed in previous years, the remaining balance 
as at 31 December 2017 is CHF 653,949 (total balance of 
CHF 931,356). The residual amount of CHF 277,407 consists 
of notary fees and of issuance stamp tax that Federal Tax 
Administration excludes from the scope of capital contri-
butions. Reimbursements from the reserves from capital 

contributions are not subject to Swiss withholding tax and 
to income tax for private individuals living in Switzerland 
who hold the shares as part of their private assets.

The other capital reserves balance of CHF 6,109,093 
consists of CHF 1,485,115 of the legal reserve – general 
under the old accounting law and of CHF 4,623,978 of re-
serves for own shares dissolved in 2015 for the purpose of 
the new Swiss Code of Obligations.
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Proposed appropriation of retained earnings
Proposal of the Board of Directors for appropriation of retained  
earnings and reserves from capital contributions as at 31 December 2017

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting to utilise retained earnings available for appropriation, and 
to reimburse the reserves from capital contributions as follows:

2017

in CHF

Net profit for the year 13,564,553

Retained earnings carried forward 165,555,536

Retained earnings available for appropriation 179,120,089

Allocation of available retained earnings

Available retained earnings as at 31 December 2017 179,120,089

Proposed dividend (CHF 0.86 per share) (13,182,226)

Retained earnings to be carried forward 165,937,863

Reimbursement of reserves from capital contributions

Reserves from capital contributions as at 31 December 2017 931,356

Proposed reimbursement (CHF 0.04 per share) (613,127)

Reserves from capital contributions to be carried forward 318,229

Out of the CHF 931,356, Federal Tax Authorities have confirmed an amount of CHF 653,949 as capital contributions.

Amount of proposed dividend and reimbursement is based on the number of shares issued as at 31 December 2017. How-
ever no distribution is allocated to the treasury shares.
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Report of the statutory auditor to the General Meeting  
of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd Gland
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 De-
cember 2017, income statement and notes for the year then ended, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements (pages 114 to 121) as at 31 December 2017 comply with Swiss law and the 
company’s articles of incorporation. 

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provi-
sions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section 
of our report.

We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss 
audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach

Audit scope
We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial state-
ments. In particular, we considered where subjective judgements were made; for example, in respect of significant ac-
counting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in 
all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters 
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Our audit opinion aims to provide reasonable as-
surance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. 
They are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the 
overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative 
considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures 
and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall materiality CHF 702'000

How we determined it 5% of profit before tax, rounded

Rationale for the materiality  
benchmark applied

We chose profit before tax as the benchmark because, in our view, it is the 
benchmark against which the performance of the entity is most commonly 
measured, and it is a generally accepted benchmark.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements above CHF 70’200 identified during 
our audit as well as any misstatements below that amount which, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.
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Report on key audit matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority
We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the provisions of 
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to con-
tinue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assur-
ance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Au-
diting Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the website of 
EXPERTsuisse: http://expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-public-companies. This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal con-
trol system exists which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions of the 
Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of reserves and available earnings complies with Swiss law and 
the company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Beresford Caloia	 Alain Lattafi

Audit expert	 Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Lausanne, 27 February 2018
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Introduction
Corporate governance is at the heart of a proper business conduct and a central part of the Swissquote Group’s (the 
“Group”) internal organisation. This Corporate Governance Report informs shareholders, prospective investors as well as 
the larger public on the Group’s policies in matters of corporate governance. The Group acts in compliance with the stan-
dards established by the SIX Swiss Exchange Directive on Information relating to Corporate Governance as well as FINMA 
Circular 2017/1 (Corporate governance – Banks).

1	 Group structure and shareholders
1.1	 Group structure
The structure of the Group, which comprises Swissquote Group Holding Ltd and its subsidiaries, is designed to support the 
Group’s operations within an efficient regulatory and tax framework.

Swissquote Group comprises the following active companies as at 31 December 2017:
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Swissquote Group 
Holding Ltd

(Gland,  
Switzerland)

Swissquote Bank 
Ltd

(Gland,  
Switzerland)

<0.1%

>99.9%

Swissquote Ltd
(London, UK)

Swissquote 
Financial Services 

(Malta) Limited
(Mriehel, Malta)

Swissquote MEA 
Ltd

(Dubai, UAE)

Swissquote 
Asia Ltd

(Hong Kong, 
China)

100%

100%100% 100%



Annual Report 2017    Corporate Governance Report 128

1.1	 Group structure (continued)
Swissquote Group Holding Ltd (the “Company”) is 

the listed vehicle of the Group. It was incorporated on 12 
August 1999. Its shares have been listed on SIX Swiss Ex-
change since 29 May 2000 with the symbol SQN, the secu-
rity number 1067586 and the ISIN number CH0010675863. 
As at 31 December 2017, the market capitalisation of the 
Company amounted to approximately CHF 585,000,000. 
Details on the capital are provided in section 2.

Swissquote Bank Ltd (the “Bank”) was incorporated 
on 24 November 2000 and is a bank under the supervision 
of the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA 
(“FINMA”). The main office of the Bank is located in Gland, 
Switzerland, with a branch in Zurich and representative of-
fices in Dubai and Hong Kong. The share capital of the Bank 
amounts to CHF 42,000,000 (7,000,000 registered shares 
with a nominal value of CHF 6).

Swissquote Ltd has been a limited liability company 
incorporated in London since 19 July 2011. Swissquote Ltd 
is an investment company that provides online trading ser-
vices under the supervision of the Financial Conduct Au-
thority (FCA). The share capital of Swissquote Ltd amounts 
to GBP 4,260,100 (4,260,100 ordinary shares with a nomi-
nal value of GBP 1).

Swissquote Asia Ltd has been a limited liability com-
pany incorporated in Hong Kong since 16 January 2012. 
Swissquote Asia Ltd is a licensed corporation under the su-
pervision of the Securities and Futures Commission (SFC), 
from which it was granted a Type 3 licence (Leverage For-
eign Exchange Trading). The share capital of Swissquote 
Asia Ltd amounts to HKD 5,500,000 (5,500,000 registered 
shares with a nominal value of HKD 1).

Swissquote MEA Ltd has been a limited liability company 
incorporated in the Dubai International Financial Center 
(DIFC) since 14 June 2012. Swissquote MEA Ltd has a Cate-
gory 4 licence (Arranging Deals and Custody in Investment) 
and is under the supervision of the Dubai Financial Services 
Authority (DFSA). The share capital of Swissquote MEA 
Ltd amounts to USD 500,000 (500 registered shares with a 
nominal value of USD 1,000).

Swissquote Financial Services (Malta) Limited has 
been a limited liability company incorporated in Malta since 
19 October 2012. Swissquote Financial Services (Malta) 
Limited is an investment services company that operates 
as custodian for European investment funds under both 
a Category 4a and a Category 2 licences from the Malta 
Financial Services Authority (MFSA). The share capital of 
Swissquote Financial Services (Malta) Limited amounts to 
EUR 1,100,000, divided into 1,099,999 Ordinary Class A 
shares with a nominal value of EUR 1 (held by the Company) 
and 1 Ordinary Class B share with a nominal value of EUR 1 
(held by the Bank).

For information on the exact registered addresses of 
each entity of the Group, reference is made to the last pag-
es of the Annual Report. 

Corporate Governance Report
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1.2	 Significant shareholders
Under the Swiss Financial Market Infrastructure Act (FMIA), 
any person holding shares in a company listed in Switzer-
land is required to notify the concerned company and the 
stock exchange, if the holding reaches, falls below or ex-
ceeds the following thresholds: 3%, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 
331/3%, 50%, or 662/3% of the voting rights.

According to the information received by the Company 
and pursuant to section 1.2 of the Annex to the SIX Swiss 
Exchange Directive on Information relating to Corporate 
Governance, the shareholders with an interest in the Com-
pany above 3% as at 31 December 2017 are as follows: 

2017

Shares Options Total

Marc Bürki 12.62% 0.10% 12.72%

Paolo Buzzi 12.63% 0.09% 12.72%

PostFinance AG 5.00% – 5.00%

Mario Fontana 4.96% 0.01% 4.97%

Basellandschaftliche Kantonalbank 4.77% – 4.77%

Janus Henderson Group plc 3.00% – 3.00%

For further information on stock options, reference is made to the Remuneration Report.

The full list of disclosures of shareholdings made in accordance with Art. 120 FMIA is available on the website of SIX Swiss 
Exchange using the following link:

https://www.six-exchange-regulation.com/en/home/publications/significant-shareholders.html
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1.2	 Significant shareholders (continued)
As at 31 December 2017, the issued share capital of the Company consisted of 15,328,170 ordinary registered shares with 
a nominal value of CHF 0.20 each. The shares registered in the share register amounted to 11,543,481 and the Company 
owned 1,063,775 treasury shares. The distribution of the shareholdings in the Company as at 31 December 2017 is reflect-
ed below:
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Further, the registered shareholders as at 31 December 2017 are broken down as follows:

1.3	 Cross-shareholdings
There are no cross-shareholdings.

1  Shares registered in the share register (75.3%)
2  Treasury shares (6.9%) 
3  Other shares not registered in the share register (17.8%)

3

1

2

1  Board members & Executive Management (41.1%)
2  Other registered shareholders (58.9%)

1

2
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2	 Capital structure
2.1	 Capital 
Under Swiss company law, the general meeting of share-
holders (the “General Meeting”) has to approve any change 
in the total number of shares, whether with respect to the 
ordinary share capital or with respect to the creation of 
conditional capital or authorised capital.

As at 31 December 2017, the share capital of the 
Company amounted to CHF 3,065,634 (15,328,170 regis-
tered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.20 each). The 
share capital is fully paid in. The Company itself owned 
1,063,775 treasury shares. Further, a conditional share 
capital amounting to CHF 192,000 and consisting of 
960,000 shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.20 each 
and an authorised capital of CHF 362,040 consisting of 
1,810,200   shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.20 each 
remained outstanding as at 31 December 2017. The con-
ditional capital and the authorised capital amount to a 
maximum of CHF 554,040, which equates to 18.1% of the 
existing share capital.

SIX Swiss Exchange regulations provide that individu-
al shareholdings exceeding 5% (save for, inter alia, certain 
investment funds) are deemed to be a permanent invest-
ment and are therefore to be excluded from the free float. 
In accordance with SIX Swiss Exchange regulations, the free 
float as at 31 December 2017 was 62.81% (2016: 69.86%).

2.2	 Conditional and authorised capital in particular
In this section and in the remainder of the Corporate Gover-
nance Report, the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, 
last amended on 13 May 2016 and applicable as at 31 De-
cember 2017, available at https://en.swissquote.com/com-
pany/investors in the French original version together with an 
English free translation, shall be referred to as the “AoI”.

Art. 4bis of the AoI on the utilisation of the conditional 
capital provides that the Board of Directors of the Company 
(the “Board”) is authorised to increase the share capital of 
the Company by a maximum of CHF 192,000 by issuing no 
more than 960,000 new registered shares with a nominal 
value of CHF 0.20 each. The capital increase may be carried 
out through the exercise of options granted by the Board to 
certain employees of the Company and its group compa-
nies by a maximum of CHF 150,000 through the issuance of 
a maximum of 750,000 new registered shares with a nom-
inal value of CHF 0.20 each. The capital increase may also 
be carried out through the exercise of options granted by 
the Board in connection with the acquisition of a business 
undertaking, parts of a business undertaking or acquisition 
of participations in a business undertaking by a maximum of 

CHF 42,000 through the issuance of a maximum of 210,000 
new registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.20 
each.

Art. 4ter of the AoI governing the utilisation of the au-
thorised capital provides that the Board is authorised until 
13 May 2018 to increase the share capital of the Compa-
ny by a maximum of CHF 362,040 by issuing no more than 
1,810,200 new registered shares with a nominal value of 
CHF 0.20 each. The Board determines the amount of the 
issue, the point in time at which the shares confer a divi-
dend entitlement, the method of payment in full for con-
tributions and the subscription procedure. An increase in 
tranches or a partial increase is permissible. In accordance 
with the modalities laid down by the Board, the amount of 
the increase must be fully paid in. The restrictions on the 
transferability of registered shares set forth in the AoI also 
apply to the new shares.

For further information on the conditional and autho-
rised capital, reference is made to the AoI.
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2.3	 Changes in capital 
The following table summarises the changes in capital that took place within the last three financial years:

Unissued shares

Ordinary shares issued Conditional capital Authorised capital
Total shares issued and 

unissued

Number of shares

As at 1 January 2015 15,328,170 960,000 1,810,200 18,098,370

Exercise of employees’ stock options – – – –

Increase/(decrease) in capital – – – –

As at 31 December 2015 15,328,170 960,000 1,810,200 18,098,370

As at 1 January 2016 15,328,170 960,000 1,810,200 18,098,370

Exercise of employees’ stock options – – – –

Increase/(decrease) in capital – – – –

As at 31 December 2016 15,328,170 960,000 1,810,200 18,098,370

As at 1 January 2017 15,328,170 960,000 1,810,200 18,098,370

Exercise of employees’ stock options – – – –

Increase/(decrease) in capital – – – –

As at 31 December 2017 15,328,170 960,000 1,810,200 18,098,370
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2.4	 Shares and participation certificates 
Pursuant to Art. 5 of the AoI, the Company may issue its 
registered shares in the form of single certificates, global 
certificates or uncertified securities. As at 31 December 
2017, the share capital consisted of 15,328,170 registered 
shares. The share capital of the Company is fully paid in. 
The dividend entitlement depends on the share’s nominal 
value. Each of the Company’s registered shares carries 
one voting right at the General Meeting. Upon request, 
acquirers of registered shares will be entered in the share 
register as shareholders with voting rights if they express-
ly declare that they acquired the registered shares in their 
own name and for their own account. More information is 
provided in sections 2.6 and 6.

The Company does not issue any participation certif-
icates.

2.5	 Dividend-right certificates 
The Company does not issue any dividend-right certifi-
cates.

2.6	 Limitations on transferability and nominee registra-
tions

In accordance with Art. 685a CO and Art. 7 Para. 1 of the AoI, 
the transfer of registered shares is subject to the approval of 
the Board. Upon request, acquirers of registered shares will 

be entered in the share register as shareholders with voting 
rights if they expressly declare that they have acquired the 
registered shares in their own name and for their own account. 
If this requirement is not satisfied, the person in question will 
be entered in the share register as a shareholder without vot-
ing rights. In accordance with Art. 7 Para. 2 of the AoI, the 
Board may reject a request for entry into the share register 
within 20 days.

The AoI do not contain any express provision for 
granting exceptions to this limitation; no such exceptions 
were granted in the year under review. Nominees cannot 
be registered with voting rights; there were no exceptions 
in 2017.

Pursuant to Art. 14 Para. 1 of the AoI, decisions re-
lated to the restrictions on the transferability of registered 
shares can only be made by the General Meeting and re-
quire a qualified majority vote (two thirds of the votes rep-
resented and an absolute majority of the nominal values of 
the shares represented).

2.7	 Convertible bonds and options
The Company does not issue any bonds, convertible bonds 
or warrants.

Information on the Group’s stock option plan is pro-
vided in the Remuneration Report.
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3	 Board of Directors
The Board has the ultimate responsibility for the strategy 
and the management of the Company and for the super-
vision of the Executive Management of the Company (the 
“Executive Management”). Art. 16 Para. 1 of the AoI pro-
vides that the Board must be composed of a minimum of 
three members. As at 31 December 2017, the Board con-
sisted of five members, all non-executive, details of which 
are presented here below.

3.1	 Members of the Board of Directors
At the annual ordinary General Meeting (the “Ordinary 
General Meeting”) of 12 May 2017, the Company’s now 
former member of the Board Adrian Bult did not seek for 
re-election and all five remaining members of the Board 
were re-elected.

Mario Fontana (1946/Swiss national, domiciled in Switzerland)
Chairman of the Board of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd since April 2002 
Chairman of the Board of Swissquote Bank Ltd since April 2004 

Educational Background
1966–1969	 Studies in Mechanical Engineering, ETH, Zurich
1969–1970	 Master of Science Degree in Aerospace Engineering, Georgia Tech, USA

Executive Experience
1970–1977	 Sales Representative and International Account Manager, IBM Switzerland
1977–1980	 Chief Information Officer, Brown Boveri Brazil, Company acquired by ABB
1981–1983	 Country General Manager, Storage Technology Switzerland
1984–1993	 Country General Manager, Hewlett-Packard Switzerland
1993–1995	 General Manager Computer Business, Hewlett-Packard Germany
1995–1997	 General Manager Computer Business, Hewlett-Packard Europe
1997–1999	 General Manager Financial Services worldwide, Hewlett-Packard USA

Previous Board Mandates
1993–2006	 Member of the Board, Büro Fürrer. Company acquired by Lyreco, France
1998–2008	 Member of the Board, Swiss Railways, SBB
1999–2004	 Chairman, Bon Appétit Group. Company acquired by REWE, Germany
2000–2005	 Chairman, Leica Geosystems. Company acquired by Hexagon, Sweden
2000–2003	 Member of the Board, AC Services, Germany
2002–2006	 Member of the Board, Sulzer
2003–2010	 Member of the Board, Inficon
2004–2006	 Chairman, Amazys. Company acquired by X-Rite, USA
2005–2013	 Member of the Board, Dufry
2006–2008	 Member of the Board, X-Rite, USA
2006–2013	 Member of the Board, Hexagon, Sweden
2010–2017	 Chairman, Regent Lighting

Current Board Mandates 
Since 2001 	 Chairman (since 2002), Swissquote Group Holding Ltd
Since 2004	 Chairman, Swissquote Bank Ltd 

Other Activities
Since 2007 	 Investor and Board Member of various start-up companies
Since 2008	 Own family foundation: www.fontana-foundation.org

Mario Fontana has not held official functions or political posts in 2017. With the exception of the above-mentioned activi-
ties, he has no significant business connections with the Company or one of the Company’s subsidiaries.
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Markus Dennler (1956/Swiss national, domiciled in Switzerland)
Member of the Board of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd since March 2005
Vice Chairman of the Board of Swissquote Bank Ltd since May 2015
Chairman of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Educational Background
1982 	 Licentiate in Law, University of Zurich
1984 	 Doctorate in Law, University of Zurich
1986 	 Attorney at Law, admitted to the Bar
1989 	 International Bankers School, New York
1997 	 Harvard Business School, Boston (AMP)

Executive Experience
1986–1994	 Various assignments, Credit Suisse
1994–1996	 Delegate to the Board of Directors, CS Columna
1997–1998	 CEO, Winterthur Columna
1998–2000	 Member of the Corporate Executive Board and Head of Individual and Group Life Division, Winterthur Insurance
2000–2003	 Member of the Executive Board of CSFS and responsible for the operational global life & pensions business, Credit Suisse

Previous Board Mandates
2005–2006	 Chairman, Batigroup
2005–2007	 Chairman, Converium
2006–2013	 Member of the Board, Petroplus
2006–2015	 Chairman (since 2011), Implenia
2007–2010	 Member of the Board, Jelmoli

Current Board Mandates
Since 2003	 Honorary Councillor (since 2016), British Swiss Chamber of Commerce
Since 2005	 Member of the Board, Swissquote Group Holding Ltd
Since 2005	 Vice Chairman (since 2015), Swissquote Bank Ltd
Since 2006	 Chairman (since 2012), Allianz Suisse

Markus Dennler has not held official functions or political posts in 2017. With the exception of the above-mentioned activ-
ities, he has no significant business connections with the Company or one of the Company’s subsidiaries.
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Martin Naville (1959/Swiss national, domiciled in Switzerland)
Member of the Board of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd since April 2007 
Member of the Board of Swissquote Bank Ltd since April 2007 
Member of the Audit & Risk Committee 
Member of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Educational Background
1979–1984	 Master of the Laws, University Zurich

Executive Experience
1985–1988 	 Assistant Treasurer, J.P. Morgan Bank, Zurich/New York
1988–1990	 Consultant, The Boston Consulting Group, Munich 
1990–1992	 Project Leader, The Boston Consulting Group, Zurich
1992–1995	 Manager, The Boston Consulting Group, New York
1995–2004	 Partner and Director, The Boston Consulting Group, Zurich
Since 2004	 CEO, Swiss-American Chamber of Commerce, Zurich

Current Board Mandates 
Since 2002	 Chairman (since 2004), Zoo Zurich Inc.
Since 2007 	 Member of the Board, Swissquote Group Holding Ltd
Since 2007	 Member of the Board, Swissquote Bank Ltd 

Martin Naville has not held official functions or political posts in 2017. With the exception of the above-mentioned activi-
ties, he has no significant business connections with the Company or one of the Company’s subsidiaries.
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Jean-Christophe Pernollet (1966/French national, domiciled in Switzerland)
Member of the Board of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd since May 2015
Member of the Board of Swissquote Bank Ltd since November 2014
Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee

Educational Background
1986	 Bachelor of Science in Economics and Politics, Institut d’Etudes Politiques, Grenoble 
1986	 Institute of European Studies, Hull
1990	 Master in Management, EDHEC Business School, Lille
2002	 Senior Executive program, Columbia Business School, New York

Executive Experience
1990–1993	 Deloitte & Touche, Paris, France, Audit
1993–2010	 PricewaterhouseCoopers: 
	 1993–1997	 Audit, Geneva
	 1997–1999	 since 1998 Senior Manager, Audit, New York
	 1999–2010	 since 2001 Partner and Business Unit Leader, Audit, Geneva
2010–2012	 EFG International AG, Chief Financial Officer
Since 2012	 Edmond de Rothschild, Switzerland:
	 2012–May 2015	 Group Chief Financial Officer, then Chief Audit Executive
	 Since June 2015	 Group Chief Risk Officer

Previous Board Mandates
2010–2012	 Member of the Audit & Risk Committee, EFG Private Bank Ltd, London
2013–2014	 Member of the Board, Edmond de Rothschild (Europe), Luxembourg

Current Board Mandates
Since 2014	 Swissquote Bank Ltd, Member of the Board
Since 2015	 Swissquote Group Holding Ltd, Member of the Board
Since 2015	 Chairman of the Board, Edmond de Rothschild Real Estate SICAV, 
Since 2015	 Member of the Board and Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee, Edmond de Rothschild Asset Management 

(Switzerland) Ltd
Since 2015	 Chairman of the Board, Edmond de Rothschild Pension Fund 

Jean-Christophe Pernollet has not held official functions or political posts in 2017. With the exception of the above-men-
tioned activities, he has no significant business connections with the Company or one of the Company’s subsidiaries.
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Dr Beat Oberlin (1955/Swiss national, domiciled in Switzerland)
Member of the Board of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd since May 2016
Member of the Board of Swissquote Bank Ltd since May 2016
Member of the Audit & Risk Committee

Educational Background
1979	 Licentiate in Law, University of Basel
1982	 Attorney at Law and notary, admitted to the Bar
1989	 Doctorate in Law, University of Basel
1999	 Stanford Business School, Stanford CA, Senior Executive

Executive Experience
1982–1994	 Various assignments, SBG
1994–2004	 Head of Retail and Head of Corporate Clients, Chief of Staff, Head of market and sales management, Business Banking, 

UBS, Switzerland 
2004	 Designated CEO, Basellandschaftliche Kantonalbank
2005–2016	 Chairman of the Executive Board, Basellandschaftliche Kantonalbank

Previous Board Mandates
2005–2016	 Member of the Board, Association of Swiss Cantonal Banks
2005–2016	 Member of the Board, Basel Bank Association

Current Board Mandates
Since 2011	 Member of the Board, St. Clara Spital Group
Since 2013	 Member of the panel of experts appointed by the Federal Council for the "Advancement of Financial Centre Strategy" and 

its successor "Advisory Board for the Future of the Financial Center"
Since 2016 	 Member of the Board, Swissquote Group Holding Ltd
Since 2016	 Member of the Board, Swissquote Bank Ltd
Since 2018	 Vice President of the Board, University of Basel

Dr Beat Oberlin has not held official functions or political posts in 2017. With the exception of the above-mentioned 
activities, he has no significant business connections with the Company or one of the Company's subsidiaries.
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3.2	 Other activities and vested interests
None of the Board members has activities or vested inter-
ests (as defined in the SIX Swiss Exchange regulations) oth-
er than the ones described in section 3.1.

3.3	 Number of permitted activities
Pursuant to Art. 16 Para. 4 of the AoI, the number of man-
dates held in superior governing or administrative bodies of 
legal entities outside the Company and its affiliates, which 
must be registered with the Swiss Commercial Register or a 
comparable foreign register, is limited for members of the 
Board to fifteen mandates held in business undertakings, 
a maximum of four of which may be in listed companies, 
and to five mandates held in other legal entities such as 
foundations and associations. Mandates held in different 
legal entities of one and the same single group of compa-
nies or mandates on behalf of a group or legal entity shall 
be counted as one mandate. Limits may be exceeded for a 
short-term period of time, but by no more than one third of 
the number of permitted mandates per above-mentioned 
category.

3.4	 Elections and terms of office
The Board must have a minimum of three members elect-
ed at the General Meeting of Shareholders. According to 
Art. 16 Para. 2 of the AoI, the members of the Board are 
elected individually for a term of office that finishes at the 
end of the next Ordinary General Meeting. Re-election is 
permitted. New members of the Board appointed during a 
term of office can only be elected to serve until the end of 
that term. The chairperson is elected at the Ordinary Gen-
eral Meeting until the next Ordinary General Meeting.

The Board has always been composed of non-execu-
tive members. The Board acts at the same time as the Board 
of Directors of the Bank.

The time of the first election of the current Board 
members is mentioned in section 3.1.

3.5 	 Internal organisational structure
3.5.1 Generalities
The operating of a bank in Switzerland requires, inter alia, 
a proper organisation and a clear segregation between the 
duties and responsibilities of the Board and those of the Ex-
ecutive Management.

The Group’s internal regulation framework consists of a co-
hesive set of by-laws, policies and regulations that is organ-
ised with respect to the level of competence required for 
adopting new regulations and/or amending existing ones. 
The various levels of competence are the following:
− 	  Both the General Meeting and FINMA;
− 	  The General Meeting;
− 	  Both the Board and FINMA;
− 	  The Board;
− 	  The Executive Management; and
− 	  The Management.

The level of competence for making decisions in the Com-
pany (including according to levels of financial materiality) 
is set forth in the Organisation Regulations and other inter-
nal regulations and is summarised in the Regulation relating 
to responsibilities and financial powers.

After each Ordinary General Meeting, where all Board 
members and the Chairman are elected, the Board appoints 
its Secretary. The Board may form one or several advisory 
committees, which consist of members of the Board. The 
Committees are in charge of proposing board resolutions 
to the full Board with respect to specific matters. In 2017, 
there were two such Committees at the level of the Group: 
the Audit & Risk Committee and the Nomination & Remu-
neration Committee. Such Committees must report to the 
Board on a regular basis, but at least once per quarter for 
the Audit & Risk Committee and twice a year for the Nom-
ination & Remuneration Committee. Further, certain func-
tions of the Board are delegated to the Chairman.

New Board members are introduced to their new 
function through a specific programme including presen-
tations of the firmwide considerations by the Executive 
Management and presentations by the Managers of each 
department.
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3.5.1 Generalities (continued)
The Board meets as often as required, but at least four times 
a year. The Board and the Committees plan and coordinate 
their activities in accordance with a yearly planning sched-
ule that covers all matters requiring the Board’s attention 
and thus ensures that the Board’s activity is compliant with 
applicable laws and regulations.

In 2017, the Board met ten times (six physical meet-
ings and four conference calls), out of which one meeting 
was a strategy session and another meeting the so-called 
Annual Conference on Risks (see section 3.7). In average, 
a physical meeting lasts for four to five hours and a con-
ference call lasts for one to two hours. The Executive Man-
agement attended all the meetings. On various occasions, 
decisions were taken by means of circular resolutions and 
ratified at the next Board meeting.

3.5.2 Functions of the Board of Directors
The Board acts as the ultimate direction of the Company 
and has the power to decide on all matters that are not 
vested in the General Meeting or in any other body by law 
or pursuant to the AoI or the Organisation Regulations. It is 
the Board’s responsibility to perform, inter alia, the follow-
ing functions:
− 	  Define the strategy and the objectives of the Com-

pany and approve the implementation or cessation of 
business activities;

− 	  Establish the overall organisation and, in particular, 
approve the organisation chart of the Group based on 
the proposal of the Executive Management;

− 	  Decide on the appointment, suspension and dismissal 
of the Executive Management and of the other signa-
tories of the Company;

− 	  Appoint the Chairmen of the Committees;
− 	  Based on the proposal of the Nomination & Remuner-

ation Committee, submit to the General Meeting pro-
posals of maximum aggregate amounts of remunera-
tion for the Board and the Executive Management and 
decide, within the framework of the General Meet-
ing’s resolutions, on the remuneration of the Board 
and the Executive Management;

− 	  Based on proposals of the Audit & Risk Committee, de-
termine the applicable accounting standards, the prin-
ciples governing the internal control system (including 
for what regards the financial control), the financial 
planning and the financial disclosure policy, as well as 
approve the capital planning and the annual budget;

− 	  Approve the Annual Financial Statements and regular 
interim financial reporting prior to their disclosure and 
after clearance by the Audit & Risk Committee;

− 	  Prepare the Annual Report, the Corporate Gover-
nance Report and the Remuneration Report;

− 	  Prepare the General Meeting (including the invita-
tion to the General Meeting) and execute the General 
Meeting’s resolutions;

− 	  Decide on the nomination, renewal or dismissal of the 
auditors and of the internal auditor;

− 	  Supervise the Executive Management, in particular 
with regard to compliance with laws, the AoI, the in-
ternal regulations and the Board’s instructions;

− 	  Approve the organisation of the risk management and 
the key risk management principles, which must be 
appropriate to the size, the complexity and the risk 
profile of the Group;

− 	  Pass resolutions in connection with a capital increase 
pursuant to Art. 651a, 652g and 653g CO and make 
decisions pursuant to Art. 634a Para. 1 CO (contri-
butions on shares not fully paid in) and 651 Para. 4 
CO (increase of share capital in the case of authorised 
capital);

− 	  Approve mass dismissal of employees pursuant to 
Art. 335d CO or similar foreign regulations;

− 	  Approve those matters for which the Executive Man-
agement has to seek approval by the Board, in partic-
ular through the approval of internal regulations; and

− 	  Notify the competent authority in case of over-in-
debtedness.

The Board’s approval is also required for specific transac-
tions that do not fall under the ordinary business activities 
and/or which financially exceed defined thresholds.

Board members may not act alone on behalf of the 
Company and may not give instructions on their own, ex-
cept where the AoI, the internal regulations or a resolution 
of the Board provide otherwise.

3.5.3 Functions delegated to the Chairman
The Chairman performs, inter alia, the following functions: 
− 	  Chair the meetings of the Board and the General 

Meeting; and
− 	  Represent the Board vis-à-vis the public at large, pub-

lic officials and the shareholders.
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3.5.4	Rules governing decisions
The majority of members shall be present for the Board to 
be quorate. Resolutions of the Board are passed by a major-
ity of the votes cast by the members present. In the event 
of a tie, the Chairman has the casting vote. For decisions 
that are taken in relation to a capital increase (ordinary, 
conditional or authorised increase), including the related 
modifications of the AoI, the quorum is also achieved when 
a single member of the Board is present.

For further information on quorum and decisions, ref-
erence is made to the AoI (in particular Art. 17).

3.5.5	Audit & Risk Committee
Board members on the Committee: Jean-Christophe Per-
nollet (Chairman), Martin Naville and Beat Oberlin.

The Audit & Risk Committee’s primary function is to 
assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities de-
fined by law, the AoI, internal regulations or otherwise with 
respect to financial reporting and risk management. The 
Audit & Risk Committee has no decision-making powers. It 
only acts in an advisory or preparatory capacity.

In terms of financial reporting, the oversight respon-
sibilities of the Audit & Risk Committee include, inter alia, 
the following:
− 	  Monitor and assess the overall integrity of the finan-

cial statements;
− 	  Monitor the adequacy of the financial accounting, fi-

nancial planning and reporting processes and the ef-
fectiveness of internal controls over financial report-
ing;

− 	  Monitor processes designed to ensure compliance by 
the Group and its entities in all significant respects 
with legal and regulatory requirements, including dis-
closure controls and procedures, and the impact (or 
potential impact) of developments related thereto;

− 	  Make recommendations to the Board as to the appli-
cation of accounting standards;

− 	  Inform the Board of the result of the above-mentioned 
tasks and make a recommendation as to whether the 
financial statements should be submitted to the Gen-
eral Meeting;

− 	  Monitor and assess the qualifications, independence 
and performance of the auditors and their interac-
tions with the internal auditor; and

− 	  Review the risk analysis, the audit plan and all reports 
from the auditors and supervise the actions taken by 
the Executive Management following the audit re-
sults.

In terms of risk management, the oversight responsibilities 
of the Audit & Risk Committee include, inter alia, the fol-
lowing: 
− 	  Assess, at least annually, the Group’s risk manage-

ment framework (in particular the risk capacity, the 
risk appetite and the risk tolerance), make corre-
sponding recommendations to the Board and ensure 
that necessary changes are made;

− 	  Monitor and assess the risk management framework, 
including the internal control systems of the Company 
and of the Bank;

− 	  Oversee that the Executive Management has iden-
tified and assessed all the significant risks that the 
Group and its entities face and has established a risk 
management infrastructure capable of addressing 
those risks;

− 	  Oversee, in conjunction with the Board and, where 
applicable, other board-level committees, risks, such 
as strategic, credit, market, liquidity, operational, 
reputational and other risks;

− 	  Assess the Group’s capital and liquidity planning and 
report to the Board;

− 	  Monitor and assess the qualifications, independence 
and performance of the internal auditor; 

–	 Review the internal auditor’s risk assessment, audit 
plans and all their reports and supervise the actions 
taken by the Management following the audit results; 
and

− 	  Make recommendations to the Board as to the nomi-
nation, renewal or dismissal of the auditors and of the 
internal auditor.

The Audit & Risk Committee meets at least once per quar-
ter. In 2017, it met five times (three physical meetings and 
two conference calls). The length of the meetings ranged 
from 30 minutes to two hours. At each meeting held in 
2017, the Executive Management was present. The internal 
auditors were present at three physical meetings and at one 
conference call. The auditors were present at three physical 
meetings (once by conference call) and at one conference 
call. The other Board members attended the meetings as 
well. No external counsels attended the meetings.
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3.5.6	Nomination & Remuneration Committee
Board members on the Committee: Markus Dennler (Chair-
man) and Martin Naville. 

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee meets 
at least twice a year. In 2017, it met six times (four physi-
cal meetings and two conference calls). The average length 
of the meetings was one hour. The Executive Management 
was present at all meetings, except where there was a re-
view of their personal situation. The other Board members 
attended the meetings as well. No external counsels at-
tended the meetings.

Further details on the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee are provided in the Remuneration Report.

3.6	 Definition of areas of responsibility
All executive functions within the Group not reserved to the 
Board or to the Chairman are delegated to the Executive 
Management. The Executive Management is responsible 
for the implementation of the business strategies approved 
by the Board and for the compliance of the operations with 
the risk management policies approved by the Board. Fur-
ther, the Executive Management ensures the maintenance 
and development of a corporate framework in line with the 
corporate values approved by the Board. The Executive 
Management is accountable to the Board for the Compa-
ny’s results.

The Executive Management in particular has the re-
sponsibility to perform the following functions:
− 	  Implement the strategy decided by the Board and ex-

ecute its decisions and instructions;
− 	  Prepare the items to be discussed by the Board;
− 	  Ensure that the internal organisation of the Company 

meets the needs of its business activities and its de-
velopment; 

–	 Propose the organisation chart to the Board;
− 	  Hire the employees and set their employment condi-

tions according to the guidelines issued by the Board;
− 	  Prepare the list of signatories for Board approval;
− 	  Supervise accounting, financial control and financial 

planning;
− 	  Prepare the budget for Board approval;

− 	  Prepare the reporting to the attention of the Board;
− 	  Prepare the financial statements for Board approval 

and publish them;
− 	  Ensure compliance with laws and regulations, in par-

ticular for what regards capital adequacy require-
ments, liquidity, risk diversification and privileged 
deposits and monitor the related developments;

− 	  Delegate competences to committees; and
− 	  Draft the internal regulations for Board approval.

The delegation process to the Management (i.e. the “di-
recteurs” and “vice-directeurs”) is documented in the in-
ternal regulations and the Board has an overview of the 
delegation process through the summary provided in the 
Regulation relating to responsibilities and financial pow-
ers.

The following business functions report to:
− 	  Marc Bürki:	  

eForex Trading & Market Strategy / Marketing / Sales 
eTrading Private Clients & Partners / Sales HQ

− 	  Paolo Buzzi:	  
Back Office & Banking Applications / Information 
Technology & Security / Product Development / Proj-
ect Management / Quantitative Asset Management / 
Software Development

− 	  Michael Ploog:	  
Assets & Liabilities Management & Treasury / Cus-
tomer Care / Facility Management / Finance, Report-
ing & Tax / Trading

–	 Morgan Lavanchy:
	 Legal & Compliance
–	 Gilles Chantrier:
	 Controlling & Risk
− 	  Executive Management:	 

Human Resources / all foreign entities

The Executive Management is further assisted by commit-
tees consisting of members of the General Management 
that carry out coordination and reporting functions and 
make recommendations to the Executive Management. 
At least one member of the Executive Management sits in 
each committee.
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3.7	 Information and control instruments vis-à-vis the 
Executive Management

The Group operates a comprehensive management infor-
mation system that provides the Executive Management 
with all data required to manage and control the business 
and to report relevant information to the Board.

The Board periodically reviews the nature of the re-
porting prepared by the Executive Management and the 
frequency of the respective reports. The reporting may be 
summarised as follows:

− 	  Quarter 1 and 3 reporting includes a full set of con-
densed consolidated interim financial statements 
(established for internal purposes only), as well as a 
financial report examining the key financial matters, 
including budgets, and capital management issues. A 
risk and compliance report summarises the key risk is-
sues, new or amendments to internal regulations that 
require Board approval, and assesses the changes in 
the legislative and regulatory environment. Further-
more, the Board receives summary reports on key hu-
man resources and remuneration issues as well as an 
update on important projects, statistics on revenue 
developments and comments on the operations and 
the business environment;

− 	  Half-yearly reporting covers the same scope as the 
quarter 1 and 3 reporting, except that an interim stat-
utory balance sheet and income statement is provid-
ed in addition to the condensed consolidated interim 
financial statements. This latter document is reviewed 
by the auditors and serve as basis for the half-year 
press release; and

− 	  Yearly reporting covers the same scope as the half-
year reporting and includes the audited consolidated 
and statutory financial statements.

Once a year, the Board organises a conference dedicated 
to an in-depth review of the risks, internal control systems 
and risk management processes (the “Annual Conference 
on Risks”). The Executive Management and the respective 
heads of Finance, Reporting & Tax, Information Technology 
& Security and Assets & Liabilities Management & Treasury 
provide the Board with their own risk assessment and their 
recommendations with respect to the enhancement of the 
internal control systems and risk management processes.

Ad hoc reporting is addressed to the Board when re-
quired by the circumstances or upon request by the Board. 
Further, the Executive Management must immediately re-
port to the Board material matters outside the ordinary 
course of business.

The Executive Management attends all meetings of the 
Board and of the Committees, unless otherwise requested 
by the Board or the concerned Committees.

The function of internal auditor, reporting directly 
and independently to the Board of Directors of the Bank, 
is outsourced to BDO SA, Geneva, which is a member of 
the Institute of Internal Auditing Switzerland. The duties 
of the internal auditor are governed by the Ordinance on 
Banks and Savings Banks, FINMA Circular 2017/1 (Corpo-
rate governance – Banks) and the applicable internal reg-
ulations. The internal auditor analyses the compliance of 
business activities with legal and regulatory requirements 
and applicable internal regulations. The internal auditor car-
ries out the audit plan approved by the Board and reports 
its significant findings and recommendations in writing. It 
also executes ad hoc missions and investigations upon re-
quest of the Board. The internal auditor provides the Board 
with a specific half-year summary report that reviews, inter 
alia, the progress made by the Company in implementing 
the recommendations made in earlier reports and includes 
relevant information with respect to the execution of the 
audit plan. The internal auditor participates in the Annual 
Conference on Risks and provides the Board with its own 
assessment of the risks, internal control systems and risk 
management processes. The Board formally takes note of 
the reports of the internal auditor and reviews the conclu-
sions and comments made by the Audit & Risk Committee, 
which examines the reports in detail.

The Bank is responsible for performing consolidated 
supervision functions which cannot be performed at the 
level of the Company or at the level of its entities, because 
the necessary organs or systems are not available at the 
level of these entities.

In terms of risk management, the Company complies, 
inter alia, with the requirements of FINMA Circular 2017/1 
(Corporate governance – Banks) and maintains an exten-
sive risk management regulations framework which ad-
dresses risks related to a banking activity (credit risk, mar-
ket risk, interest risk, operational risk, reputation risk, etc.).
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4 	 Executive Management
4.1 	 Members of the Executive Management
As at 31 December 2017, the Executive Management con-
sisted of Marc Bürki, Chief Executive Officer, Paolo Buzzi, 
Chief Technology Officer, Michael Ploog, Chief Financial 
Officer, Morgan Lavanchy, Chief Legal Officer, and Gilles 

Chantrier, Chief Risk Officer. Marc Bürki and Paolo Buzzi 
are founding shareholders of the Company and are major 
shareholders as at 31 December 2017.
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Marc Bürki (1961/Swiss national, domiciled in Switzerland)
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd and Swissquote Bank Ltd
Founding partner of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd

Educational Background
1982–1987 	 Degree in Electrical Engineering, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (EPFL), Lausanne

Professional Experience
1987–1990	 Telecommunication Specialist, European Space Agency, Nordweijk, Netherlands
1990–2002	 Co-Managing Director, Marvel Communications Ltd
Since 1999	 Chief Executive Officer, Swissquote Group Holding Ltd
Since 2002	 Chief Executive Officer, Swissquote Bank Ltd

Current Board Mandates
Since 2012	 Chairman of the Board, Swissquote MEA Ltd, Dubai, UAE
Since 2014	 Chairman of the Board, Swissquote Ltd, London, UK
Since 2014	 Chairman of the Board, Swissquote Asia Ltd, Hong Kong
Since July 2016	 Member of the Board, ETH Domain, Bern

Paolo Buzzi (1961/Swiss national, domiciled in Switzerland)
Chief Technology Officer (CTO) of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd and Swissquote Bank Ltd
Founding partner of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd

Educational Background
1983–1988 	 Degree in Micro-Engineering, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (EPFL), Lausanne

Professional Experience
1988–1990	 Software Engineer and New Technology Integration Engineer, Rolm Systems, Santa Clara, USA
1990–2000	 Co-Managing Director, Marvel Communications SA
2000–2002	 Chief Executive Officer, Swissquote Info SA
Since 1999	 Chief Technology Officer, Swissquote Group Holding Ltd
Since 2002	 Chief Technology Officer, Swissquote Bank Ltd

Current Board Mandates
Since 2002	 Chairman of the Board, Swissquote Trade Ltd, Gland, Switzerland
Since 2012	 Member of the Board, Swissquote MEA Ltd, Dubai, UAE
Since 2012	 Chairman (2012-March 2015: Vice Chairman), Swissquote Financial Services (Malta) Limited, Mriehel, Malta
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Michael Ploog (1960/Swiss national, domiciled in Switzerland)
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd and Swissquote Bank Ltd

Educational Background
1980–1983 	 Hautes Etudes Commerciales (HEC), University of Lausanne
1986–1990	 Swiss Certified Public Accountant, Swiss Institute of Certified Public Accountant, Lausanne

Professional Experience
1983–1985	 Chair of Financial and Cost Accounting, Graduate Teaching Assistant, University of Lausanne
1986–1998	 Deloitte (since 1995), Senior Manager
	 1986–1994 	 Audit, Geneva
	 1994–1996 	 Corporate Finance, London
	 1996–1998 	 Management Advisory Services, Lausanne
1998–1999	 Senior Manager Transaction Services Group & Corporate Finance PricewaterhouseCoopers, Lausanne
Since 1999	 Chief Financial Officer, Swissquote Group Holding Ltd
Since 2000	 Chief Financial Officer, Swissquote Bank Ltd

Current Board Mandates
Since 1999	 Member of the Board, Swissquote Trade Ltd, Gland, Switzerland
Since 2012	 Vice Chairman of the Board, Swissquote MEA Ltd, Dubai, UAE

Other Mandates
Since 1999	 Secretary of the Board, Swissquote Group Holding Ltd
Since 2006	 Secretary of the Board, Swissquote Bank Ltd
Since 2010	 Chairman, Foundation Swissquote 3rd Pillar
Since 2012	 Member of the Selection Committee, FIT – Fondation pour l’Innovation Technologique

Morgan Lavanchy (1979/Swiss national, domiciled in Switzerland)
Chief Legal Officer (CLO) of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd and Swissquote Bank Ltd

Educational Background
1997–2002	 Master of Laws, Law School, University of Neuchâtel
2002–2004	 Master of Advanced Studies (LL.M.) in Business Law, Law School, Universities of Lausanne and Geneva
2011	 Certificate DIFC Rules & Regulations, Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment

Professional Experience
2003–2006	 Legal Officer, Swissquote Bank Ltd
2006–2016	 Head Legal & Compliance, Swissquote Bank Ltd
Since 2017	 Chief Legal Officer, Swissquote Group Holding Ltd/Swissquote Bank Ltd

Mandates
Since 2010	 Secretary, Foundation Swissquote 3rd Pillar
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4.2	 Other activities and vested interests
None of the members of the Executive Management has 
activities and vested interests (as defined in the SIX Swiss 
Exchange regulations) other than the ones described in sec-
tion 4.1.

4.3	 Number of permitted activities
Pursuant to Art. 16 Para. 4 of the AoI, the number of man-
dates held in superior governing or administrative bodies of 
legal entities outside the Company and its affiliates, which 
must be registered with the Swiss Commercial Register or 
a comparable foreign register, is limited for members of 
the Executive Management to four mandates held in busi-

ness undertakings, a maximum of one of which may be in 
a listed company, and to five mandates held in other legal 
entities such as foundations and associations. Mandates 
held in different legal entities of one and the same single 
group of companies or mandates on behalf of a group or a 
legal entity shall be counted as one mandate. Limits may be 
exceeded for a short-term period of time, but by no more 
than one third of the number of permitted mandates per 
above-mentioned category.

4.4	 Management contracts
The Company has not entered into management contracts 
with third parties.
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Gilles Chantrier (1972/Swiss and French national, domiciled in Switzerland)
Chief Risk Officer (CRO) of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd and Swissquote Bank Ltd

Educational Background
1997–2000	 Bachelor – B.Sc. in Economics, School of Business Administration (HEG), Lausanne
2016	 Risk Management in Banking, Institut européen d'administration des affaires (INSEAD), Fontainebleau

Professional Experience
1995–1997	 Accountant, Infogest SA
2000–2002	 Deputy Head Accounting, Swissquote Bank Ltd
2002–2003	 Head Backoffice, Swissquote Bank Ltd
2003–2005	 Head Internal Controlling, Swissquote Bank Ltd
2005–2013	 Head Reporting & Controlling, Swissquote Bank Ltd
2014–2016	 Head Controlling & Risk, Swissquote Bank Ltd
Since 2017	 Chief Risk Officer, Swissquote Group Holding Ltd/Swissquote Bank Ltd

Current Board Mandates
Since 2014	 Member of the Board, Swissquote Ltd, United Kingdom
Since 2014	 Member of the Board, Swissquote MEA Ltd, Dubai, UAE
Since 2014	 Member of the Board, Swissquote Asia Ltd, Hong Kong

Other Mandates
Since 2010	 Member of the Board, Foundation Swissquote 3rd Pillar
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5	 Remuneration, shareholding and loans
Details on the remuneration, shareholding and loans are 
provided in the Remuneration Report.

6	 Shareholders’ participation 
6.1	 Generalities
Shareholders in Swiss corporations limited by shares have 
extended protective and participatory rights. Protective 
rights include the right of inspection and information (Art. 
696, 697 CO), the right to a special audit (Art. 697a CO), 
the right to call a General Meeting (Art. 699 Para. 3 CO), 
motion rights (Art. 699 Para. 3 CO), the right of challenging 
resolutions of the General Meeting (Art. 706 CO) and the 
right to instigate liability proceedings (Art. 752 ff CO). Par-
ticipatory rights primarily include the right to participate 
in General Meetings of Shareholders, the right to express 
an opinion and voting rights (Art. 694 CO). The Ordinance 
against Excessive Compensation in Listed Corporations 
comprises additional rights for the shareholders, such as 
with respect to the election of the independent proxy, 
whose term of office ends at the next Ordinary General 
Meeting. For further information on this ordinance, refer-
ence is made to the Remuneration Report. 

The General Meeting is the highest body of the Com-
pany. It has the following non-transferable powers to:
− 	  Establish and amend the AoI;
− 	  Annually elect the members of the Board, the Chair-

man of the Board, the members of the Remuneration 
Committee, the independent proxy and the auditors;

− 	  Approve the Annual Report and the Consolidated 
Financial Statements;

− 	  Approve the Annual Financial Statements and adopt 
resolutions concerning the allocation of the dispos-
able profit, in particular set the dividend as well as the 
profit-sharing bonus;

− 	  Discharge the members of the Board;
− 	  Approve the remuneration of the Board and the Exec-

utive Management in accordance with Art. 14bis of the 
AoI; and

− 	  Pass resolutions on all matters reserved to it by law or 
the AoI.

For further information on the General Meeting, reference 
is made to the AoI (in particular Art. 9, 10 and 11).

6.2	 Voting-rights and representation restrictions
Pursuant to Art. 12 of the AoI, every person duly entered 
in the share register as a shareholder with voting rights is 
entitled to exercise the rights attached to the registered 
shares. Shareholders may have their shares represented 
at the General Meeting by a legal representative or, with 
a written power of attorney, by a third party, who is not 
required to be a shareholder of the Company. The Board 
shall decide on the requirements regarding powers of attor-
ney and instructions; powers of attorney without qualified 
electronic signatures may also be recognised. The final de-
cision on the validity of powers of attorney rests with the 
Chairman of the Board.

Pursuant to Art. 7 of the AoI, upon request, acquir-
ers of registered shares will be entered in the share register 
as shareholders with voting rights if they expressly declare 
that they have acquired the registered shares in their own 
name and for their own account. If this requirement is not 
satisfied, the person in question will be entered in the share 
register as a shareholder without voting rights. The AoI do 
not contain any express provisions for granting exceptions 
to this limitation.

The AoI do not contain any provisions on abolishing 
voting-rights restrictions; the general rules of the Swiss 
Code of Obligations apply.

Specific rules on the issue of instructions to the in-
dependent proxy or on the electronic participation in the 
General Meeting are set by the Board and communicated to 
shareholders in the invitation to the General Meeting.
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6.3	 Quorums required by the Articles of Incorporation
Where a General Meeting has been convened in accordance 
with the provisions of the law and the AoI, decisions may be 
taken, irrespective of the number of shares represented or 
shareholders present at the General Meeting. Pursuant to 
Art. 12 of the AoI, the General Meeting is therefore quorate 
regardless of the number of shares represented.

Except when the law and/or the AoI provide other-
wise, the General Meeting passes resolutions and conducts 
elections by an absolute majority of the voting rights validly 
represented. Elections require an absolute majority in the 
first round, and, if this is not achieved, a relative majority 
is sufficient in the second round. In the event of a tie, the 
Chairman of the Board has the casting vote. As a rule, votes 
are cast electronically. If the electronic voting system fails, 
an open vote shall be held unless one or more shareholders 
who alone or together represent at least 5% of the voting 
rights request a secret ballot.

Pursuant to Art. 14 of the AoI, a resolution of the 
General Meeting adopted by at least two thirds of the votes 
represented and an absolute majority of the nominal values 
of the shares represented is required for:
− 	  A change to the Company’s purpose;
− 	  The introduction of preferred voting shares;
− 	  The restriction of the transferability of registered 

shares;
− 	  An authorised or conditional capital increase;
− 	  A capital increase by recourse to equity, against con-

tribution in kind or for the acquisition of assets and 
the granting of special benefits;

− 	  The restriction or revocation of subscription rights;
− 	  The relocation of the Company’s registered office; 

and
− 	  The dissolution of the Company.

6.4	 Convocation of the General Meeting of Shareholders
The General Meeting is convened by the Board in the nor-
mal course of business or otherwise by the auditors or the 
liquidator.

One or more shareholders of the Company may re-
quest the convocation of a General Meeting if all of the fol-
lowing conditions are satisfied:
− 	  The shareholder or shareholders together hold at 

least 10% of the nominal value of the share capital 
entered in the commercial register on the day the re-
quest is received; and

− 	  The shareholder or shareholders submit their request 

in writing and, at the same time, arrange for shares 
with a nominal value of at least 10% of the share cap-
ital to be blocked by the depository, the latter being 
required to issue confirmation that said shares have 
been blocked. The shares shall remain blocked until 
the day after the General Meeting.

For further information on the convocation of the General 
Meeting, reference is made to the AoI (in particular Art. 10 
and 11).

6.5	 Inclusion of items on the agenda
Pursuant to Art. 11 of the AoI, no resolutions may be 
passed on motions relating to agenda items that were not 
duly announced, except for motions by a shareholder to 
convene an extraordinary General Meeting, to carry out a 
special audit or to elect an auditor.

One or more shareholders of the Company may re-
quest that an item be included on the agenda if all of the 
following conditions are satisfied:
− 	  The shareholder or shareholders together hold at least 

5% of the nominal value of the share capital entered 
in the commercial register on the day the request is 
received;

− 	  The shareholder or shareholders submit their request 
in writing and, at the same time, arrange for shares 
with a nominal value of at least 5% of the share cap-
ital to be blocked by the depository, the latter being 
required to issue confirmation that said shares have 
been blocked. The shares shall remain blocked until 
the day after the General Meeting; and

− 	  The request is sent by registered letter to the atten-
tion of the Board to the registered office of the Com-
pany and shall arrive there at least 45 days prior to the 
General Meeting.

For further information on the agenda, reference is made to 
the AoI (in particular Art. 11).
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6.6	 Entries in the share register
Pursuant to Art. 6 of the AoI, the Company maintains a 
share register in which the names and addresses, respec-
tively the corporate name and registered office of the 
owners of the registered shares and any usufructuaries, are 
entered into. The Board has mandated ShareCommService 
AG, Europastrasse 29, CH-8152 Glattbrugg, to maintain 
the Company’s share register.

Pursuant to Art. 7 of the AoI, upon request, acquir-
ers of registered shares will be entered in the share register 
as shareholders with voting rights if they expressly declare 
that they have acquired the registered shares in their own 
name and for their own account. If this requirement is not 
satisfied, the person in question will be entered in the share 
register as a shareholder without voting rights. For practical 
reasons, no new registration is made in the share register 
for a period up to 20 days before a General Meeting. Share-
holders who sell their shares prior to the General Meeting 
are no longer entitled to exercise their votes.

For further information on entries in the share regis-
ter, reference is made to the AoI (in particular Art. 6 and 7).

7	 Changes of control and defence measures
7.1	 Duty to make an offer
Art. 135 FMIA states that anyone who directly, indirectly 
or acting in concert with third parties acquires equity secu-
rities which, added to the equity securities already owned, 
exceed the threshold of 331/3% of the voting rights of a 
target company, whether exercisable or not, must make an 

offer to acquire all listed equity securities of that company. 
Art. 132 Para. 1 and 2 FMIA outlines the Board’s obligation, 
in the event of a public takeover bid, to provide sharehold-
ers with the information they need in order to evaluate the 
offer and also prohibits the Board from taking defensive 
measures. No significant alteration in the assets or liabil-
ities of the target company is permitted as of the time of 
the bid, aside from transactions that have already been ap-
proved at the General Meeting.

The AoI do not include any opting-out or opting-up 
clause.

7.2	 Clauses on changes of control
None of the members of the Board, the members of the 
Executive Management or other employees benefit from 
change of control clauses.
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8	 Auditors
8.1	 Generalities
The main duties of the auditors are to report to the General 
Meeting the results of their audit, the objective of which is 
to verify that the Annual Financial Statements, the Annual 
Report and the proposed appropriation of retained earn-
ings comply with the law and the AoI.

The auditors recommend the approval, with or with-
out qualification, or the rejection of the Annual Financial 
Statements. Further, when the Company is required to de-
liver Consolidated Financial Statements, the auditors must 
report on the compliance with the law and the account-
ing principles adopted for the consolidation. The auditors 
must be present at Ordinary General Meetings, unless a 
unanimous resolution of the shareholders provides other-
wise.

The Consolidated Financial Statements and the Statu-
tory Financial Statements of the Company have been audited 
since 1999 by PricewaterhouseCoopers SA, which has been 
re-elected each year since then. 

The auditors must be independent from the Board 

and from the shareholders. Except for tax matters, au-
dit-related services and other services that can generally 
only be provided by the auditors (e.g. reviews of docu-
ments filed with FINMA), the Group uses consultants who 
are independent from the auditors.

In addition to their audit opinions, the auditors are 
requested to provide the Audit & Risk Committee with 
specific information such as their audit findings, com-
ments on accounting issues and auditing fee proposals.

8.2	 Duration of the mandate and term of office of the 
lead auditor

The auditors are elected for one-year terms by the Gen-
eral Meeting and are eligible for re-election. They were 
re-elected on 12 May 2017. Since 2014, Beresford Caloia 
has been responsible for the audit of the Group. The rota-
tion frequency of the lead auditor is maximum seven years.

8.3 Auditing fees and additional fees
The total fees charged by the auditors to the Group in 2017 
are analysed as follows:

Auditing fees are agreed upon in advance for the 
audits of the Consolidated and Statutory Financial State-
ments of the Group companies, as well as for the regulatory 
audit of the Bank. They can be adjusted in the course of the 
relevant year under special circumstances.

In line with the standards established by the SIX 
Swiss Exchange Directive on Information relating to Cor-
porate Governance, the fees that were stated under “Ad-
ditional fees: Audit-related services” in the 2016 Corpo-

rate Governance Report are now included in the “Auditing 
fees”. As a result, the two distinct figures stated in the 2016 
Corporate Governance Report, amounting respectively to 
CHF 154,500 for the “Additional fees: Audit-related ser-
vices” and CHF 441,700 for the “Auditing fees”, have been 
added to amount to CHF 596,200 in this 2017 Corporate 
Governance Report.

Tax-related additional fees mainly cover the assis-
tance provided to the Group when filing local tax returns.

2017 2016

in CHF

Auditing fees 630,161 596,200

Additional fees:

Tax 65,000 71,889

Total 695,161 668,089
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8.4	 Informational instruments pertaining to the auditors
The auditors closely interact with the Audit & Risk Com-
mittee and are usually invited to its meetings. In 2017, the 
auditors met five times with the Audit & Risk Committee.

Year-round, the auditors issue, inter alia, the following 
documents: 
− 	  Planning of the statutory and consolidated financial 

audits with respect to the Statutory and Consolidat-
ed Financial Statements of the Company, respectively 
Statutory Financial Statements of the Bank. The doc-
ument includes, inter alia, information on (i) the de-
velopments in accounting standards, (ii) the auditors’ 
risk assessment, (iii) the audit relating to the internal 
control system, (iv) the coordination of the auditors’ 
activities with the internal auditor, (v) the estimated 
fees and (vi) the timeline of the audit activities;

− 	  Information on the regulatory audit, which includes, 
inter alia, information on (i) the changes in the reg-
ulatory environment and accounting principles, (ii) 
the auditors’ risk analysis pursuant to FINMA Circular 
2013/3 on auditing and the audit strategy, (iii) the es-
timated fees and (iv) the timeline of the audit activi-
ties;

− 	  Review report to the Audit & Risk Committee and to 
the Board with respect to the Condensed Consolidat-
ed Interim Financial Statements;

− 	  Comprehensive report to the Audit & Risk Committee 
and to the Board with respect to the Statutory and 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company, 
respectively to the Board of Directors of the Bank 
with respect to the Statutory Financial Statements of 
the Bank. The document includes, inter alia, the audi-
tors’ key findings regarding the accounting, the inter-
nal control system and the performance and results of 
the audit;

− 	  Regulatory audit report to FINMA, a copy of which is 
addressed, inter alia, to the Board and the Board of 
Directors of the Bank; and

−	 Report to the General Meeting of the Company, re-
spectively of the Bank, on the results of the audit of 
the Financial Statements. The document includes, 
inter alia, (i) the auditors’ opinion as to whether the 
Financial Statements should be approved with or 
without qualification, or rejected, (ii) information on 

the independence of the auditors, (iii) a confirmation 
as to whether an internal control system exists or not 
and (iv) a confirmation as to whether the proposed 
appropriation of retained earnings complies with the 
law and the AoI.

The above-mentioned documents are commented on by 
the auditors in meetings of the Audit & Risk Committee. 
The planning of the statutory and consolidated financial au-
dits and information on the regulatory audit are discussed 
at the Annual Conference on Risks, to which the members 
of the Audit & Risk Committee attend.

The Audit & Risk Committee also receives copies of 
the various reports issued by the auditors within the frame-
work of audit-related services, e.g. reports related to the 
Bank’s compliance with the provisions of agreements or 
private regulations as described in section 8.3. This allows 
the Audit & Risk Committee to assess the work of the audi-
tors performed outside the standard audit services, in par-
ticular in terms of conflicts of interest.

Once a year, the Audit & Risk Committee reviews the 
qualification, independence and performance of the audi-
tors and assesses, inter alia, the level of expertise available, 
the adequacy of resources and the quality of the planning 
(in particular the coordination with the internal auditor). 
The Audit & Risk Committee assesses the auditors’ inde-
pendence on the basis of the auditor’s related annual con-
firmation and on the Audit & Risk Committee’s own assess-
ment of the various reports addressed to its attention or 
of which it received a copy (including documents related 
to additional services). The Audit & Risk Committee also 
assesses whether the amount and trend in auditing fees 
appears reasonable. In this respect, changes to auditing 
fees must be justified by the auditors in terms of marginal 
changes in volumes to be audited and/or complexity of the 
audit items.

Based on its annual assessment, the Audit & Risk 
Committee recommends to the Board to either propose 
the General Meeting to re-elect the auditors or to start a 
process for the selection of new auditors.
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9	 Information policy
9.1	 General principles
The Company’s information policy aims primarily at pro-
moting confidence, creating a better understanding of the 
Company’s business and developing and maintaining realis-
tic investor expectations.

The Company commits to providing timely and order-
ly information in accordance with the legal and regulatory 
requirements, in particular with the provisions of the SIX 
Swiss Exchange regulations on ad hoc publicity. The Com-
pany aims at providing the financial market with consistent, 
accurate and complete information evenly during profitable 
or difficult periods and ensures that the investment com-
munity has fair access to such information.

It is the Company’s policy not to release detailed 
earnings projections, but it may provide certain guidance to 
the investment community for them to assess the Company 
and its business prospects.

As a general rule, material or price-sensitive informa-
tion must be released promptly as soon as the main aspects 
of such information are established by the Company. How-
ever, the Company is permitted under the relevant regula-
tory provisions to postpone the release of material infor-
mation, if the information concerns a plan or negotiation of 
the Company and its premature disclosure would prejudice 
the legitimate interest of the Company. In such case, the 
Company will take adequate measures to ensure the effec-
tive confidentiality of the information and to prevent insid-
ers from trading on the basis of that information. The Com-
pany will adequately inform the investment community in 
cases where the information previously kept confidential is 
substantially leaked into the market.

The Company will generally avoid releasing material 
and price-sensitive information during trading periods of 
the Company’s shares or shortly before opening of trading. 
If the information is to be released during normal trading 
hours of the SIX Swiss Exchange (9 a.m. to 5.30 p.m.) or 
less than 90 minutes before the opening of trading, the 
competent department (SIX Exchange Regulation) must be 
informed at least 90 minutes prior to the release of such 
information. In situations where it cannot be avoided that 
material information be disclosed during trading hours, the 
CEO and CFO must consider whether a request for a sus-
pension of trading is appropriate. If material and non-public 
information is divulged unintentionally in a selective set-
ting, such as analyst meetings or conference calls, which 
are not open to the investment community, the Company 
will publicly disclose such information promptly after the 
meeting or after it learns of the selective disclosure.

If the Company discovers that a statement made was, in 
fact, materially incorrect at the time it was disclosed, the 
Company will publicly issue a corrective statement of such 
incorrect statement as soon as the error is discovered. The 
Company will also issue in due time a corrective statement 
when new facts have emerged that make a previous disclo-
sure false or misleading.

The Company does not comment on market rumours 
and speculations.

9.2	 Reporting and corporate calendar
9.2.1	Annual and interim reporting
Company results are published by media releases shortly 
after the Board approves them. Such media releases are fol-
lowed by a media and analyst conference as well as optional 
call-in conferences. The media release, presentations made 
at call-in and press conferences, Annual Reports (including 
the Corporate Governance Report and the Remuneration 
Report) and Interim Consolidated Financial Statements are 
released on the Company website (https://en.swissquote.
com/company/investors). Annual Reports (including the 
Corporate Governance Report and the Remuneration Re-
port) are available in print format on request.

9.2.2	Corporate calendar
The dates of the publication of the annual and interim re-
sults as well as the dates of the Ordinary General Meeting 
and of any extraordinary General Meeting are published on 
the Company website (https://en.swissquote.com/compa-
ny/investors) and in media releases.

The Ordinary General Meeting generally takes place 
in April or May of each year and will, in 2018, take place 
on 4 May. The half-year reporting 2018 is scheduled on 31 
July 2018.

9.3	 Communication channels and contact addresses
Media releases (including ad hoc notices) and reports as 
well as other information made public are accessible on 
https://en.swissquote.com/company/media/press-releas-
es in the section “Company”. An e-mail service is available 
for subscription in the same section of the Company web-
site and allows any interested party to automatically receive 
by e-mail all information made public by the Company.

Contact addresses can be found after the Remuner-
ation Report.
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1	 Introduction
This Remuneration Report reports on the remuneration 
of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the Executive 
Management of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd (the “Com-
pany”) and, where applicable, its consolidated subsidiaries 
(together, the “Group”). It provides information on the re-
muneration policy and the components of the remunera-
tion, and reports on the type and size of payments made 
during the period under review.

Since 2014, in accordance with the Ordinance against 
Excessive Compensation in Listed Corporations that en-
tered into force on 1 January 2014 (the “Ordinance” ) 1, the 
Company has the obligation to issue every year a Remu-
neration Report separately from the Annual Report. This 
Remuneration Report contains the information required 
by the Ordinance, section 5 of the Annex to the SIX Swiss 
Exchange Directive on Information relating to Corporate 
Governance in its 10 April 2017 version as well as Art. 663c 
of the Swiss Code of Obligations (CO). In accordance with 
the requirements set forth in the Ordinance, section 5 of 
this Remuneration Report was audited by the Company’s 
auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd, Lausanne; a copy of 
the audit report is enclosed.

Although not legally required, but in line with inter-
national standards and its previous practice, the Board in-
tends to submit this Remuneration Report to a consultative 
vote by the General Meeting of shareholders (the “General 
Meeting”) at the ordinary General Meeting (the “Ordinary 
General Meeting”) of 4 May 2018.

The Ordinance introduced a binding say on pay by 
the shareholders. As a result, the General Meeting shall 
approve annually, at the Ordinary General Meeting, the 
maximum aggregate amount of remuneration payable 
to (1) the Board for a period running from said Ordinary 
General Meeting to the next Ordinary General Meeting 
and (2) the Executive Management for the financial year 
starting after said Ordinary General Meeting. Section 5 of 
this Remuneration Report comprises tables that report the 
total amount of remuneration granted to the Board and the 
Executive Management for the financial year under review. 
Therefore, as far as the remuneration of the Board is con-
cerned, the period covered by the General Meeting’s bind-
ing say on pay differs from the period reported in the tables 
of this Remuneration Report. 

In this context, section 6 of this Remuneration Report in 
particular aims at reconciling the maximum aggregate re-
muneration for the Board and the Executive Management 
with the remuneration actually paid. The proposal of the 
Board on the maximum aggregate remuneration for the 
Board and the Executive Management is included in the in-
vitation to the Ordinary General Meeting.

For further information on remuneration matters, 
reference is made to the Articles of Incorporation of 
the Company last amended on 13 May 2016 and appli-
cable as at 31 December 2017, which are available at 
https://en.swissquote.com/company/investors in the 
French original version together with an English free 
translation (the “AoI”).

1 Also known in German as “Verordnung gegen übermässige Vergütungen 
bei börsenkotierten Aktiengesellschaften” (VegüV) and in French as “Ordon-
nance contre les rémunérations abusives dans les sociétés anonymes cotées 
en bourse” (ORAb).
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2	 Remuneration policy 
The Group’s remuneration policy is an important compo-
nent of its corporate framework and has the ultimate pur-
pose to deliver sustainable growth and performance to 
shareholders, provide a favourable development ground for 
the Group’s employees and induce a responsible and ethi-
cal behaviour vis-à-vis the Group and the community. The 
remuneration policy is designed to attract, motivate and 
retain the best qualified employees, and to reward merit as 
well as medium- and-long term performance, with due care 
to the Group’s success and stage of development and in 
alignment with the interest of shareholders. With due care 
to labour market constraints, the Group seeks to keep mul-
tiples between lowest and highest paid employees within 
sensible ranges.

3	 Organisation and competencies
3.1	 Nomination & Remuneration Committee
In line with Art. 20bis Para. 3 of the AoI, the Board has en-
trusted the remuneration committee with further tasks 
in the field of succession planning and nominations, and 
therefore named the committee “Nomination & Remuner-
ation Committee” (the “NRC”). The NRC is governed by 
Art. 20bis of the AoI, the Organisation Regulations and the 
Charter of the NRC. Pursuant to Art. 20bis Para. 1 of the AoI 
and the Charter of the NRC, the NRC is composed of at 
least two independent members of the Board. The General 
Meeting elects the members of the NRC individually. The 
term of office ends at the close of the next Ordinary Gen-
eral Meeting. Members may be re-elected.

At the Ordinary General Meeting of 12 May 2017, 
Markus Dennler and Martin Naville were elected as mem-
bers of the NRC. Markus Dennler was subsequently desig-
nated by the Board as Chairman of the NRC.

As per the Charter of the NRC, there shall be at least 
two meetings of the NRC per financial year. In 2017, the 
NRC met six times (four physical meetings and two confer-
ence calls). In average, a physical meeting lasts for one hour 
and a conference call lasts for 40 minutes. At each meeting 
held in 2017, the members of the Executive Management 
were present, except when their own remuneration was dis-
cussed. The other Board members attended the meetings 
as guests. No external advisors attended the meetings.

The Chairman of the NRC reports on the activities 
of the Committee at the following Board meeting or more 

often when required by the circumstances. In addition, 
the minutes of the meeting of the NRC are provided to all 
Board members.

As a general rule, the Company does not consult with 
permanent external advisors with respect to the structur-
ing of remuneration and share ownership, or to any related 
matters. In 2017, the Company did not consult with such 
external advisors.

In accordance with the Organisation Regulations and 
the Charter of the NRC, the NRC has no decision-making 
powers. It only acts in an advisory or preparatory capacity 
to support the Board and reports to the latter the outcome 
of its reviews together with its recommendations, includ-
ing in terms of succession planning, training and need for 
external support. In particular, it has the following duties:

Generally:
− 	  Review the remuneration policy and system inter alia 

with due care to the stage of development of the 
Group and the industry practice, and make sure they 
are always compliant with applicable legal and regula-
tory requirements.

With respect to the Board:
− 	  Regularly review inter alia the size and composition of 

the Board as well as the independence of its members, 
in order to ensure compliance with the legal and regu-
latory requirements, in particular with FINMA Circular 
2017/1 “Corporate Governance – Banks”, and consis-
tency with the Group’s corporate governance frame-
work;

− 	  Conduct an annual review of the remuneration of the 
Board members;

− 	  Recommend to the Board for approval and, as the 
case may be, for proposal to the General Meeting, the 
form and amount of remuneration to be paid to the 
Chairman of the Board, other Board members as well 
as to the Chairman and members of each Board Com-
mittee, in line with the AoI and the resolutions of the 
General Meeting.

Remuneration Report



Annual Report 2017    Remuneration Report 156

3.1	 Nomination & Remuneration Committee (continued)
With respect to the Management:

− 	  Make recommendations to the Board regarding the 
general remuneration policy of the Executive Man-
agement and other members of the Management (to-
gether, the “Management”);

− 	  Regularly review the employment contracts of the 
Management and make recommendations to the 
Board on the remuneration of the Management;

− 	  Make recommendations to the Board and assist the 
Board regarding the determination and evaluation 
of the remuneration system and the principles of 
remuneration, always in line with the AoI, including 
proposal to the Board of short- or long-term incen-
tive plans and equity-based plans (including but not 
limited to stock options, restricted shares and similar 
instruments), regular review of the plans and proposal 
of modifications, suspensions or discontinuation of 
such plans;

− 	  Review the organisation of the Group from a human 
resources perspective and make recommendations 
for nomination and dismissal of the Management;

− 	  Review the succession plan for the Management, both 
for emergencies as well as long-term planning;

− 	  Prepare the proposals to be submitted to the General 
Meeting pursuant to Art 14bis of the AoI (approval of 
remuneration) or in relation to the amendments to the 
provisions of the AoI that address remuneration mat-
ters.

For further information on the NRC, reference is made to 
the AoI (in particular Art. 14bis and 20bis).

3.2	 Board of Directors
Subject to the prerogatives of the General Meeting 

and in line with the applicable laws and Art. 14bis of the AoI, 
the Board is competent to decide on all relevant issues re-
lated to remuneration.

The Board, which is composed of non-executive 
members only, makes its decisions based on the proposals 
of the NRC. Board members attend the part of the Board 
meeting where their remuneration is decided on, and, ex-
cept if otherwise requested by a Board member, resolve on 
all recommendations of the NRC regarding Board remuner-
ation in one vote. Members of the Executive Management 
do not attend the part of the Board meeting where their 
remuneration is decided on.

3.3	 General Meeting

Binding vote on pay
Pursuant to Art. 9 Para. 2 and 14bis Para. 1 of the AoI, the 
General Meeting shall approve annually the proposals of the 
Board with regard to the maximum aggregate amount of:
− 	  The remuneration payable to the Board for the period 

until the next Ordinary General Meeting pursuant to 
Art. 21bis of the AoI; and 

− 	  The remuneration payable to the Executive Manage-
ment for the following financial year pursuant to Art. 
21ter of the AoI.

This prospective vote allows the Company to avoid the 
legal uncertainties that could arise from post hoc votes. At 
the Ordinary General Meeting of 12 May 2017, the follow-
ing maximum aggregate amounts were approved:
− 	  CHF 750,000 for the Board; and
− 	  CHF 4,000,000 for the Executive Management. 

For further information on the binding vote on pay, 
reference is made to the AoI, in particular Art. 14bis.

Consultative vote on Remuneration Report
Since 2011, it has been the Company’s policy to submit the 
Remuneration Report to a consultative vote by the share-
holders and the Board intends to sustain this practice.

Remuneration Report



Annual Report 2017    Remuneration Report 157

4	 Remuneration components
4.1	 Generalities
As at 31 December 2017, the following remuneration components were available for the level of responsibilities listed below:

Base remuneration Variable remuneration

Cash Shares
Cash bonus

(short-term)
Shares

(long-term)
Stock options

(long-term)
Pension fund contributions

and benefits
Other

remuneration

Board members Yes Yes Not eligible Not eligible Not eligible Not eligible Eligible

Members of the Executive 
Management Yes Not eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible

Other employees Yes Not eligible Eligible Eligible

Eligible 
subject to 
conditions Eligible Eligible

Base remuneration
Cash component

The base remuneration depends on the level of seniority 
and the area in which an employee exercises his/her func-
tion. It is paid out in cash in monthly instalments, after 
deduction of any social insurance, pension fund and other 
contributions.

Board share plan
The Board share plan is distinct from the employee share 
plan and does not relate to variable remuneration.

Variable remuneration
The current remuneration framework does not allow for any 
variable remuneration for the Board. Art. 21ter Para. 2 of the 
AoI sets forth the principles applicable to the variable re-
muneration of the members of the Executive Management, 
which are as follows:
− 	  The short-term remuneration elements depend in 

particular on quantitative and qualitative objectives 
that can take into account results of the Company or 
parts of the Company, on objectives in relation to the 
market or other companies and/or on specific objec-
tives. The extent to which the objectives are met is 
generally assessed over a period of one year and can 
give rise to a short-term remuneration. Cash bonus is 
considered short-term remuneration.

− 	  The long-term remuneration elements depend in par-
ticular on the quantitative strategic objectives of the 
Company and/or on specific objectives. The extent to 
which the objectives are achieved is generally assessed 
over a period of several years. Grants of shares and 
stock options are considered long-term remuneration.

Further, pursuant to Art. 21ter Para. 3 of the AoI, the Board 
sets the objectives and subsequently carries out an evalu-
ation of the extent to which these are achieved. The remu-
neration can be paid or guaranteed in cash, in shares, in op-
tions, in similar financial instruments, in kind, or in another 
form of earnings. The Board decides on the conditions of 
granting, entitlement, exercising and due date, as well as 
the timing of the allocation and valuation of shares, options 
and similar financial instruments, and shall also stipulate a 
blocking period if necessary. It may issue rules in respect 
of the early implementation or expiry of conditions of en-
titlement and exercise, in respect of the payment or assur-
ance of performance-based remuneration, or in respect of 
the due date upon the occurrence of predetermined events 
such as a change of control or the termination of an em-
ployment relationship or mandate.
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4.1	 Generalities (continued)
Employee share plan

Since 2014, the Group offers its employees the opportu-
nity to directly participate in the long-term success of the 
Group by purchasing Swissquote shares at a discounted 
price. The employee share plan aims to reward sustained, 
long-term performance and align shareholder and employ-
ee interests more closely.

The employee share plan can be made available to all 
eligible employees. Within the framework of the applicable 
laws, the AoI and the decisions of the General Meeting, the 
Board will at its entire discretion decide every year whether 
and how many shares will be offered and to whom; no eli-
gible employee shall have an enforceable right to be grant-
ed shares at a discounted price. The Board seeks to keep a 
sensible relation between the number of shares offered to 
members of the respective levels of the organisation.

Within the framework of the applicable laws, the AoI 
and the decisions of the General Meeting, the Board de-
cides, at its discretion, the terms of the employee share 
plan, including the proceedings and the date of grant of 
the shares, the price to acquire the shares and the blockage 
period of the shares and its terms. During the blockage pe-
riod, the employee is not entitled to sell, donate, pledge or 
otherwise transfer the shares. In case of change of control, 
the Board may decide to put an end to any ongoing block-
age period.

In 2017, shares were offered to all eligible employees 
for free (no price paid for the acquisition). They are blocked 
for a period of five years as from their attribution.

Employee option plan
The Group operates a stock option plan in order to allow 
for a long-term participation of eligible employees in the 
growth of the stock price of the Company. Except for op-
tions already granted, the stock option plan for the Board 
members has been discontinued in 2014 and the current re-
muneration framework does not allow for further grants to 
Board members.

Within the framework of the applicable laws, the AoI 
and the decisions of the General Meeting, the Board is re-
sponsible for deciding at its own discretion on the terms of 
the options and the number of options offered. The terms 
of the options provide that options offered are divided in 
three equal tranches, each tranche becoming exercisable 
respectively one, two and three years after the date of 
grant. The exercise period is two years. The exercise of one 
option allows acquiring one Swissquote share (ratio 1:1). 
Options granted are vested on the date of exercise. As a 

result, employees holding options who leave the Group 
before their options become exercisable lose their right to 
exercise their options, unless the Board decides otherwise.

Since 2007 and in ordinary business circumstances, 
the maximum number of options that can be offered in 
a single financial year is determined based on a set ratio 
expressing the percentage of the fair value of the options 
offered compared to the base remuneration payroll costs. 
The ratio was 2.5% in 2017 (1.5% in 2016). In ordinary busi-
ness circumstances, the grant of options to individual em-
ployees is made based on the level of an employee in the 
organisation. In 2017, options were offered to all eligible 
employees from the middle management to the Executive 
Management. All employees belonging to the same level of 
the organisation are offered the same number of options. 
The Board seeks to keep a sensible relation between the 
number of options offered to members of the respective 
levels of the organisation.

In case of change of control, the Board may decide 
that any non-exercisable option becomes exercisable as of 
the date and within the period determined by the Board. 
The Board may also decide that outstanding options shall 
be replaced by new options having the equity securities 
of the acquiring Company or another related company as 
underlying asset, provided that the value of the options re-
ceived as a replacement for the options is at least equal to 
the value of the options that they replace on the date the 
decision is made.

Further details on options valuation are provided in 
Note 15.2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (sec-
tion VII).

Pension fund contributions and benefits
Pension fund contributions and benefits depend on the 
level of management, age, and remuneration.

Loans
Pursuant to Art. 21 Para. 2 of the AoI, the Company may 
grant loans and credits to the members of the Board and 
of the Executive Management at market terms or at terms 
which apply to all employees. Loans and credits which do 
not satisfy such conditions are authorised provided that, in 
each single case, they do not exceed the amount of CHF 
100,000 and to the extent that they have been approved 
by the General Meeting, either individually or as part of an 
aggregate amount.
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4.1	 Generalities (continued) 

Indemnification
Pursuant to Art. 21 Para. 3 of the AoI, the Company may 
indemnify members of the Board and of the Executive Man-
agement for any loss suffered in connection with lawsuits, 
trials or settlements relating to their work for the Company 
and its subsidiaries, or advance appropriate amounts and 
take out insurance.

Other remuneration
The cash component of the base remuneration may be sup-
plemented by a fixed indemnity covering estimated out-of-
pocket expenses. Out-of-pocket expenses are determined 
in accordance with applicable local tax principles.

The Group employees enjoy benefits on the consump-
tion of services provided by the Group (such as favourable 
conditions on their Swissquote trading account) and other 
benefits of minor importance.

4.2	 Elements of the remuneration of the members of the 
Board of Directors

As reflected in the table introducing section 4.1 and in ac-
cordance with Art. 21bis Para. 1 of the AoI, the remunera-
tion of the Chairman of the Board and other Board mem-
bers comprises the annual base remuneration applicable up 
until the following Ordinary General Meeting, as well as so-
cial insurance contributions, insurance premiums and other 
benefits, which must be regarded as remuneration.

Base remuneration
Within the framework of the applicable laws, the AoI and 
the decisions of the General Meeting, the base remunera-
tion, which is reviewed annually, is set at the discretion of 
the Board in response to a proposal by the NRC. The review 
of the remuneration of the Board takes several factors into 
consideration, such as the trends in remuneration of Board 
members in Switzerland and/or in companies that are com-
parable (in terms of industry and size) according to publicly 
available information, although no defined benchmark is 
used. Further, the Board seeks to keep a sensible relation 
between the base remuneration of the Board members and 
that of the Executive Management. 

In accordance with Art. 21bis Para. 2 of the AoI, the Board 
can decide to have part of the annual base remuneration 
paid in the form of shares. In this case, it decides on the 
conditions, including the conditions of grant and the valu-
ation of shares, and stipulates a possible blocking period. 
The Board share plan is distinct from the employee share 
plan and does not relate to variable remuneration.

No variable remuneration
Members of the Board are not eligible for any variable re-
muneration.

Other remuneration 
The Board members receive a fixed indemnity covering 
their estimated out-of-pocket expenses. Within the frame-
work of the applicable laws, the AoI and the decisions of 
the General Meeting, it is set annually at the discretion of 
the Board in response to a proposal by the NRC.

The Board members enjoy the same benefits on the 
consumption of services provided by the Group as the 
Group employees (such as favourable conditions on their 
Swissquote trading account). The aggregate amount of 
such benefits is not considered material and is therefore not 
reported in this Remuneration Report.

Loans
Pursuant to Art. 21 Para. 2 of the AoI, the Company may 
grant loans and credits to the members of the Board at mar-
ket terms or at terms which apply to employees. Loans and 
credits which do not satisfy such conditions are authorised 
provided that, in each single case, they do not exceed the 
amount of CHF 100,000 and to the extent that they have 
been approved by the General Meeting, either individually 
or as part of an aggregate amount. 

Remuneration Report
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4.3	 Elements of the remuneration of the members of the 
Executive Management

As reflected in the table introducing section 4.1 and in ac-
cordance with Art. 21ter Para. 1 of the AoI, the remuneration 
of the members of the Executive Management comprises:
− 	  A base remuneration, which is cash-based;
− 	  A variable remuneration in the form of:

− 	  A cash component (bonus) capped at 150% of 
the base remuneration; 

− 	  A share plan;
− 	  An option plan;

− 	  Social insurance contributions made by the Company;
− 	  Pension fund contributions and benefits;
− 	  A fixed indemnity covering their estimated out-of-

pocket expenses (other remuneration).

Within the framework of the applicable laws, the AoI and 
the decisions of the General Meeting, all of these items are 
set at the discretion of the Board and reviewed annually. 
Members of the Executive Management do not attend the 
part of the Board meeting where their remuneration is de-
cided on.

Base remuneration
The base remuneration of the members of Executive Man-
agement is cash-based. It is reviewed annually by the Board 
and, when necessary, adjusted by the Board at its discre-
tion – within the framework of the applicable laws, the AoI 
and the decisions of the General Meeting – in response 
to a proposal by the NRC. The base remuneration of the 
members of the Executive Management was last increased 
in August 2013. The increase in the total base remunera-
tion of the Executive Management stated in section 5.2 of 
this Remuneration Reports exclusively relates to the nomi-
nation of Morgan Lavanchy, Chief Legal Officer, and Gilles 
Chantrier, Chief Risk Officer, on 1 January 2017.

Variable remuneration
Annual cash bonus

Art. 21ter Para. 2 of the AoI allows for a cash bonus up to 
150% of the base remuneration.
Each year, the Board sets a list of quantitative and qualita-

tive objectives to the Executive Management as a whole. 
Objectives typically include growth and profitability tar-
gets as well as objectives relating to the strengthening of 
the organisation (risk management, compliance, people 
development, etc.). Members of the Executive Manage-
ment are not set individual objectives.

The performance review is carried out by the NRC, 
shortly before the auditors deliver their Audit Report on 
the Consolidated Financial Statements of the year under 
review. Within the framework of the applicable laws, the 
AoI and the decisions of the General Meeting, the Board 
resolves, at its entire discretion, on the level of the cash 
bonus in response to a proposal by the NRC.

Employee share plan
Within the framework of the applicable laws, the AoI and 
the decisions of the General Meeting, the Board is respon-
sible for making discretionary decisions with respect to the 
terms of the share attributions and the number of shares of-
fered, in response to a proposal by the NRC. The decision, 
made each year, is based on general considerations inter 
alia linked with the stage of development of the Group.

Employee option plan
Within the framework of the applicable laws, the AoI and 
the decisions of the General Meeting, the Board is respon-
sible for making discretionary decisions with respect to the 
terms of the options and the number of options offered, 
in response to a proposal by the NRC. The decision, made 
each year, is based on general considerations inter alia 
linked with the stage of development of the Group. The 
terms of the options provide that options offered are divid-
ed into three equal tranches, with each tranche becoming 
exercisable respectively one, two and three years after the 
date of grant. The exercise period for the options is two 
years. Options granted to the members of the Executive 
Management are vested on the date of the exercise.
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4.3	 Elements of the remuneration of the members of the 
Executive Management (continued)

Pension fund contributions and benefits
Pursuant to Art. 21ter Para. 1 of the AoI, social insurance 
contributions and pension fund contributions are made to 
members of the Executive Management.

Other remuneration
The members of the Executive Management receive a fixed 
indemnity covering their estimated out-of-pocket expens-
es. Within the framework of the applicable laws, the AoI 
and the decisions of the General Meeting, it is set annually 
at the discretion of the Board in response to a proposal by 
the NRC.

The members of the Executive Management enjoy 
the same benefits as all the other employees (such as fa-
vourable conditions on their Swissquote trading account). 
The aggregate amount of such benefits is not considered 
material and is therefore not reported in this Remuneration 
Report.

Loans
Pursuant to Art. 21 Para. 2 of the AoI, the Company may 
grant loans and credits to the members of the Executive 
Management at market terms or at terms which apply to 
all employees. Loans and credits which do not satisfy such 
conditions are authorised provided that, in each single case, 
they do not exceed the amount of CHF 100,000 and to the 
extent that they have been approved by the General Meet-
ing, either individually or as part of an aggregate amount. 

Duration of contracts
The termination period of the employment contracts of the 
members of the Executive Management is six months.

Remuneration Report
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5	 Remuneration for the financial year under review 
This section of the Remuneration Report was audited by the 
auditors. It replaces the information previously contained in 
the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements pursu-
ant to Art. 663bbis CO.

The remuneration reported in this section is applica-
ble to all activities of the concerned persons in the Group, 
including, for the Board members, their board activities for 
the Company and Swissquote Bank Ltd, and, for the mem-
bers of the Executive Management, their activities in the 
Board of Directors of the foreign subsidiaries of the Group.

5.1	 Remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors
The tables in this section state the total remuneration for 
the members of the Board for the financial years 2017 and 
2016. The cash components correspond to gross figures 
and include social insurance contributions paid by the Board 
members. Therefore, the figures relating to social insurance 
contributions only cover the amount paid by the Company. 
Other remuneration consists of an indemnity covering esti-
mated out-of-pocket expenses.

As reflected in the above table, the total remuneration is 
calculated by taking into consideration the fair value of the 
shares granted to the Board. For information on the tax value 
and on the fair value, reference is made to section 5.3.

At the Ordinary General Meeting of 12 May 2017, 
Adrian Bult did not seek re-election. The latter’s remuner-
ation for 2017 only covers his period of office from 1 Jan-
uary 2017 to 12 May 2017. Apart from the amount paid to 
Adrian Bult for his office time in 2017, no remuneration was 
paid, and no credit or loan was granted, to former Board 
members.

In 2017, no remuneration was paid to related parties and no 
credit or loan was granted to related parties, except Lom-
bard loans, which were granted at market conditions.

Base remuneration

Cash
Shares 

(tax value)

Social
insurance

contributions

	
Other

remuneration Total

in CHF

Board remuneration 2017

Mario Fontana, Chairman 120,000 30,014 9,618 2,000 161,632

Markus Dennler, member 80,000 20,020 8,320 2,000 110,340

Martin Naville, member 80,000 20,020 8,320 2,000 110,340

Jean-Christophe Pernollet, member 80,000 20,020 8,320 2,000 110,340

Beat Oberlin, member 80,000 20,020 8,320 2,000 110,340

Adrian Bult, former member 31,500 – 4,285 730 36,515

Subtotal 471,500 110,094 47,183 10,730 639,507

Difference between tax value and IFRS fair value of shares granted to the Board 21,028

Total remuneration 2017 660,535
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5.1	 Remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors (continued)

As reflected in the above table, the total remuneration is 
calculated by taking into consideration the fair value of the 
shares granted to the Board. For information on the tax val-
ue and on the fair value, reference is made to section 5.3.

At the Ordinary General Meeting of 13 May 2016, 
Beat Oberlin was newly elected to the Board. The latter's 
remuneration covers his period of office from 13 May 2016 
to 31 December 2016. 

In 2016, no remuneration was paid, and no credit or 
loan was granted, to former Board members. No remuner-
ation was paid to related parties and no credit or loan was 
granted to related parties, except Lombard loans, which 
were granted at market conditions.

Board remuneration changes from 2016 to 2017
There was no change in remuneration other than those re-
lated to the election of Beat Oberlin and those related to 
the departure of Adrian Bult.

Base remuneration

Cash
Shares 

(tax value)

Social
insurance

contributions

	
Other

remuneration Total

in CHF

Board remuneration 2016

Mario Fontana, Chairman 120,000 30,017 9,618 2,000 161,635

Markus Dennler, member 80,000 20,005 8,320 2,000 110,325

Martin Naville, member 80,000 20,005 8,320 2,000 110,325

Adrian Bult, member 80,000 20,005 8,320 2,000 110,325

Jean-Christophe Pernollet, member 80,000 20,005 8,320 2,000 110,325

Beat Oberlin, member 50,575 20,005 5,872 1,264 77,716

Subtotal 490,575 130,042 48,770 11,264 680,651

Difference between tax value and IFRS fair value of shares granted to the Board 24,840

Total remuneration 2016 705,491
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5.2	 Remuneration of the members of the Executive 
Management

Compared to 2016, following the expansion of the Exec-
utive Management, this Remuneration Report states the 
remuneration of the highest paid member of the Executive 
Management as well as the aggregate remuneration of all 
members of the Executive Management. This is in line with 
market practice and results from the application of the Or-
dinance.

The cash components correspond to gross figures and 
include social insurance contributions and pension fund 
contributions paid by the members of the Executive Man-
agement. Therefore, the figures relating to social insurance 
contributions and pension fund contributions and benefits 
only cover the amount paid by the Company. Other remu-
neration consists of an indemnity covering estimated out-
of-pocket expenses.

As reflected in the above table, the total remuneration is 
calculated by taking into consideration the fair value of the 
shares granted to the Executive Management. For informa-
tion on the tax value and on the fair value, reference is made 
to section 5.3.

With respect to the cash bonus, reference is made to 
section 7.

In 2017, no remuneration was paid, and no credit or 
loan was granted, to former members of the Executive 

Management. No remuneration was paid to related parties 
and no credit or loan was granted to related parties, except 
Lombard loans, which were granted at market conditions. 

The short-term performance-related remuneration of 
the Executive Management (cash bonus) represents 42.1% 
of their total base remuneration. 

Base  
remuneration Variable remuneration

Cash Cash bonus
Shares 

(tax value)

Stock options 
(fair value 

at grant)

Social
insurance

contributions

	
Other

remuneration Total

in CHF

Executive Management  
remuneration 2017

Marc Bürki, CEO
(highest paid) 482,400 200,000 2,406 24,733 77,517 24,300 811,356

Aggregate of all members of the 
Executive Management 2,032,800 856,000 12,030 123,665 331,978 96,300 3,452,773

Difference between tax value and IFRS fair value of shares granted to the Executive Management 4,070

Total remuneration 2017 3,456,843
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5.2	 Remuneration of the members of the Executive Management (continued)

As reflected in the above table for the financial year 2016, 
the total remuneration is calculated by taking into consid-
eration the fair value of the shares granted to the Executive 
Management. For information on the tax value and on the 
fair value, reference is made to section 5.3.

With respect to the cash bonus, reference is made to 
section 7.

In 2016, no remuneration was paid, and no credit 
or loan was granted, to former members of the Executive 
Management. No remuneration was paid to related parties 
and no credit or loan was granted to related parties, except 
Lombard loans, which were granted at market conditions.

The short-term performance-related remuneration of 
the Executive Management (cash bonus) represents 12.5% 
of their total base remuneration. 

Executive Management remuneration changes from 
2016 to 2017

The total base remuneration increased from CHF 1,438,800 
to CHF 2,032,800 representing a total increase of 41.3%, 
which is exclusively related to the nomination of Morgan 
Lavanchy and Gilles Chantrier. 

The total cash bonus increased from CHF 180,000 
to CHF 856,000, representing a total increase of 375.6%, 
which is partly related to the fact that the Board assessed 
that the objectives set to the Executive Management for 
2017 were over-achieved and partly related to the nomina-

tion of Morgan Lavanchy and Gilles Chantrier.
The shares’ total tax value increased from CHF 5,592 

to CHF 12,030 representing a total increase of 115.1%, 
while the stock options’ total fair value increased from 
CHF 56,922 to CHF 123,665 representing a total increase 
of 117.3%. These increases are mainly related to the nom-
ination of Morgan Lavanchy and Gilles Chantrier.

The total social insurance contributions and pen-
sion fund contributions and benefits increased from 
CHF 208,902 to CHF 331,978 representing a total in-
crease of 58.9%, which is mainly related to the nomina-
tion of Morgan Lavanchy and Gilles Chantrier.

The other remuneration increased from CHF 54,000 
to CHF 96,300 representing a total increase of 78.3%, 
which is mainly related to the nomination of Morgan La-
vanchy and Gilles Chantrier.

Overall total remuneration increased from CHF 1,946,109 
to CHF 3,456,843 representing a total increase of 77.6%, which 
is partly related to the nomination of Morgan Lavanchy and 
Gilles Chantrier and partly related to the fact that the Board as-
sessed that the objectives set to the Executive Management for 
2017 were over-achieved.

Base  
remuneration Variable remuneration

Cash Cash bonus
Shares 

(tax value)

Stock options 
(fair value 

at grant)

Social
insurance

contributions

	
Other

remuneration Total

in CHF

Executive Management  
remuneration 2016

Marc Bürki, CEO 482,400 60,000 1,864 18,974 69,675 18,000 650,913

Paolo Buzzi, CTO 482,400 60,000 1,864 18,974 70,042 18,000 651,280

Michael Ploog, CFO 474,000 60,000 1,864 18,974 69,185 18,000 642,023

Subtotal 1,438,800 180,000 5,592 56,922 208,902 54,000 1,944,216

Difference between tax value and IFRS fair value of shares granted to the Executive Management 1,893

Total remuneration 2016 1,946,109
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5.3	 Valuation principles
The cash bonus is determined based on the accrual (cash 
bonus) in the financial year under review of the bonus pay-
able in the following financial year. It is based on the results 
of the financial year under review.

The fair value of the shares is determined in accor-
dance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). It represents the market price, i.e. the price that 
would be received for a share in an orderly transaction be-
tween market participants on the grant date. 

The market price of the shares granted to the Board in 
2017 was CHF 38.2 and the market price of those granted 
to the Executive Management was CHF 32.2 due to a dif-
ferent grant date. The market price of the shares granted 
to the Board in 2016 was CHF 23.9 and the market price of 
those granted to the Executive Management was CHF 25.0 
due to a different grant date.

The tax value of the shares is determined based on the 
Swiss Federal Tax Administration Circular Letter No. 37 on 
Taxation of Employee Participations. It represents the mar-
ket price of the share on grant date discounted by a fixed 
percentage for a certain period of blocking.

Shares granted to the Board in 2017 are blocked for 
three years from their grant date and their tax value amounts 
to CHF 32.0 per share. This tax value represents the market 
price of the share on grant date (i.e. CHF 38.2) discounted 

by 16.0%. Shares granted to the Executive Management in 
2017 are blocked for five years from their grant date and 
their tax value amounts to CHF 24.1 per share. This tax val-
ue represents the market price of the share on grant date 
(i.e. CHF 32.2) discounted by 25.3%.

Shares granted to the Board in 2016 are blocked for 
three years from their grant date and their tax value amounts 
to CHF 20.0 per share. This tax value represents the market 
price of the share on grant date (i.e. CHF 23.9) discounted 
by 16.0%. Shares granted to the Executive Management in 
2016 are blocked for five years from their grant date and 
their tax value amounts to CHF 18.6 per share. This tax val-
ue represents the market price of the share on grant date 
(i.e. CHF 25.0) discounted by 25.3%.

The fair value of the options is determined based on 
the Black-Scholes valuation model. The most significant in-
puts into the model are the market value at grant, the strike 
price, the expected life of the options and the volatility. 
The volatility is measured over a period of three years. Oth-
er inputs into the model are the risk-free interest rate and 
the dividend yield. One option grants the right to acquire 
one Swissquote share (ratio 1:1). For the financial year 2017, 
the fair value amounts to CHF 5.2 on average per option 
on grant date. For the financial year 2016, the fair value 
amounts to CHF 4.0 on average per option on grant date.



Annual Report 2017    Remuneration Report 167

Remuneration Report

5.4	 Loans and credits to the Board and the Executive Management 
The following loans and credits were granted to and were still outstanding as at 31 December 2017 with current and former 
members of the Board and of the Executive Management. All loans were granted at market conditions. 

2017 2016

in CHF

Members of the Board

Mario Fontana, Chairman – –

Markus Dennler, member – –

Martin Naville, member – –

Jean-Christophe Pernollet, member – –

Beat Oberlin, member – –

Closely related persons 3,998,490 3,991,845

Former members – –

Total as at 31 December 3,998,490 3,991,845

2017 2016

in CHF

Members of the Executive Management

Marc Bürki, CEO 3,231,605 2,731,558

Paolo Buzzi, CTO 2,587,986 2,811,804

Michael Ploog, CFO – –

Morgan Lavanchy, CLO – –

Gilles Chantrier, CRO – –

Closely related persons 253,213 297,837

Former members – –

Total as at 31 December 6,072,804 5,841,199
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6	 Reconciliation of remuneration with the approval 
of the General Meeting

At the Ordinary General Meeting of 13 May 2016, the 
shareholders approved a maximum aggregate remunera-
tion of the Board amounting to CHF 850,000 for the peri-
od of office from the Ordinary General Meeting of 13 May 
2016 until the completion of the Ordinary General Meeting 
of 12 May 2017. The total amount of remuneration paid out 
for this period was CHF 693,340, which is in line with what 
was approved at the Ordinary General Meeting of 13 May 
2016.

At the Ordinary General Meeting of 12 May 2017, the 
shareholders approved a maximum aggregate remuneration 
of the Board amounting to CHF 750,000 for the period of 
office from the Ordinary General Meeting of 12 May 2017 
until the completion of the Ordinary General Meeting of 4 
May 2018. The total amount of remuneration that will be 
paid out for this period is anticipated to be in line with the 
maximum aggregate remuneration approved at the Ordi-
nary General Meeting of 12 May 2017. The amount that will 
be paid will be disclosed in the 2018 Remuneration Report.

With respect to the remuneration for the Executive 
Management, at the Ordinary General Meeting of 13 May 
2016, the shareholders approved a maximum aggregate re-
muneration amounting to CHF 3,750,000 for the financial 
year 2017. The total amount of the remuneration paid out 
and accrued for this period was CHF 3,456,843, which is in 
line with what was approved at the Ordinary General Meet-
ing of 13 May 2016.
At the Ordinary General Meeting of 12 May 2017, the share-
holders approved a maximum aggregate remuneration for 
the Executive Management amounting to CHF 4,000,000 
for the financial year 2018. The total amount of remunera-
tion that will be paid out and accrued for this period is antic-
ipated to be in line with the maximum aggregate remuner-
ation approved at the Ordinary General Meeting of 12 May 
2017. The amount that will be paid will be disclosed in the 
2018 Remuneration Report.

7	 “Pay for Performance” appraisal for the financial 
year under review

As stated in section 4.3, the Board sets each year a list of 
objectives to the Executive Management as a whole (i.e. no 
individual objectives). These typically include growth and 
profitability targets as well as objectives relating to the 
strengthening of the organisation.

Based on a proposal of the NRC, the Board assessed 
that the objectives set to the Executive Management for 
2017 were over-achieved and set the aggregate cash bo-
nus for the five members of the Executive Management to 
CHF 856,000.

As a result, for the financial year 2017, the short-term 
performance-related remuneration of the Executive Man-
agement (cash bonus) represents 42.1% of their total base 
remuneration. 
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8	 Share ownership information
As at 31 December 2017, the number of shares and op-
tions held by Board members, members of the Executive 
Management and closely related persons, was 4,976,057 or 
32.5% of the share capital.

The following tables were produced in accordance 
with Art. 663c CO and are also available in Note 24 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (section VII).

8.1	 Shareholdings
For the sake of clarity, except for the shares granted as part 
of the Company’s share plan, the shares enumerated in the 
following tables were not granted by the Group, but were 
acquired by the concerned shareholders, for instance as 
part of their investment in the initial capital of the Company 
or via ordinary purchases on the market. 

Number of shares as at 
31 December 2017

Number of shares as at 
31 December 2016

Members of the Board

Mario Fontana, Chairman 516,752 595,815

Mario Fontana, closely related persons 244,011 164,011

Markus Dennler, member 29,534 28,909

Martin Naville, member 8,990 8,365

Jean-Christophe Pernollet, member 2,868 2,243

Beat Oberlin, member 3,424 1,699

Other closely related persons – –

Total as at 31 December 805,579 801,042

Number of shares as at 
31 December 2017

Number of shares as at 
31 December 2016

Members of the Executive Management

Marc Bürki, CEO 1,934,692 1,926,300

Paolo Buzzi, CTO 1,936,240 1,926,275

Michael Ploog, CFO 68,050 67,950

Morgan Lavanchy, CLO 1 340 –

Gilles Chantrier, CRO 1 340 –

Closely related persons 154,810 163,090

Total as at 31 December 4,094,472 4,083,615

In line with Art. 663c CO, this Remuneration Report no longer states the number of shares held by former members of the 
Board and former members of the Executive Management.

1 Morgan Lavanchy and Gilles Chantrier have joined the Executive Management on 1 January 2017.
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8.2	 Options 
The following tables provide information on unexpired options granted to members of the Board and of the Executive 
Management. These options have the Swissquote share (SQN; ISIN CH0010675863) as underlying and the exercise of one 
option allows acquiring one Swissquote share (ratio 1:1). The lock-up period ends one day before the start of the exercise 
period as mentioned in the tables below. Duration and strike prices are also listed below.

Members of the Board
Mario Fontana, Chairman of the Board, 1,000 options, the details of which are stated below:

Number of options Date of grant Start of exercise period Expiry date Strike price

1,000 31.07.13 31.07.16 31.07.18 33.24

Markus Dennler, member, 667 options, divided as follows:

Number of options Date of grant Start of exercise period Expiry date Strike price

667 31.07.13 31.07.16 31.07.18 33.24

Martin Naville, member, 667 options, divided as follows:

Number of options Date of grant Start of exercise period Expiry date Strike price

667 31.07.13 31.07.16 31.07.18 33.24

Former member, 667 options, divided as follows:

Number of options Date of grant Start of exercise period Expiry date Strike price

667 31.07.13 31.07.16 31.07.18 33.24

Jean-Christophe Pernollet, member: none.

Beat Oberlin, member: none.
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8.2	 Options (continued) 
Executive Management

Marc Bürki, CEO, 15,255 options, divided as follows:

Number of options Date of grant Start of exercise period Expiry date Strike price

2,667 31.07.13 31.07.16 31.07.18 33.24

1,573 31.10.14 31.10.16 31.10.18 30.71

1,574 31.10.14 31.10.17 31.10.19 30.71

1,574 04.08.15 04.08.18 04.08.20 25.66

1,573 04.08.16 04.08.18 04.08.20 25.95

1,574 04.08.16 04.08.19 04.08.21 25.95

1,573 11.08.17 11.08.18 11.08.20 34.02

1,573 11.08.17 11.08.19 11.08.21 34.02

1,574 11.08.17 11.08.20 11.08.22 34.02

Paolo Buzzi, CTO, 13,682 options, divided as follows:

Number of options Date of grant Start of exercise period Expiry date Strike price

2,667 31.07.13 31.07.16 31.07.18 33.24

1,574 31.10.14 31.10.17 31.10.19 30.71

1,574 04.08.15 04.08.18 04.08.20 25.66

1,573 04.08.16 04.08.18 04.08.20 25.95

1,574 04.08.16 04.08.19 04.08.21 25.95

1,573 11.08.17 11.08.18 11.08.20 34.02

1,573 11.08.17 11.08.19 11.08.21 34.02

1,574 11.08.17 11.08.20 11.08.22 34.02

Michael Ploog, CFO, 19,974 options, divided as follows:

Number of options Date of grant Start of exercise period Expiry date Strike price

2,667 31.07.13 31.07.16 31.07.18 33.24

1,573 31.10.14 31.10.16 31.10.18 30.71

1,574 31.10.14 31.10.17 31.10.19 30.71

1,573 04.08.15 04.08.16 04.08.18 25.66

1,573 04.08.15 04.08.17 04.08.19 25.66

1,574 04.08.15 04.08.18 04.08.20 25.66

1,573 04.08.16 04.08.17 04.08.19 25.95

1,573 04.08.16 04.08.18 04.08.20 25.95

1,574 04.08.16 04.08.19 04.08.21 25.95

1,573 11.08.17 11.08.18 11.08.20 34.02

1,573 11.08.17 11.08.19 11.08.21 34.02

1,574 11.08.17 11.08.20 11.08.22 34.02
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8.2	 Options (continued) 
Executive Management

Morgan Lavanchy, CLO, 12,347 options, divided as follows:

Number of options Date of grant Start of exercise period Expiry date Strike price

1,334 31.07.13 31.07.16 31.07.18 33.24

787 31.10.14 31.10.16 31.10.18 30.71

786 31.10.14 31.10.17 31.10.19 30.71

786 04.08.15 04.08.16 04.08.18 25.66

787 04.08.15 04.08.17 04.08.19 25.66

787 04.08.15 04.08.18 04.08.20 25.66

787 04.08.16 04.08.17 04.08.19 25.95

787 04.08.16 04.08.18 04.08.20 25.95

786 04.08.16 04.08.19 04.08.21 25.95

1,573 11.08.17 11.08.18 11.08.20 34.02

1,573 11.08.17 11.08.19 11.08.21 34.02

1,574 11.08.17 11.08.20 11.08.22 34.02

Gilles Chantrier, CRO, 12,347 options, divided as follows:

Number of options Date of grant Start of exercise period Expiry date Strike price

1,334 31.07.13 31.07.16 31.07.18 33.24

787 31.10.14 31.10.16 31.10.18 30.71

786 31.10.14 31.10.17 31.10.19 30.71

786 04.08.15 04.08.16 04.08.18 25.66

787 04.08.15 04.08.17 04.08.19 25.66

787 04.08.15 04.08.18 04.08.20 25.66

787 04.08.16 04.08.17 04.08.19 25.95

787 04.08.16 04.08.18 04.08.20 25.95

786 04.08.16 04.08.19 04.08.21 25.95

1,573 11.08.17 11.08.18 11.08.20 34.02

1,573 11.08.17 11.08.19 11.08.21 34.02

1,574 11.08.17 11.08.20 11.08.22 34.02

Closely related persons, 67 options, divided as follows:

Number of options Date of grant Start of exercise period Expiry date Strike price

67 31.07.13 31.07.16 31.07.18 33.24
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9	 Approval of the Remuneration Report
This Remuneration Report provides full transparency for 
the financial year 2017 with regard to the Group’s remu-
neration arrangements and remuneration paid to the Board 
and the Executive Management. The Board intends to rec-
ommend that the General Meeting approves this Remu-
neration Report at the Ordinary General Meeting of 4 May 
2018 (consultative vote).



Annual Report 2017    Remuneration Report 174

Report of the statutory auditor to the General Meeting  
of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd Gland 
on the Remuneration Report 2017

We have audited the remuneration report of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2017. The 
audit was limited to the information according to articles 14–16 of the Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Stock 
Exchange Listed Companies (Ordinance) contained in section 5 on pages 162 to 167 of the remuneration report.

Board of Directors' reponsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of the remuneration report in accor-
dance with Swiss law and the Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Companies (Ordinance). 
The Board of Directors is also responsible for designing the remuneration system and defining individual remuneration 
packages.

Auditor's reponsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying remuneration report. We conducted our audit in accor-
dance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the remuneration report complies with Swiss law and articles 
14–16 of the Ordinance.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in the remuneration report 
with regard to compensation, loans and credits in accordance with articles 14–16 of the Ordinance. The procedures select-
ed depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatements in the remuneration 
report, whether due to fraud or error. This audit also includes evaluating the reasonableness of the methods applied to value 
components of remuneration, as well as assessing the overall presentation of the remuneration report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the remuneration report of Swissquote Group Holding Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2017 complies 
with Swiss law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Beresford Caloia	 Alain Lattafi

Audit expert	 Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Lausanne, 27 February 2018
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eForex services 

eTrading services 

Robot-Advisory services 

Fund custody services 

Global presence services 

Switzerland
Geneva, Zurich, Bern
Regulated by FINMA Europe

Malta
Regulated by MFSA

Middle East
Dubai
Regulated by DFSA and 
by Central Bank of UAE

Asia
Hong Kong
Regulated by SFC

  eForex services

  eTrading services

  Robo-Advisory services

  Fund custody services

Europe
London
Regulated by FCA
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Global offices

Switzerland
Swissquote Group Holding Ltd
Swissquote Bank Ltd
Chemin de la Crétaux 33
Case postale 319
CH-1196 Gland

Telephone: 	 +41 22 999 94 11
Fax: 	 +41 22 999 94 12

www.swissquote.ch

Branches and other offices
Schützengasse 22–24
Postfach 2017
CH-8021 Zurich

Schauplatzgasse 9
CH-3011 Bern

Telephone: 	 0848 25 88 88
Fax: 	 +41 44 825 88 89

Tel. from abroad: +41 44 825 88 88

www.swissquote.com

Europe
Swissquote Ltd
Boston House, 63–64 New Broad Street
EC2M 1JJ London
United Kingdom

Telephone: 	 +44 20 7186 2600
Fax: 	 +44 20 7186 2601

Swissquote Financial Services (Malta) Limited
Fino Buildings, 2nd Floor 
Notabile Road
Mriehel BKR 3000
Malta

Telephone: 	 +356 271 35 161
Fax: 	 +356 254 66 103

www.swissquote.eu

Asia
Swissquote Asia Ltd
Suites 3202–04, Level 32
ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road 
Central, Hong Kong

Telephone: 	 +852 3902 0000
Fax: 	 +852 3902 0099

www.swissquoteasia.com

Middle East
Swissquote MEA Ltd
Al Fattan Currency House
Level 9, Office 903
Tower 2, DIFC
P.O. Box 121364 
Dubai, United Arab Emirates

Telephone: 	 +971 4 381 0000
Fax: 	 +971 4 381 0001

www.swissquote.ae





www.swissquote.ch

Geneva – Zurich – Bern – London – Dubai – Malta – Hong Kong


